

b UNIVERSITÄT BERN

Functional evaluation of multiple human transgenes to overcome immunological and coagulation barriers associated with pig-to-human xenotransplantation



**PhD Thesis** 

Anjan Kumar BONGONI

Cardiovascular Research Department of Clinical Research University of Bern Switzerland

# $u^{\scriptscriptstyle b}$

D UNIVERSITÄT BERN

# Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences University of Bern

# Functional evaluation of multiple human transgenes to overcome immunological and coagulation barriers associated with pig-to-human xenotransplantation

PhD Thesis submitted by

# Anjan Kumar Bongoni

from INDIA

Thesis advisor Prof. Dr. Robert Rieben Department of Clinical Research Medical Faculty of the University of Bern Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine, the Faculty of Science, and the Vetsuisse Faculty of the University of Bern at the request of the Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences

Bern, Dean of the Faculty of Medicine

Bern, Dean of the Faculty of Science

Bern, Dean of the Vetsuisse Faculty Bern

To my Family

#### Preface

Pig-to-human xenotransplantation, particularly using genetically engineered pigs, is one of the possible alternatives to solve the critical and increasing shortage of human organs for the purpose of clinical transplantation. In the last few years, significant progress has been made in overcoming the immunological and pathophysiological barriers of xenotransplantation and thus to move one step closer to clinical trials of pig organ or cell transplantation. The generation of pigs lacking Gal $\alpha$ 1,3Gal (Gal) epitopes or overexpressing human complement regulators has largely overcome the barrier of hyperacute rejection. Though, delayed xenograft rejection remains a major hurdle, including humoral responses against non-Gal epitopes, and cellular innate immune responses. Other factors like thrombocytopenia, coagulation dysregulation and inflammation appear to play a significantly greater role in the rejection of xenografts than allografts. Numerous attempts to overcome these problems have been suggested, but the most convincing approach would, in any case, be the genetic manipulations in donor pigs.

The aim of my PhD was to study early immunological responses which contribute to xenograft rejection. In addition, expression and functional evaluation of (multi)-transgenic proteins in genetically modified pigs were performed using ex vivo and in vitro pig-to-human xenotransplantation models that are very much needed before implementing their organs into pre-clinical or clinical pig-to-(non)human primate transplantation.

In this thesis, I have included 3 accepted and published articles and two more projects are presented as manuscripts. I am the first author of 4 papers and to another one I contributed as a co-author. These manuscripts were prepared with a common xenotransplantation background, except one, the Bio-Plex paper. The thesis ends with a conclusion, acknowledgements and my curriculum vitae. In addition, I also contributed to other published studies as a co-author, and I listed them in my publications list.

At the end of this preface, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Robert Rieben for his expert guidance and support throughout the thesis. I would also like to thank my colleagues, friends and the other lab members for their direct and indirect contributions to this thesis. Finally, a big part of my acknowledgement goes to my wife Swathi Bongoni and my parents for their support, love and praises.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	. 1
Introduction	. 3
1 Organ transplantation	. 3
2 Xenotransplantation 2.1 Choice of animal as donor organ source for xenotransplantation	. 3 . 5
3 Immunobiology of pig-to-human xenotransplantation	. 7
4 Hyperacute rejection	. 8
4.1 The complement system	. 9
4.2 Vascular endothelium	11
4.2.1 Type I endothelial activation	12
4.3 Complement regulation in xenotransplantation	13
4.4 Coagulation system	15
4.5 Platelets	17
5 Acute vascular rejection	20
5.1 Type II endothelial activation	21
5.2 Coagulation disorders associated with xenograft rejection	22
5.2.1 Thrombomodulin	23
5.2.2 CD39 / CD73	24
5.2.3 Tissue factor pathway inhibitor	24
6 Interaction between coagulation and complement	25
7 Cell-mediated rejection	26
7.1 Natural killer cells	27
8 Chronic rejection	28
9 Accommodation	29
10 Tolerance induction	30
11 Physiology	31
12 Safety	32
Summary	33
Objectives of this thesis	34

References	. 37
Results	. 53
Paper I	. 55

Activation of the lectin pathway of complement in a pig-to-human xenotransplantation model

Complement dependent early immunological responses during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparin anti-coagulated human blood

Paper III
ASGR1 expressed by porcine vascular endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models
Paper IV 125
Development of a Bead-Based Multiplex Assay for the Simultaneous Detection of Porcine Inflammation Markers Using xMAP Technology
Paper V 139
Regulatory sequences of the porcine <i>THBD</i> gene facilitate endothelial-specific expression of bioactive human thrombomodulin in single- and multitransgenic pigs
General Conclusions 163
Acknowledgements
Curriculum Vitae

#### Abstract

The transplantation of organs and cells of porcine origin into humans could overcome the critical and continuing problem of shortage of human donor organs and cells. The most profound barrier to pig-to-primate xenografting is the immunological rejection mediated by hyperacute and/or acute vascular rejection mechanisms. Hyperacute and acute vascular rejection, which are mediated by natural xenoreactive antibodies (mainly anti-Gal), can be overcome by complement- and/or antibody-modifying strategies. If hyperacute and acute vascular rejection mechanisms are prevented, the xenografts are, however, subject to cellular rejection mediated by innate immune cells, including NK cells, macrophages and neutrophils. In addition, the development of coagulation dysregulation has been identified as a formidable barrier for pig-toprimate xenotransplantation. It seems to be caused by the presence of several incompatibilities between pig and primate coagulation cascades. Use of pigs with new genetic modifications, including expression of human thrombomodulin, tissue factor pathway inhibitor or CD39, may solve this problem. These pigs are just becoming available for testing in nonhuman primates.

The main aim of this study was to examine early immunological responses that are involved in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. These include activation of the lectin pathway of complement and the genetic approaches, like alpha-Gal transferase knockout and transgenic expression of human complement regulatory proteins, to inhibit activation of the lectin pathway. The second objective was the establishment of an *ex vivo* xenoperfusion system to perfuse wildtype as well as genetically modified porcine forelimbs with heparinized, whole human blood. In this system, the protective effects of the transgenes against humoral and cellular responses were tested. Finally, an *in vitro* model was developed to explore pig-to-human molecular incompatibilities in the coagulation system and to test current genetic strategies to overcome them. This model also provides a platform for future studies to test genetic and pharmaco-therapeutic strategies aimed at overcoming xenorejection.

In conclusion, I could show that the lectin pathway is activated by human anti-Gal IgM and may play a pathophysiological role in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. Overexpression of hCD46 and HLA-E provided protection against complement- and NK cell-mediated responses, and the use of pigs with new genetic modifications, including expression of thrombomodulin, may help to overcome the incompatibilities in the coagulation systems between pig and human.

-

•

### Introduction

#### 1 Organ transplantation

Allogeneic organ transplantation is well-established and universally accepted medical treatment for end-stage organ failure. The shortage of organs and tissues from deceased individuals for the purpose of clinical transplantation is well known, and continues to restrict allotransplantation. Although, at present, there are over 120,000 patients waiting for a donor organ in the USA, 18 individuals will die each day while waiting for an organ. During the current year, less than 30,000 of donor organs will become available (Figure 1) (1). According to NHS Blood and Transplant, there are 10,000 patients needing new organs in the UK - most commonly liver, kidneys, hearts — and three die every day while waiting (2). The gap between the number of available transplantable organs and patients on the waiting list grows to widen each year, and it remains exceedingly unlikely that human organs will meet the demand for organ transplantation. The situation is even worse for patients with diabetes mellitus, who are in need of cell transplantation, such as islet transplantation. In the USA, while many of the 2-3 million patients with Type 1 diabetes would benefit from pancreatic islet transplantation, the potential supply of islets from deceased human donors each year (<7000) will undoubtedly never be sufficient to treat the millions of patients with diabetes (1-3).

#### 2 Xenotransplantation

Alternatives to clinical allotransplantation include stem cell therapy, artificial organs and the use of organs and cells from other species, i.e., xenotransplantation. The progress towards creation of artificial organs for permanent treatment of organ failure in humans is slow; thus, the use of living organs, tissues and/or cells from animals to humans (xenotransplantation) may still be the most promising approach to significantly expanding the pool of available donor organs for humans. This approach has the added advantage of permitting genetic modification of the donor organ/animal to improve molecular compatibility that could possibly reduce the use of anti-rejection treatment of the recipient, which is often associated with a number of adverse effects (4-7). The concept of xenotransplantation has been known for centuries, as there have been a number of clinical attempts during past 300 years or more. The first transplantation attempt was performed in the early 16<sup>th</sup> century

without any knowledge of immunological species barriers. In 1667, Jean Baptiste Denis began the first documented xenotransplantation trail, a lamb-to-human blood transfusion (8). Another xenotransplantation took place in 1682, when a physician repaired the skull of a Russian nobleman with a piece of bone from the skull of a dog. In 19<sup>th</sup> century, Serge Voronoff, a famous French physician, carried out a significant number of chimpanzee or baboon testicular transplantations to man, which was known as "human revitalization transplantation" (9-11).



Year End

Figure 1: Over the past three decades, the gap between the number of patients waiting for a transplant and the number of patients receiving a transplant has continued to widen, and it is one of the important factors that contribute to waiting time from listing to transplant. Data from <u>optn.transplant.hrsa.gov</u> and OPTN/SRTR Annual Report (2009) (1). \*Data include deceased and living donors.

Later, in 1963, several chimpanzee-to-human kidney transplantations were performed and the most successful was documented by Reemtsma et al. in 1964, whereby the graft lasted for 9 months without any rejection symptoms, but later perished due to a severe electrolyte imbalance (12). In 1967, Barnard realized the first heart human-to-human transplantation (13). Over the past 50 years, significant progress was made in the understanding the barriers to xenotransplantation and the possible solutions that would help overcome them (14). These achievements indicated that long-term survival and function of a xenograft might be possible in humans, even with the relatively ineffective immunosuppression available at that time (15-18).

#### 2.1 Choice of animal as donor organ source for xenotransplantation

# Xenotransplantation (cross-species transplantation) to solve the shortage of donor organs

Grafts from concordant (related) species: reject in hours to days
e.g. nonhuman primate —— human

shortage of primates as organ donorsmajor risk of zoonoses ???



world wide focus on mechanisms of discordant xenograft rejection

**Figure 2:** Key considerations in the choice of a donor species for xenografting, adapted from (19).

Two main types of xenotransplantation might be applied clinically: transplantation of primarily vascularized organs such as heart or kidney, and transplantation of tissues or cells, such as islet cells, bone marrow, and neural cells, among many others. Transplantation of vascularized xenografts will undergo immediate rejection process. as the endothelium exposed to the recipient's circulation results in rapid immune responses against xenograft. Due to complex requirements that an animal species must meet in order to be appropriate organ donor, no such an animal exists. Although non-human primates are most similar to humans anatomically and physiologically, for a number of reasons, they are not considered a suitable source of organs for clinical transplantation. These species represent the potentially high risk for infectious disease transmission, breeding difficulties, organ size differences and other impracticalities, as well as ethical issues, which have largely excluded them from further consideration (20). Pig is now generally accepted to be the species of choice for transplantation, despite it being 'discordant' or phylogenetically more distant from humans, and posing the additional immunological barrier of instantaneous rejection (21, 22), (23). Several reasons for pig still being favored include physiological similarities with human, high reproductive capacity, reduced cost of production, reduced risk of xenozoonoses, maintenance under hygienic specific pathogen-free conditions, potential for genetic modifications, and minimal ethical concerns. These factors make pigs, rather than non-human primates, the most promising organ donors to humans (11).

	Pig	Baboon
Availability	Unlimited	Limited
Breeding potential	Good	Poor
Period to reproductive maturity	4 – 8 months	3 – 5 years
Length of pregnancy	114 ± 2 days	173 – 193 days
Number of offspring	5 – 12	1 – 2
Growth	Rapid (adult human size Within 6 months)**	Slow (9 years to reach maximum size
Size of adult organs	Adequate	Inadequate*
Cost of maintenance	Significantly lower	High
Anatomical similarity to humans	Moderately close	Close
Physiological similarity to humans	Moderately close	Close
Relationship of immune system to humans	Distant	Close
Knowledge of tissue typing	Considerable (in selected herds)	Limited
Necessity for blood type compatibility with humans	Probably unimportant	Important
Experience with genetic engineering	Considerable	None
Risk of transfer of infection (xenozoonosis)	Low	High
Availability of specific pathogen-free animals	Yes	Yes
Public opinion	More in favor	Mixed

**Notes:** \*The size of certain organs, eg, the heart, would be inadequate for transplantation into adult humans; \*\*breeds of miniature swine are approximately 50% of the weight of domestic pigs at birth and sexual maturity, and reach a maximum weight of approximately 30% of standard breeds.

**Table 1:** Advantages and disadvantages of the pig vs. baboon as a potential source of organs and cells for humans, modified from (11, 21).

.

## 3 Immunobiology of pig-to-human xenotransplantation

During the last century, the development of xenotransplantation has defined many challenges in terms of cross-species immunology and physiology that must be addressed before clinical implementation (20). The major barrier is that the xenografts are subjected to severe and irreversible rejection mechanisms as a result of immunological and physiological differences between pig and human (24, 25). Based on small and large animal models, the immunological barriers for discordant xenografts are hyperacute rejection and acute vascular rejection. If hyperacute and/or acute vascular rejection are averted (for example, by complement inhibition) the graft may undergo accommodation, a condition in which the graft appears to resist injury despite the presence of anti-donor antibodies and the complement of the recipient. The graft may also undergo cellular rejection and chronic rejection, as that observed in allografts, if acute vascular rejection is avoided. Another potential obstacle is the risk of transmission of infectious agents, in particular porcine endogenous retroviruses (26, 27).



Figure 3: The immunological responses to xenotransplantation, modified from (27).

## 4 Hyperacute rejection

Hyperacute rejection is a very rapid event that results in irreversible graft damage and loss within minutes to hours of transplantation (28). It involves both immunological and non-immunological factors, and has been characterized historically by the rapid onset of edema, hemorrhage and vascular thrombosis (29-31). However, it is triggered by the presence of preformed xenoreactive natural antibodies, mostly IgM (as well as IgG, in the case of rodents) (32-35).

Xenoreactive natural antibodies are similar to those produced naturally against blood group antigens (36). Many studies have now conclusively demonstrated that xenoreactive antibodies that recognize the trisaccharide group, galactosyl  $\alpha$ -(1,3)galactosyl  $\beta$ -1,4-N-acetyl glucosaminyl (Gal) are the most important in the onset of hyperacute rejection (37). While these saccharides are abundantly expressed on endothelial cells of non-primate mammals and New World monkeys, they are absent in humans, apes, and Old World monkeys, as these species evolutionarily lack the  $\alpha$ 1,3-galactosyltransferase (GalT) gene to synthesize Gal (38). Upon encounter of Gal expressing microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract in early life, they generate anti-Gal antibodies (39). They exist as IgM, IgG and IgA classes (40). It is estimated that these antibodies constitute 1% of immunoglobulins in the circulation (41). It is widely accepted that natural antibodies initiate hyperacute rejection by activating the complement cascade, as well as endothelial cell activation and damage. It leads to platelet activation, aggregation and adhesion, as well as coagulation and disruption of vascular endothelial integrity (42). The essential role of IgM anti-Gal antibodies in hyperacute rejection is well documented in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation models with a strong correlation of binding of anti-Gal antibodies to endothelium and ability to fix complement (32, 43).

Shedding of heparan sulfate proteoglycan and loss of anticoagulants, including thrombomodulin, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) and co-adenosine diphosphatase (ectoADPase), may be pivotal for endothelial dysfunction. This changes the healthy anti-inflammatory and anticoagulant endothelial glycocalyx into a pro-inflammatory and procoagulant form (44-46). In addition, activated pig endothelial cells express von Willebrand factor (vWF) that can interact with human glycoprotein 1b on platelets, independently of shear stress (47-49).

#### 4.1 The complement system

The complement system is a highly conserved group of proteins and glycoproteins in blood and tissue fluids, whose role is to assist antibodies in clearing pathogens and foreign organisms. It is composed of 30 different proteins, including plasma, serosal and membrane-bound proteins, working together in a highly regulated complex cascade, as part of the innate immune system. The system can be activated by at least three well-characterized pathways, namely the classical, the alternative and the lectin pathway. Each of the three complement pathways has its own mechanism of target recognition and activation that results in the activation of the central factor C3, followed by the activation of the common terminal complement pathway. It finally leads to formation of C5b-9 — the membrane attack complex (MAC) (50).

Hyperacute rejection initiated by (1) binding of xenoreactive natural antibodies that activate the classical and/or the lectin pathway of complement, (2) direct activation of host complement through the graft endothelium, and/or (3) failure of complement regulation (51). The cascade begins with the formation of the C1 complex (C1q, C1r and C1s) and MBL/MASPs complex. Activated C1r/C1s or MASPs cleave C4 and C2 to generate C3 convertase to build up C5 convertase and proceed toward the formation of the MAC. Alternative pathway can occur by directly activating C3 when exposed to xenogeneic endothelium, in the absence of immune complexes (52, 53). Complement activation leads to a number of events that can contribute to the induction of xenograft damage. The most obvious effect of membrane-inserted MAC can be direct cell lysis by pore formation and thereby loss of cell membrane integrity (54). In addition, upregulation of cell adhesion molecules and increased production of cytokines and chemokines result in subsequent leukocyte adhesion and graft infiltration by inflammatory cells (55, 56). Furthermore, the anaphylotoxins C3a and C5a act as chemoattractants, inducing endothelial cell activation and modulating vascular tone and permeability y (57-59).

Under physiological conditions, the activation of complement cascade is controlled by an array of complement regulatory proteins present in the plasma and on cell membranes. A number of membrane-bound complement regulatory factors (CRFs) are described in pertinent literature. Complement receptor 1 (CR1, CD35) is a receptor for C3b and C4b, which also acts as a cofactor for factor I mediated cleavage of C3b and C4b and inhibits C3 convertases from all pathways. Decay accelerating factors (DAF, CD55) and membrane co-factor proteins (MCP, CD46) also inhibit complement activation at the C3 convertase step, while CD59 prevents

formation of C5b-9 or MAC. Moreover, there is a series of serum phase CRFs, which include C1 inhibitor, C4 binding protein, factor H, clusterin (apo-J) and S protein (vitronectin). The fluid-phase regulators act primarily to prevent uncontrolled activation of complement in the fluid phase, whereas the membrane-bound regulators directly protect the host cell from complement attack (reviewed in (60, 61)).

The development of hyperacute rejection depends on formation of the terminal C5b-9. It was supported by the two lines of studies, hyperacute rejection does not occur in inherently C6-deficient recipients (62, 63) and complement inhibition using anti-C5 antibodies prevents some of the features of hyperacute rejection (64). On the other hand, empirical evidence indicates that organs from human CD59-transgenic pigs that significantly resist assembly of C5b-9 and some features of tissue injury still undergo hyperacute rejection (65). These observations suggest that the development of hyperacute rejection may not solely depend on the formation of the C5b-9. This may be supported by the ability of C5b67 complexes to disrupt the integrity of endothelial layers (66), as well as contribution of C3a and C5a mediated proinflammatory reactions (reviewed in (51)).



**Figure 4:** Overview of the complement system – activation and regulation, modified from (67, 68).

#### 4.2 Vascular endothelium

As noted above, natural antibodies and complement systems can induce total destruction of xenograft tissue. The underlying mechanism for such damage involves mainly activation of graft endothelium, the inner layer of blood vessels. It is the first site of xenograft in contact with recipient blood and represents the initial barrier to transplantation via hyperacute rejection. Under physiological conditions, resting endothelial cells provide anti-inflammatory, anti-coagulant and anti-platelet aggregatory intravascular environment (69, 70). Essentially, most surface proteins on the endothelium coating, the glycocalyx, are proteoglycans with O-glycosyl linkage that are typically characterized by up to 200 sugar residue-long, un-branched side chains (71). The majority (50-90%) of proteoglycans associated with the endothelium are so-called heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG) with a varying number of glycosaminoglycan (GAG) side chains (mostly HS on the endothelium) (72). Heparan sulfate, attached to the endothelial cell surface, provides anti-oxidant and anticoagulant effects via binding and activation of anti-thrombin III and superoxide dismutase. By enhancing the activity of TFPI and antithrombin III, the glycocalyx markedly regulates the anti-coagulant and anti-inflammatory properties of the endothelium (73-75). In addition, the balance between endothelial thrombomodulin, tissue factor and plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAI) equally contribute to an anticoagulatory state (44, 76).

In response to inflammatory mediators (IL-1, TNF, C5b-9), endothelium adopts proinflammatory and procoagulant state by expressing tissue factor and by enhancing prothrombinase assembly, as well as by attenuating thrombin inhibition. These changes are also associated with the production of cytokines and the increased expression of adhesion molecules, such as E-selectin, VCAM-1 on the endothelium. Collectively, this process is defined as endothelial cell activation. Pober and Cotran classified endothelial cell (EC) activations into an early 'Type 1' activation that occurs independent of gene activation or protein synthesis, or a later phase, 'Type 2', activation that is associated with protein synthesis (69).

#### 4.2.1 Type I endothelial activation

In hyperacute rejection, Type 1 endothelial cell activation occurs following damage by complement fixing antibody. IgM is the classically described immunoglobulin subclass in this setting (30). Type I activation involves three detrimental elements of the early EC response resulting in stagnation of blood flow, promotion of leucocyte adhesion and initiation of thrombosis. The first is the release of factors that modulate vessel tone and platelet function with the release of the prostaglandins and endothelium-derived relaxation factor-nitric oxide (77, 78). The second is rapid mobilization of P-selectin from cytoplasmic Weibel-Palade bodies to the EC surface, which enhances neutrophil adhesion (79). In vivo, upregulation of P-selectin can occur as a result of endothelial cell stimulation by thrombin, histamine or MAC. The third pertains to the development of an overwhelming pro-coagulant state, accompanied by the simultaneous loss of EC surface natural anticoagulants, including HS, antithrombin III, TFPI and thrombomodulin. Endothelial retraction, exposing the subendothelial matrix and tissue factor, as well as additional EC expression of tissue factor initiates the clotting cascade (80). Additional events include loss of membrane ectoADPase (contributing to platelet aggregation), release of platelet activating factor, and production of PAIs (44, 81), C5a-induced loss of heparan sulphate and exposure of foreign carbohydrates, such as sulphatides, which can activate the contact system of coagulation (82).

#### 4.3 Complement regulation in xenotransplantation

Rather than by the administration of immunosuppressive agents, which are largely ineffective, the prevention of the innate immune response has been approached by the genetic engineering of the organ-source pig. There were several key reasons for initially producing genetically modified pigs by overexpressing one or more human (h) CRPs on the endothelial cell surface. First, when the addition of hCRPs to porcine tissue was proposed, it was thought that incompatibility between pig and human CRPs ("homologous restriction") resulted in uncontrolled complement activation (83, 84). Indeed, CD59 was initially known as homologous restriction factor. In vitro evidence showed that the complement regulators in pigs were inefficient or inactive against human complement (85-88). However, findings of recent studies indicate that the transgenic expression of hCD55 or hCD46, with or without hCD59, significantly abrogated hyperacute rejection of pig-to-primate vascularized organs despite the presence of high titer anti-Gal antibody. This effect was much greater than could have been expected from simply circumventing homologous restriction (reviewed in (89)). Thus, the concept of homologous restriction of CRFs has been questioned. Vandenberg and Morgan found that the analogues of CD59 from different species could inhibit complement from many different sources (90, 91). Similar results were seen with CD46 (92, 93). It has also been suggested that supraphysiological levels of CRPs could overcome reduced cross-species effect (94). In addition, Paul Morgan showed that pig CRPs were perfectly effective against human complement. Thus, quantity of CRPs expression, rather than species specificity, is important (95, 96). However, one might consider using pigs transgenic for hCRPs, as they are all receptors for human tropic viruses, such as echovirus and measles (reviewed in (89)).

Owing to the marked improvements in the efficiency of cloning strategies, the gene for the pig GalT enzyme that is required for Gal expression was successfully knocked out by homologous recombination using somatic-cell nuclear transfer technology. In 2003, pigs engineered to lock the gene for GalT (GalTKO) were first made available for experimental studies. As predicted, the transplantation of organs (heart & kidney) from GalTKO pigs into non-human primates reduced the frequency of hyperacute rejection. Thus, the GalTKO pig is now the basic standard platform for other current and future genetic solutions to xenotransplantation (reviewed in (7)). The importance of anti-nonGal antibodies in the humoral response to a GalTKO pig organ was highlighted by Cowan and d'Apice. In GalTKO pig organ xenotransplantation,

interaction of anti-nonGal antibodies and non-Gal antigens mediate complement activation via both the classical and the alternative pathway, especially after pig islet transplantation. Without complete suppression of production of these antibodies, there is progressive activation and injury of the graft endothelium, resulting in thrombotic microangiopathy, with subsequent graft loss. Five years after the first results of GalTKO pig-to-nonhuman primate organ transplantation were reported, the addition to GalTKO of one or more hCRPs has been associated with increased protection compared to either manipulation alone. Therefore, expression of multiple hCRP genes in GTKO pigs is probably preferable, rather than relying on a single gene (reviewed in (97-99)).

#### 4.4 Coagulation system

Coagulation is vital to the normal hemostatic response to vascular injury. Various factors present in the inactive state in the blood participate in the coagulation system. These coagulation factors may be categorized into substances, cofactors and enzymes. Fibrinogen is the main substrate in the coagulation cascade, and the cofactors — including tissue factor, factor V, factor VIII, and Fitzgerald factor — accelerate the enzyme activities. When activated, all the enzymes, except factor XIII, are serine proteases. On the basis of their physical properties, the coagulation factors may also be categorized into three groups, namely (1) the contact proteins — factor XII, XI, prekallikrein and high molecular weight kininogen (HMWK); (2) the thrombin proteins — factor II, VII, IX and X; (3) and the fibrinogen or thrombin sensitive proteins — factor I, V, VIII and XIII (reviewed in (100-102)).

The main mechanism of coagulation cascade activation in inflammation is mediated by exposure of tissue factor to the circulation (103). The final aim of the coagulation cascade includes fibrin polymerization that seals the endothelial breach with a fibrinenmeshed plug to stop bleeding. When the integrity of vessel wall is disrupted, circulating blood cells or endothelial cells start to express tissue factor in response to proinflammatory stimuli. Upon exposure, tissue factor binds to FVII and the complex tissue factor-FVIIa, as part of the extrinsic pathways, initiates the activation of the coagulation cascade via the conversion of down-stream serine protease factors FIX and FX into activated forms FIXa and FXa. The intrinsic pathway involves other serine proteases, such as FXII, FXI and FIX, which are sequentially activated upon contact with negatively charged surfaces (contact activation). The extrinsic and intrinsic pathways converge at the stage of the FXa/FVa complex, which cleaves prothrombin (FII) to thrombin (FIIa), whose key function is to convert fibrinogen to fibrin. Thrombin generated by activated coagulation cascade is a multifunctional molecule; in addition to fibrin conversion, thrombin itself is one of the strongest activators of platelets, inflammatory cells (leukocytes and endothelial cells) with consequent increased production of inflammatory mediators and increased leukocyte adhesion and chemotaxis. Moreover, it is also involved in feedback activation of coagulation factors V, VIII, XI and XIII (reviewed in (100, 104)).

Fibrinolysis is the physiological process that removes insoluble fibrin clots through enzymatic digestion of the cross-linked fibrin polymers. This system is initiated when plasminogen is converted into the potent serine protease plasmin, which leads to degradation of fibrin, fibrinogen, FV and FVIII. The main activators of this

plasminogen are tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA), kallikrein or factor XII. It has been shown that severe trauma and hemorrhage is associated with decreased plasminogen levels, as well as increased plasma levels of plasmin and plasmin-anti plasmin complexes, indicating early fibrinolytic events. Inhibitors of fibrinolysis include  $\alpha$ 2-pasmin inhibitor, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and -2 (PAI-2). Fibrinolysis is also initiated by activated protein C (APC) by interfering with plasmin inhibitors, PAI-1 and thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI) (100, 107, 108).



**Figure 5:** Schematic of the extrinsic and intrinsic coagulation cascade, adapted from (105, 106).

#### 4.5 Platelets

Platelets are anuclear fragments derived from the bone marrow megakaryocytes. Two major intracellular granules present in the platelets are  $\alpha$ -granules and the dense bodies. The  $\alpha$ -granules contain platelet thrombospondin, fibrinogen, fibronectin, platelet factor 4, vWF, platelet-derived growth factor,  $\beta$ -thromboglobulin, and FV and FVIII. The dense granules contain ADP, ATP, and serotonin. When platelets aggregate, they release both the  $\alpha$ -granules and dense bodies, lose their membrane integrity, and form plug (109). In addition, platelet aggregates provide localized environment that supports plasma coagulation through the release of microplatelet membrane particles rich phospholipids and various coagulation proteins (104). Activated platelets secrete IL-1 $\beta$ , which is a major activator of endothelial cells. The platelet and injured vessel wall interaction involves a series of events that include platelet adhesion to endothelial components, activation, structural change, platelet granule release and stabilization of fibrin formation and clot retraction. This interaction of platelets with endothelial cells results in secretion of IL-6 and MCP-1 from endothelial cells, as well as the expression of adhesion molecules E-selectin, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 on endothelial cells. Ultimately, it leads to activation of platelets, whereby the exposure of negatively charged phospholipids facilitates the assembly of coagulation factors, leading to the generation of thrombin and subsequent fibrin deposition (110, 111).



**Figure 6:** Platelet activation during inflammation, adapted from (107). EC – endothelial cell; vWF – von Willebrand factor; TXA2 – thromboxane A2; PGI2 – prostacyclin; PAF – platelet activating factor; GpIIb/IIIa – glycoprotein complex IIb/IIIa; PDGF – platelet derived growth factor; TGF – transforming growth factor; EGF – epidermal growth factor; PF4 – platelet factor 4; PAI – Plasminogen activator inhibitor;

In AVR, the interactions between porcine endothelial cells, platelets and other blood cells are at the nexus of a complex network that contributes to coagulation. Together with loss of anticoagulant regulators, such as TFPI, thrombomodulin, or HS, or through fgl-2 conversion, thrombin and fibrin are deposited in the graft as a result of intrinsic platelet activation (82, 112). In addition, ineffective degradation of ADP by the loss of ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-1 (CD39) and eccto-5'nucleotidases (CD73) aggravates the activation and aggregation of platelets (113, 114). Administration or transgenic expression of CD39 substitutes significantly prolonged graft survival by inhibiting platelet activation and aggregation. Furthermore, molecular incompatibilities also directly contribute to the activation of platelets. Recent findings indicate that primate platelets are activated to express tissue factor when incubated with porcine endothelial cells in the absence of the involvement of antibodies and complement. This effect is distinct from the effects of porcine vWF on human platelet aggregation (115). In addition to proinflammatory mediators, activated platelets express surface ligands, such as glycoprotein IIb/IIIa, that increase platelet aggregation in response to various stimuli. Through the expression of P-selectin, activated platelets bind avidly to leukocytes. Additionally, the secretion of ADP from dense granules recruits other platelets to the site of injury and enhances aggregation through the receptor P2Y12 (116). Activated platelets also exert a direct procoagulant effect on endothelial cells and circulating peripherally activated platelets contribute to consumptive coagulopathy (reviewed in (117)).

The fate of activated platelets in a xenograft recipient may differ depending on the organ transplanted. Thrombocytopenia can be defined as a disorder characterized by an abnormally low number of platelets (<50 x 10<sup>3</sup>/mm<sup>3</sup> in humans), determined by standard assays. Following porcine liver transplantation in baboons, a propound thrombocytopenia develops within minutes, thus precluding prolonged survival of the recipient. This phenomenon has also been observed in the pig-to-baboon kidney transplantation model (118). The main mechanisms by which thrombocytopenia develops are not fully understood. Investigation of causes and kinetics of thrombocytopenia is necessary to develop appropriate therapeutic interventions. Platelet activation and increased platelet-white blood cell (WBC) aggregation and platelet-WBC subtypes occurred immediately after porcine liver xenotransplantation, indicating that a low platelet count does not necessarily indicate loss of platelets from the circulation (119). In addition, ex vivo perfusion of porcine liver with human platelets resulted in platelet phagocytosis by pig liver sinusoidal endothelial cells

(LSEC) through asialoglycoprotein receptor-1 (ASGR1) and hepatocytes. Aggregation and phagocytosis of baboon platelets by pig LSEC has also been documented. Pig LSEC mediated phagocytosis of xenogenic platelets can be prevented by blocking ASGR1 and/or integrin adhesion pathways (120, 121).

The Ashwell–Morell asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGR) is expressed by the LSEC, on the surface of Kupffer cells (KC) and hepatocytes. It represents one of the lectins that bind and endocytosis circulating glycoproteins. It can function as a recycling receptor for desialylated glycoproteins and other molecules with terminal galactose or N-acetyl-galactosamine residues (122, 123). Proposed functions include the clearance of asialoglycoproteins (124), antigen-antibody complexes (125) and apoptotic cells (126). Since the surface of many eukaryotic cells is rich in glycoproteins possessing terminal galactose/N-acetyl-glactosamine residues, ASGR1 may also participate in cell-cell, cell-matrix or intramatrix interactions (127). Desialylated platelets are also recognized and cleared by this receptor, which thereby demonstrates a protective effect against disseminated intravascular coagulation. The receptor also seems to be involved in vWF-linked hemostasis, as an increased vWF half-life and circulating vWF in Asgr-1-deficient mice has been shown (128).

During liver xenotransplantation, porcine LSEC mediated acute thrombocytopenia was observed. Furthermore, most human platelets (93%) bind and are taken up by LSEC and KC within 15 to 30 min following addition, based on the findings pertaining to in vitro and ex vivo wild-type liver perfusion with human platelets. Early biopsies of ex vivo perfused liver suggested phagocytosis of intact platelets by LSEC, and later biopsies showed degraded platelets within hepatocytes, suggesting that platelets were transferred from LSEC to hepatocytes via transcytosis. ASGR1 expressed by pig LSEC and macrophage antigen complex-1 (Mac-1) by KC participated in this process, as confirmed by in vitro studies using knockdown of these proteins by siRNA. A recent study revealed that, when compared to porcine platelets, human platelets express four times more  $\beta$ 1-4 N-acetyl glucosamine and N-acetyl glucosamine  $\beta$ 1-4 N-acetyl glucosamine for ASGR1 and Mac-1 (120, 123). However, expression of ASGR1 on porcine aortic or arterial endothelial cells and its role in xenogenic platelet phagocytosis has never been studied.

# **5** Acute vascular rejection

If hyperacute rejection is avoided by depleting xenoreactive antibodies or by controlling complement activation, xenografts are rejected within days, instead of minutes to hours, by a process termed to as acute vascular rejection (AVR), delayed xenograft rejection, or acute humoral xenograft rejection. The pathology of AVR is not very different to that observed in hyperacute rejection, commencing with the deposition of fibrin and upregulation of tissue factor, and ultimately resulting in vascular thrombosis and edema. AVR is also characterized by progressive (over several days) infiltration of mononuclear cells (primarily monocytes and natural killer (NK) cells), gross disruption of the microvasculature with widespread activation of coagulation and intravascular thrombosis, interstitial hemorrhages, focal areas of infarction and cessation of graft function (4, 5, 129). In addition, AVR is distinguished from hyperacute rejection by its delayed kinetics following transplantation and the observed initial graft function before the onset of rejection as well as type II endothelial cell activation, swelling or disruption. Deposition of natural anti-Gal antibodies and complement are considered a hallmark for the diagnosis of AVR (130). Removal of these antibodies delays the onset of rejection and suppression of antibody synthesis further prolongs survival. Thus, antibodies still may be the main initiators of endothelial cell and monocyte activation, although AVR also occurs in the absence of natural anti-Gal antibodies. In the absence of Gal epitopes, grafts still demonstrated features of AVR (although reduced), including antibody deposition and consistent thrombotic microangiopathy, inferring that non-Gal antibodies may be also play a role in its onset (131, 132). This mechanism was indicated by the findings of the studies conducted by Kuwaki and colleagues and Chen et al., where AVR of GalTKO-/- xenografts were associated with the presence of circulating elicited antinonGal antibodies (133-135). However, a direct role of such antibodies in the pathogenesis of AVR was not provided. These findings, in conjunction with those of Lin and colleagues, indicate that the avoidance of AVR will require strategies that will enable controlling the antibody response against nonGal antigens and possibly lead to prevention of the coagulation system disorders (136).

#### 5.1 Type II endothelial activation

Data from small and large animal models provided considerable evidence in support of endothelial cell activation during AVR. The association of type II endothelial cell activation and AVR was first recognized during vascularized cardiac xenotransplantation using guinea pig-to-rat model in which hyperacute rejection was prevented by complement or antibody depletion (137, 138). Type II endothelial activation involves transcription of new proteins and the resultant phenotypic change on the graft endothelial cell is a shift toward procoagulant and pro-inflammatory states. Procoagulant features of activated endothelial responses include the downregulation of surface thrombomodulin and the increased expression of tissue factor, FVII/FVIIa and PAIs, which is consistent with dense local fibrin deposition, thereby promoting platelet aggregation and thrombosis and inhibiting clot lysis (76, 139). Proinflammatory characteristics include endothelial cell induction of adhesion molecules, including, progressively, E-selectin, P-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1. In addition, nuclear factor kappa B (NFκB)-dependent endothelial production of cytokines and chemokines, including interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$ , IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), have been demonstrated (76, 140, 141).

The overall significance of endothelial activation in AVR is, on one hand, reflected in their role as down-stream events, present essentially in any inflammatory response, albeit to a more florid extent than usual. On the other hand, the ability to genetically engineer the donor animal suggests the potential for modulating endothelial responses by genetic approaches — e.g., by the transgenic expression of protective genes that inhibit NF $\kappa$ B-dependent gene transcription and inhibit apoptosis — that can be useful in diminishing type II endothelial activation. Hence, a unifying concept for AVR therapy is that with additional targeting of complement, coagulation and host macrophage and NK cells. Modulation at the graft level by such genetic approaches will be important to the development of clinical xenotransplantation as a practical solution to the lack of organ donors.

#### 5.2 Coagulation disorders associated with xenograft rejection

The identification of Gal as the major target antigen for human and nonhuman primate anti pig antibodies and the production of GalTKO pigs have helped to address the problem of hyperacute rejection. However, AVR, chronic rejection, and other barriers — for example, coagulation dysregulation in the form of thrombotic microangiopathy and/or consumptive coagulopathy — need to be overcome to prolong graft survival (reviewed in (4, 7, 117)). Platelet deposition and coagulation within the microvasculature are common to hyperacute rejection and AVR of vascularized xenografts (82). Exposure of endothelial cells to xenoreactive antibodies, complement, platelets, immune cells and cytokines results in loss of natural anticoagulant pathways and change to a procoagulant phenotype (reviewed in (117, 142)).

Three major anticoagulant mechanisms involved in the regulation of coagulation activation are antithrombin, protein C (PC) pathway and tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI). Antithrombin inhibits coagulation at multiple levels by targeting several serine proteases, FIXa, FXa and thrombin. It is present in the circulation; however, it becomes more active when associated with the endothelial glycocalyx (143). PC pathway proteolytically cleaves activated coagulation cofactors FVa and FVIIIa (144). TFPI is the main inhibitor of the tissue factor-FVIIa complex and FX (145). The main function of the coagulation inhibitors is to prevent blood clotting under physiological conditions and to slow down the activated coagulation cascade after vascular injury (reviewed in (107, 129)).

The coagulation response to xenotransplantation varies, depending on the type of organ, and quite likely the distinct vasculature. While deletion of the GaIT gene in pigs has removed the major xenoantigen, it has not eliminated the problem of coagulation dysregulation and vascular injury to xenografts and the development of coagulopathy in recipients. The tendency for graft vascular coagulation in xenotransplantation is impaired by preexisting antibodies, as well as a number of cross-species differences (146). Importantly, defects in anticoagulant mechanisms can result in an increased risk of thrombosis. In vitro and ex vivo studies suggested that APC generation in porcine xenografts may be significantly compromised by cross-species incompatibility in the protein C pathway (147). These incompatibilities were confirmed by a molecular analysis showing that, while porcine thrombomodulin binds to human thrombin, it is a poor cofactor for activation of human protein C (148).

von Willebrand factor (vWF) spontaneously aggregates human platelets, in the absence of shear stress, through aberrant interaction between the O-glycosylated A1 domain and human platelet glycoprotein lb (149). Third, porcine endothelial TFPI is inefficient at neutralizing human FXa, thus regulating human tissue factor clotting initiation (113). However, Lee at al. found no molecular incompatibility of pig TAFI with its human targets in vitro (150). Recently, a novel immune-independent mechanism has been described, whereby human platelets are spontaneously activated to express tissue factor after physical contact with porcine endothelial cells. independent of xenoreactive antibodies or complement (reviewed in (117)). Solving the problem of coagulation dysregulation in xenotransplantation may require different combinatorial pharmacological and genetic strategies for different organs (142, 146). Systemic therapy with conventional anticoagulant and anti-platelet agents, including heparin and aspirin, appears to be largely ineffective against the development of graft thrombotic microangiopathy and consumptive coagulopathy in recipients of GalTKO xenografts. These observations suggest that determination of exact mechanism by which coagulation dysregulations are initiated after xenotransplantation is important to enable further genetic modification in the pig or suggest therapy that might prevent them. The GalTKO background, and transgenic expression of one or more CRFs, has become the platform for additional genetic modifications with human thrombomodulin, tissue factor pathway inhibitor or CD39, to inhibit coagulation and inflammation (43, 146).

#### 5.2.1 Thrombomodulin

Thrombomodulin (TM) is an endothelial anticoagulant factor that promotes thrombinmediated activation of protein C. It also prevents cleavage of fibrinogen and activation of PAR-1 and promotes activation of TAFI, as well as cleavage of the potent proinflammatory protein HMBG1—an important effector molecule in acute allograft rejection (151). As mentioned earlier, pig thrombomodulin is a poor cofactor of human thrombin for activation of human protein C and TAFI. Several research groups have recently reported the production of human thrombomodulin (hTM)transgenic pigs (152). Recently, a pig-to-baboon heart transplantation using a heart from a GaITKO.hCD46.hTM-transgenic pig was performed by the Pittsburg group. The study findings indicated that the recipient baboon showed no or minimal platelet activation and no consumptive coagulopathy, while it maintained a stable platelet number and fibrinogen level throughout the experiment (Esker B, Unpublished data, reviewed in (43)). Similar results were reported in another two pig-to-baboon heart

transplantations using multi-transgenic (GalTKO.hCD55.hCD59.hCD39.hTM) pig hearts (Esker B, Unpublished data, reviewed in (43)). In addition to hTM, expression of human endothelial protein C receptor may also be required to produce maximum effect (89, 153).

#### 5.2.2 CD39 / CD73

The ectonucleotidase CD39 exhibits antiplatelet activity by first degrading the platelet ATP to AMP. AMP hydrolyzed by ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) to adenosine, which is an antithrombic mediator (154). Transgenic mice overexpressing hCD39 have been reported to appear healthy and possess an anticoagulant phenotype similar to that of hTM transgenic mice (155). Recent studies confirmed the protective effects of hCD39 in pigs transgenic for hCD39 (156). However, preclinical data from pig-to-nonhuman primate kidney xenotransplantation studies using GalTKO.hCD55.hCD59.hCD39 pigs was not encouraging, although expression levels of hCD39 was not optimal in these multi-transgenic pigs (157).

#### 5.2.3 Tissue factor pathway inhibitor

Another endothelial protein, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI), is a key physiological regulator of the initiation of coagulation by forming an inactive complex with FXa and FVIIa/tissue factor (TF). Early evidence suggested incompatibilities between pig TFPI and human (h) TF pathway (113). Recent in vitro studies showed that pig TFPI binds hFXa and inactivates hFVIIa/hTF with a similar efficacy to hTFPI (150). As TFPI rapidly shed from vasculature in response to inflammation, transgenic expression of hTAFI may provide additional benefits to pig endothelium (158). Transgenic pigs expressing a membrane-anchored form of hTFPI $\alpha$  showed more modest expression, which was sufficient to partially block anti-nonGal antibody mediated TF upregulation (159). Since high levels of hTAFI in the pig may not be compatible with the life of the animal, strategies were shown to possibly restrict the expression of hTAFI to vasculature endothelial cells, rather than ubiquitously (Ayares D, Unpublished data, reviewed in (43)).

Addressing the problem of coagulation dysregulation in xenotransplantation requires more pre-clinical studies (pig-to-nonhuman primates) using multi-transgenic pigs to demonstrate the unimpaired health of the organ-source pig, particularly the absence of any detrimental effects of overexpression of human anticoagulant protein in the pig.

#### 6 Interaction between coagulation and complement

Recent studies suggest that molecular intercommunications exist between the individual components of the coagulation, fibrinolysis and complement system. The most important intercommunications of the coagulation and complement systems have emerged as evidence for cross-talk between the components of the two cascades (68). In 1987, Wiggins et al. showed that plasma kallekrein is able to release C5a from C5 (160). In addition, it has also been reported that human kallekrein directly or indirectly affect the generation of active C3 fragments (161, 162). Subsequent analysis has revealed that both C3 and C5 can be proteolytically cleaved by several coagulation components, specifically FIXa, FXa, FXIa, thrombin, and plasmin (163). In a novel mechanism, platelet activation and subsequent expression of P-selectin at the site of vascular injury have been associated with complement activation (164). The coagulation components can also initiate upstream complement activation of the C3 and C5 convertases; for instance, FXIIa is able to activate the C1 complex (165, 166). Furthermore, the interaction of fibrinogen/fibrin with recognition molecules causes initiation of the lectin pathway of complement (167).

On the other hand, the coagulation cascade is activated by complement either directly or indirectly. Findings of some in vitro studies indicate that C5a induces TF activity on endothelial cells and may thereby activate the exogenous coagulation pathway (168). Following another recent study, the authors reported that C5a induced "switch" in mast cells from a pro-fibrinolytic (t-PA release) to a pro-thrombotic phenotype upregulated PAI-1 release (169), thus modifying the balance between pro-and anticoagulation. MASP2, a component of the lectin pathway of complement, initiates the activation thrombin and subsequent generation of the fibrin mesh (170, 171).

The intercommunication of coagulation and complement has also been documented to exert negative regulatory effects on their biological functions, in addition to initiation of the activation of both cascades. Thrombin can induce the expression of complement regulator decay accelerating factor (DAF) (172) that results in significantly reduced C3 deposition and complement-mediated cell cytotoxicity. In a similar way, TAFI generated by thrombin-thrombomodulin complex can play a dual role in the inhibition of plasmin-mediated fibrinolysis and the inactivation of C3a and C5a (173, 174).

# 7 Cell-mediated rejection

Cell-mediated immunity to xenotransplantation leading to cellular rejection is likely to be an important obstacle to xenotransplantation. The CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are the prime initiators of this response and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages are the ultimate effectors (175). Cell-mediated xenograft rejection can develop in the absence of features of humoral xenograft rejection by the deletion or restriction of the xenograft humoral components. However, the cell-mediated immune responses to xenotransplantation are likely to be more severe than those pertaining to allotransplantation, as the xenografts possess more antigens, and molecular incompatibilities between species cause disordered regulation of cell-mediated responses (176, 177). The presence of cellular infiltrates — mainly T and B cells, NK cells, macrophages and neutrophils — is directly associated with tissue damage in cell-mediated xenograft rejection. T cells alone can provoke xenograft rejection by recognizing antigen through the direct (by MHC) or the indirect pathway. While both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can independently mediate rejection of xenografts (178). the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells do so by generation of helper-dependent xenoreactive antibodies that function to contribute to rejection both by complement-dependent mechanisms and by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. The CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated rejection was historically characterized by edema, hemorrhage, necrosis and thrombi. The CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells that contribute to rejection are helper-independent cytotoxic T cells that produce their own growth factors. Both of these CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> mechanisms involve cytokine synthesis in response to cyclosporine A, suggesting that the T cell immunosuppression will be important for achieving long-term xenograft survival (178). Another expression of human TNF alpha-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) by porcine lymphocytes was shown to induce apoptosis of immortalized Tlymphocytes and this TRAIL-specific effect was confirmed by using anti-TRAIL antibodies. Thus, expression of human TRAIL in transgenic pigs may provide a protective strategy against cell-mediated rejection after xenotransplantation (6, 179).

#### 7.1 Natural killer cells

Growing body of evidence indicates that natural killer (NK) cells represent another potential barrier to xenotransplantation (180, 181). NK cells have been implicated in xenograft injury in rodent and pig-to-nonhuman primate models. The recognition of pig endothelial cells by NK cells is not dependent on the expression of Gal and thus the GalTKO pig model offers no advantage in this respect (182, 183). In vitro and ex vivo xenoperfusion studies indicate that NK cells can infiltrate pig organs and to lyse porcine cells both directly and by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (181, 184-186). In addition to possessing activating receptors, NK cell activity is tightly regulated by the expression of MHC class I ligands of inhibitory NK receptors. According to the missing self-principle, porcine endothelial swine leukocyte antigen major histocompatibility complex molecules fail to recognize NK cell inhibitory receptors. The inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A that is expressed on a majority of activated human NK cells binds specifically HLA-E (reviewed in (6, 187)). Activation and xenogeneic NK cytotoxicity could be avoided through interference with cellular interactions by (1) targeting specific recruitment processes, (2) by deleting or blocking the function of porcine ligands that activate NK cell receptors, (3) by inhibiting activating NK cell receptors using pharmacological agents or antibodies, or (4) by transgenic expression of HLA class I molecules on porcine endothelial cells. NK cell injury of porcine endothelial cell is inhibited by expression of HLA class I molecules, such as Cw3, E, or G, although this protection is only partial. Therefore, it is necessary to identify the activating NK receptors as well as their corresponding porcine ligands to overcome NK cell-mediated rejection of porcine xenografts (reviewed in (129)).

Macrophages have also been implicated in the rejection of solid organ or cellular xenografts (188, 189). Xenoreactive T cells, or direct interaction of inhibitory (signal-regulatory protein- $\alpha$  [SIRP- $\alpha$ ]) or stimulatory receptors, mediate macrophage xenoreactivity (190). CD47 is a ligand for SIRP- $\alpha$  that prevents phagocytosis of autologous cells. Incompatibility of porcine and human CD47 leads to phagocytosis of pig cells by human macrophages. The recent observations indicate that further modifications of donor pigs for the expression of human CD47 may overcome macrophage-mediated xenograft rejection (191).

# 8 Chronic rejection

In allografts, chronic rejection is the result of not only immunologic but also nonimmunologic mechanisms that are in large part related to the effects of chronic immunosuppressive treatment. Mainly due to the difficulties in overcoming acute forms of rejection, the phenomenon of chronic rejection of xenografts is not well understood. GalTKO pig heart xenografts, that survived for long periods prior to failure, were characterized predominantly by the presence of thrombotic microangiopathy (133). In addition, microvascular thrombosis is also a critical feature in antibody-dependent processes of acute rejection; ischemia-reperfusion injury, binding of xenoantibodies to the graft endothelium and activation of endothelial cells result in disruption of the mechanisms that maintain а protective anticoagulant/procoagulant balance of the endothelial surface (192). It has not yet been determined whether the chronic type of rejection seen with the GaITKO hearts is due to low-grade residual immune reactivity such as T-independent xenoantibody production, or rather to immune-reactivity-independent inappropriate activation of the coagulation pathway. The latter may be the result of molecular incompatibilities between pig and primate coagulation factors (192, 193). Chronic rejection is characterized by concentric arteriosclerosis of the graft blood vessels, along with fibrosis and atrophy of the tissue (21). The only currently available solution to chronic rejection is the transplantation of a new tissue or organ. As the availability of animal organs would greatly exceed the transplantation demands, chronic rejection may not be such a problem in terms of xenotransplantation (194).

# 9 Accommodation

Under certain circumstances, organ xenografts survive (195, 196) in the presence of high titer xenoreactive antibodies and complement (197), referred to as "accommodation" (198). It also defined to a vascularized transplant that acquired resistance to antibody-mediated rejection (199). This phenomenon was first described in ABO-incompatible kidney allografts in the 1980s (195, 200) and was postulated that a similar phenomenon might occur in vascularized xenografts (30, 195). Achievement of accommodation state has always been a goal of xenotransplantation research and a useful strategy for clinical xenotransplantation. Three potential mechanisms were originally proposed to explain accommodation. First, after transplantation, anti-donor antibodies may change in their affinity, specificity, or both. Second, change in the antigenic epitopes on the graft during transplantation may prevent anti-donor antibodies from binding. Third, endothelial cells develop a resistance to injury during the transplantation. Another potential mechanism of decreased sensitivity to injurious stimuli - continued stimulation of endothelial cells — causes the cells to develop resistance to re-stimulation. Of these, second and third mechanism refer to changes in the donor organ ("graft accommodation") whereas the first describes a change in the recipient ("host accommodation") and is an example of modulation of the anti-donor immune response (reviewed in (198)). Although, the occurrence of accommodation eliminates the need for continuing depletion of anti-donor antibodies from a graft recipient, it also provides further strategies that can be applied to manipulation of the recipient or donor to prevent more chronic forms of graft rejection (58).
## **10 Tolerance induction**

Extant nonhuman primate studies indicate that AVR did not occur under the conditions of severe T- and B-cell depletion and/or suppression (133, 201, 202). Understanding the mechanisms of the T- and B-cell xenoresponses will support further improvement in immunosuppressive strategies or serve as a basis for the induction of xenotolerance. The induction of T- and B-cell tolerance is essential for the success of clinical xenotransplantation using several approaches, including costimulatory blockade (203), donor-specific transfusion (e.g., splenocytes from the organ or tissue donor into the transplant recipient), transplantation of donor thymus tissue (204), and the induction of mixed hematopoietic chimerism by stem cell transplantation (205). Unfortunately, some of these approaches are associated with adverse outcomes, such as thrombotic complications (3), as well as those due to immunological and non-immunological incompatibilities (206). Other approaches include the induction of tolerance to the Gal epitope and tolerance of T-cell independent B cells (3), as well as peripheral tolerance through a mechanism that does not have systemic side-effects, such as by CTLA4-Ig transgenic expression (129).

## **11 Physiology**

Whether the transplanted pig organs or cells will function in a recipient satisfactorily is still unknown, even when long-term graft survival is achieved by successfully controlling immune, coagulative and proinflammatory responses (207). Extensive research is needed to determine whether pig organs can replace the physiological functions of human organs. In order to improve the understanding of the issues associated with transplanted organ survival, research has been performed in many pertinent fields, including anatomical design, metabolism, hormonal function, blood viscosity, and coagulation (208-210). While pig-to-primate kidney transplants function well on several levels, they lack compatibility with respect to erythropoietin (EPO) function, resin and hydroxylation of Vitamin D. Since porcine EPO and human EPO differ significantly (210), human recombinant EPO would need to be substituted in the patients. The functional characteristics of the pig cardiovascular system are also comparable to human with nearly identical atrial, ventricular, pulmonary and aortic pressures and cardiac output (20). Thus, pig has been widely used as model animal for human cardiovascular research (211, 212). Similarly, it can be predicted that pigto-human transplants of hearts, kidneys, and lungs will be physiologically feasible. However, this is not the case for whole-organ liver transplants, where vast number of products manufactured, metabolized and detoxified in the liver may prohibit adequate function In addition, thrombocytopenia associated with (213). pig-liver xenotransplantation. Furthermore, xenotransplantation of lungs will require more research into their physiology (214). It has become clear that coagulation dysfunction between recipient and donor, as well as inflammation, contributes significantly to different survival lengths and to the loss of the xenograft (209). The induced thrombotic microangiopathy causes ischemic injury to the myocardium during heart transplantations and finally results in consumptive coagulopathy (215, 216).

## 12 Safety

Although the safety aspect of xenotransplantation remains a central topic in the field, the available data pertaining to the potential risk of transmission of infectious agents from animal to human are reassuring (7). Controlled breeding conditions, efficacy of anti-viral agents, possible vaccine development and carefully monitoring procedures at regular intervals can ensure that organs and cells will be free of such infectious agents, or at least pose minimal risk (217, 218). However, such measures will not affect the porcine endogenous retrovirus (PERV) as their coding sequences are a permanent part of the genome in all pig cells, even if they do not cause disease under physiological conditions (219, 220). Several strategies, such as siRNA technology, can be applied to prevent activation of PERV (221, 222). Moreover, Zincfinger nuclease technology can be employed to delete PERV from the pig genome (223). By reducing the risk of PERV-mediated complications, the safety profile of xenotransplantation procedures is ultimately increased (7).

### Summary

The increasingly rapid development of genetically engineered pigs will make clinical xenotransplantation more realistic. However, more preclinical (pig-to-nonhuman primate) studies will be needed to demonstrate the unanswered questions regarding incompatibilities of the organ-source pig, before 'bridging' trials of pig xenotransplantation can begin in patients. Genetically modified pigs currently available for xenotransplantation are listed in Table 2. It is hoped that, in the future, organ xenotransplantation will be carried out as a standard procedure, with relatively long-term graft survival. The limitless availability of organ-source pigs will enable retransplantation to be carried out whenever indicated, even if the survival of the graft is not as long as that of an allograft.

c

#### Gal antigen modification

α1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout (GalTKO) Human H-transferase gene expression (expression of blood type O antigen) Endo-beta-galactosidase C (reduction of Gal antigen expression)

#### Complement regulation by human complement-regulatory gene expression

CD46 (membrane cofactor protein) CD55 (decay-accelerating factor) CD59 (protectin or membrane inhibitor of reactive lysis)

#### Anticoagulation and anti-inflammatory gene expression or deletion

Human tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) Human thrombomodulin Human CD39 (ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-1) von Willebrand factor–deficient (natural mutant)

#### Suppression of cellular immune response by gene expression or downregulation

Porcine CTLA4-Ig (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 or CD152) CIITA-DN (MHC class II transactivator knockdown, resulting in swine leukocyte antigen class II knockdown) Human TRAIL (tumor necrosis factor-alpha-related apoptosis-inducing ligand) HLA-E/human β2-microglobulin (inhibits human natural killer cell cytotoxicity) Human CD47 (for species-specific CD47-SIRP-alpha natural interaction on macrophages) Human FAS ligand (CD95L) Human GnT-III (N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase III) LEA29Y (inhibition of the B7/CD28 costimulatory pathway of T-cell activation)

#### Antiapoptotic gene expression

Human A20 (tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced protein 3) Human heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) Human TNFRI-Fc (tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor I-Fc)

#### Prevention of porcine endogenous retrovirus (PERV) activation PERV siRNA

**Table 2:** Genetically modified pigs currently available for xenotransplantation research, modified from (7).

## **Objectives of this thesis**

Before xenotransplantation can be introduced successfully into the clinic, the problems of innate immunity, coagulopathy, and inflammatory responses will have to be overcome. The transplantation of organs and cells from genetically modified pigs could mitigate these issues. The main aim of this thesis was to evaluate the function of human transgenes introduced into pigs to protect their organs against attack by complement, coagulation, as well as immune cell-mediated responses of the human recipient. The specific aims are stated in each chapter and summarized below.

1. The degree of involvement of the lectin pathway of complement in hyperacute rejection and later phases of xenograft rejection is not fully understood. None of the extant studies on xenotransplantation has addressed the activation of the lectin pathway of complement. Thus, the present study focused on the activation of the lectin pathway and the interaction of IgM and MBL in a pig to human *in vitro* xenotransplantation model.

2. Subsequent to hyperacute rejection, other mechanisms, such as acute vascular rejection and NK cell-mediated responses, play a crucial role in xenograft survival. However, neither GalTKO nor overexpression of hCRPs protect the xenograft against the latter. In this study, the potential of combined overexpression of human CD46 and HLA-E to prevent complement- and NK cell-mediated xenograft rejection was tested in an ex vivo pig-to-human xenoperfusion model.

3. Ex vivo porcine limb perfusion with whole, anti-coagulated human blood leads to platelet loss, observed within minutes to hours after perfusion. The asialoglycoprotein receptor-1 (ASGR1) (also known as the Ashwell receptor) mediates the capture and endocytosis of galactose- (Gal) and N-acetylgalactosamine- (GalNAc) terminating glycoproteins. More recently, it has been shown that ASGR1 on PLSEC bind and phagocytosis human platelets in an ex vivo liver xenoperfusion. In addition, human platelets have more Gal and GalNAc epitopes available compared with pig platelets. Owing to these observations, the aim of this study was to examine ASGR1 expression on porcine aortic/arterial endothelial cells (PAEC), as well as PAEC / ASGR1 mediated xenogenic platelet phagocytosis.

4. Based on comparative anatomical and physiological characteristics, pig has been used as model animal to develop and test novel therapies for the prevention of

cardiovascular diseases. Currently, no commercial test kits are available for multiplex detection of porcine markers by using xMAP technology. Therefore, the present study aimed to develop a bead-based multiplexed immunoassay to simultaneously detect porcine cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, TNF $\alpha$ ), chemokines (IL-8, MCP-1), growth factors (basic FGF, VEGF, PDGF-bb) and injury marker (cardiac troponin-I), as well as complement activation markers (C5a, C5b-9) on the Bio-Plex platform.

5. Genetically manipulated pigs with GalTKO and overexpressing hCD46 were generated to overcome hyperacute rejection, the major barrier in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation. In addition to immunological barriers, coagulation incompatibilities between the human blood and the porcine vessel structure also hinder the xenotransplantation of vascularized organs. Thus, this study aimed to test the beneficial effects of transgenic expression of human thrombomodulin (hTM) on wild-type background or on multitransgenic (GalTKO/hCD46) background pigs against coagulation dysregulations.

Materials and methods used in achieving the aforementioned aims are described in detail in each manuscript.

-

•

### References

- 1. (DOT) TDOT. U.S. Government Information on Organ and Tissue Donation and Transplantation, Available at <u>http://www.organdonor.gov/index.html</u>.
- 2. TRANSPLANTATION NODA. Available at http://www.organdonation.nhs.uk/.
- YANG YG, SYKES M. Xenotransplantation: current status and a perspective on the future. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007: 7: 519-531.
- EKSER B, COOPER DK. Overcoming the barriers to xenotransplantation: prospects for the future. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2010: 6: 219-230.
- COOPER DKC, AYARES D. Potential benefits and risks of clinical xenotransplantation. 2012:: 4 7–17.
- KLYMIUK N, AIGNER B, BREM G, E. W. Genetic modification of pigs as organ donors for xenotransplantation. Mol Reprod Dev. 2010: 77: 209–221.
- EKSER B, EZZELARAB M, HARA H, VAN DER WINDT DJ, WIJKSTROM M, BOTTINO R, et al. Clinical xenotransplantation: the next medical revolution? Lancet. 2012: 379: 672-683.
- 8. ROUX FA, SAI P, DESCHAMPS JY. Xenotransfusions, past and present. Xenotransplantation. 2007: 14: 208-216.
- 9. DESCHAMPS JY, ROUX FA, SAI P, GOUIN E. History of xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2005: 12: 91-109.
- AUCHINCLOSS H, JR., SACHS DH. Xenogeneic transplantation. Annu Rev Immunol. 1998: 16: 433-470.
- COOPER DK. A brief history of cross-species organ transplantation. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent). 2012: 25: 49-57.
- REEMTSMA K, MCCRACKEN BH, SCHLEGEL JU, PEARL M. Heterotransplantation of the Kidney: Two Clinical Experiences. Science. 1964: 143: 700-702.
- BARNARD CN. The operation. A human cardiac transplant: an interim report of a successful operation performed at Groote Schuur Hospital, Cape Town. S Afr Med J. 1967 Dec: 30;41(48):1271-4.
- TANIGUCHI S, COOPER DKC. Clinical xenotransplantation past, present and future. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1994: 79:13–19.
- 15. DAAR AS. Animal-to-human organ transplants a solution or a new problem? Bulletin of the World Health Organization,. 1999: 77 (1).
- 16. LEVY FM. Animal organs for human transplantation: how close are we? BUMC PROCEEDINGS. 2000: 13:3-6.
- 17. COOPER DKC, GOOD AH, KOREN E, ORIEL R, MALCOM AJ, IPPOLITO RM, et al. Identification of α-galactosyl and other carbohydrate epitopes that are bound by human

anti-pig antibodies: relevance to discordant xenografting in man. Transplant Immunol. 1993: 1:198-205.

- COOPER DK, YE Y, NIEKRASZ M, KEHOE M, MARTIN M, NEETHLING FA, et al. Specific intravenous carbohydrate therapy. A new concept in inhibiting antibodymediated rejection--experience with ABO-incompatible cardiac allografting in the baboon. Transplantation. 1993: 56: 769-777.
- 19. BRAZELTON TR, CHEUNG A, MORRIS RE. Pharmacologic Immunosuppressants in Xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 1997: pp 602-633.
- COOPER DKC, YE Y, ROLF LL, ZUHDI N. The pig as potential organ donor for man. In: Cooper, DKC.; Kemp, E.; Reemtsma, K.; White, DJG., editors. Xenotransplantation. Springer; Heidelberg, Germany:. 1991: 481-500.
- 21. COOPER DK, GOLLACKNER B, SACHS DH. Will the pig solve the transplantation backlog? Annu Rev Med. 2002: 53: 133-147.
- 22. NIEKRASZ M, YE Y, ROLF LL. The pig as organ donor for man. Transplant Proc. 1992: 24:625.
- CALNE RY. Organ transplantation between widely disparate species. Transplant Proc. 1970: 2:550-556.
- 24. PLATT JL, BACH FH. the pig as organ donor for man. Transplantation. 1991: 52, 937-947.
- 25. LAWSON JH, PLATT JL. Molecular barriers to xenotransplantation. Transplantation. 1996: 62, 303-310.
- PLATT JL. The immunological barriers to xenotransplantation. Crit Rev Immunol. 1996: 16: 331-358.
- SAMSTEIN B, PLATT JL. Physiologic and immunologic hurdles to xenotransplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001: 12: 182-193.
- LEXER G, COOPER DK, ROSE AG, WICOMB WN, REES J, KERAAN M, et al. Hyperacute rejection in a discordant (pig to baboon) cardiac xenograft model. J Heart Transplant. 1986: 5: 411-418.
- 29. DOOLDENIYA MD, WARRENS AN. xenotransplantation: where are we today? J R Soc Med. 2003: 96: 111-117.
- 30. PLATT JL, FISCHEL RJ, MATAS AJ, REIF SA, BOLMAN RM, BACH FH. Immunopathology of hyperacute xenograft rejection in a swine-to-primate model. Transplantation. 1991: 52: 214-220.
- PLATT JL. The immunological hurdles to cardiac xenotransplantation. J Card Surg. 2001: 16: 439-447.
- 32. GALILI U. Interaction of the natural anti-Gal antibody with alpha-galactosyl epitopes: a major obstacle for xenotransplantation in humans. Immunol Today. 1993: 14: 480-482.
- GAMBIEZ L, SALAME E, CHEREAU C, CALMUS Y, AYANI E, HOUSSIN D, et al. Natural IgM play a major role in hyperacute rejection of discordant heart xenografts. Transplant Proc. 1992: 24: 441-442.

- GAMBIEZ L, SALAME E, CHEREAU C, CALMUS Y, CARDOSO J, AYANI E, et al. The role of natural IgM in the hyperacute rejection of discordant heart xenografts. Transplantation. 1992: 54: 577-583.
- YIN D, ZENG H, MA L, SHEN J, XU H, BYRNE GW, et al. Cutting Edge: NK cells mediate IgG1-dependent hyperacute rejection of xenografts. J Immunol. 2004: 172: 7235-7238.
- MILLAN MT, FERRAN C, WINKLER H, BLAKELY ML, VAN DER WERF WJ, HANCOCK WW, et al. Xenotransplantation: problems and approaches. Transplant Proc. 1994: 26: 3593-3596.
- SANDRIN MS, VAUGHAN HA, DABKOWSKI PL, MCKENZIE IF. Anti-pig IgM antibodies in human serum react predominantly with Gal(alpha 1-3)Gal epitopes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993: 90: 11391-11395.
- GALILI U, SHOHET SB, KOBRIN E, STULTS CL, MACHER BA. Man, apes, and Old World monkeys differ from other mammals in the expression of alpha-galactosyl epitopes on nucleated cells. J Biol Chem. 1988: 263: 17755-17762.
- GALILI U, MANDRELL RE, HAMADEH RM, SHOHET SB, GRIFFISS JM. Interaction between human natural anti-alpha-galactosyl immunoglobulin G and bacteria of the human flora. Infect Immun. 1998 Jul: 56(7):1730-7.
- 40. GALILI U, RACHMILEWITZ EA, PELEG A, FLECHNER I. A unique natural human IgG antibody with anti-alpha-galactosyl specificity. J Exp Med. 1984: 160: 1519-1531.
- 41. LIN SS, KOOYMAN DL, DANIELS LJ, DAGGETT CW, PARKER W, LAWSON JH, et al. The role of natural anti-Gal alpha 1-3Gal antibodies in hyperacute rejection of pig-tobaboon cardiac xenotransplants. Transpl Immunol. 1997: 5: 212-218.
- 42. BACH FH, ROBSON SC, WINKLER H, FERRAN C, STUHLMEIER KM, WRIGHTON CJ, et al. Barriers to xenotransplantation. Nat Med. 1995: 1: 869-873.
- EKSER B, BURLAK C, WALDMAN JP, LUTZ AJ, PARIS LL, VEROUX M, et al. Immunobiology of liver xenotransplantation. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2012: 8: 621-634.
- 44. ROBSON SC, COOPER DK, D'APICE AJ. Disordered regulation of coagulation and platelet activation in xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2000: 7: 166-176.
- 45. PLATT JL, DALMASSO AP, LINDMAN BJ, IHRCKE NS, BACH FH. The role of C5a and antibody in the release of heparan sulfate from endothelial cells. Eur J Immunol. 1991: 21: 2887-2890.
- ROBSON SC, KACZMAREK E, SIEGEL JB, CANDINAS D, KOZIAK K, MILLAN M, et al. Loss of ATP diphosphohydrolase activity with endothelial cell activation. J Exp Med. 1997: 185: 153-163.
- ROSE AG, COOPER DK. A histopathologic grading system of hyperacute (humoral, antibody-mediated) cardiac xenograft and allograft rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1996: 15: 804-817.

- 48. ROSE AG, COOPER DK. Venular thrombosis is the key event in the pathogenesis of antibody-mediated cardiac rejection. Xenotransplantation. 2000: 7:31-41.
- SCHULTE AM ESCH J, 2ND, CRUZ MA, SIEGEL JB, ANRATHER J, ROBSON SC. Activation of human platelets by the membrane-expressed A1 domain of von Willebrand factor. Blood. 1997: 90: 4425-4437.
- 50. FRANK MM, LOUIS FF. Complement. In: Fundamental Immunology. Raven Press, New York, 1989: pp 679-701.
- 51. MOLLNES TE, FIANE AE. Xenotransplantation: how to overcome the complement obstacle? Mol Immunol. 1999 Mar-Apr;: 36(4-5):269-76.
- 52. ROMANELLA M, AMINIAN A, ADAM WR, PEARSE MJ, D'APICE AJ. Involvement of both the classical and alternate pathways of complement in an ex vivo model of xenograft rejection. Transplantation 1997 Apr 15;: 63(7):1021-5.
- BONGONI AK, KIERMEIR D, JENNI H, WUNSCH A, BAHR A, AYARES D, et al. Activation of the Lectin Pathway of Complement in Pig-to-Human Xenotransplantation Models. Transplantation. 2013.
- 54. SAADI S, HOLZKNECHT RA, PATTE CP, PLATT JL. Endothelial cell activation by pore-forming structures: pivotal role for interleukin-1alpha. Circulation. 2000: 101: 1867-1873.
- 55. SAADI S, PLATT JL. Role of complement in xenotransplantation. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 1999: 26: 1016-1019.
- 56. PLATT JL. Hyperacute rejection: fact or fancy. Transplantation. 2000: 69: 1034-1035.
- 57. PRUITT SK, BALDWIN WM, 3RD, SANFILIPPO F. The role of C3a and C5a in hyperacute rejection of guinea pig-to-rat cardiac xenografts. Transplant Proc. 1996: 28: 596.
- 58. SAADI S, PLATT JL. Immunology of xenotransplantation. Life Sci. 1998: 62: 365-387.
- 59. SACHS DH. The immunology of xenotransplantation: introduction. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1998: 862: 1-4.
- 60. MERI S, JARVA H. Complement Regulatory Proteins. 2001.
- KIM DD, SONG WC. Membrane complement regulatory proteins. Clin Immunol. 2006: 118: 127-136.
- ZHOW XJ, NIESEN N, PAWLOWSKI I, BIESECKER G, ANDRES G, BRENTJENS J, et al. Prolongation of survival of discordant kidney xenografts by C6 deficiency. Transplantation. 1990: 50: 896-898.
- BRAUER RB, BALDWIN WM 3RD, DAHA MR, PRUITT SK, SANFILIPPO F. Use of C6-deficient rats to evaluate the mechanism of hyperacute rejection of discordant cardiac xenografts. J Immunol. 1993 Dec: 15;151(12):7240-8.
- KROSHUS TJ, ROLLINS SA, DALMASSO AP, ELLIOTT EA, MATIS LA, SQUINTO SP, et al. Complement inhibition with an anti-C5 monoclonal antibody prevents acute cardiac tissue injury in an ex vivo model of pig-to-human xenotransplantation. Transplantation. 1995: 60: 1194-1202.

References

- DIAMOND LE, MCCURRY KR, MARTIN MJ, MCCLELLAN SB, OLDHAM ER, PLATT JL, et al. Characterization of transgenic pigs expressing functionally active human CD59 on cardiac endothelium. Transplantation. 1996: 61: 1241-1249.
- 66. SAADI S, PLATT JL. Transient perturbation of endothelial integrity induced by natural antibodies and complement. J Exp Med. 1995: 181: 21-31.
- FRANCIS K, VAN BEEK J, CANOVA C, NEAL JW, GASQUE P. Activation and regulation of the complement system. Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine. 2003: 5:23.
- OIKONOMOPOULOU K, RICKLIN D, WARD PA, LAMBRIS JD. Interactions between coagulation and complement--their role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2012: 34(1):151-65.
- 69. POBER JS, COTRAN RS. The role of endothelial cells in inflammation. Transplantation. 1990: 50: 537-544.
- 70. POBER JS, SESSA WC. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007: 7: 803-815.
- MONTEUIL J, BOUQUELET S, DEBRAY H EA, . Glycoproteins. In: Chaplin MF, Kennedy JF, eds. Carbohydrate Analysis: A practical approach: . IRL, Oxford. 1986: 143-203.
- 72. IHRCKE NS, WRENSHALL LE, LINDMAN BJ, PLATT JL. Role of heparan sulfate in immune system-blood vessel interactions. Immunol Today. 1993: 14: 500-505.
- 73. ROSENBERG RD, ROSENBERG JS. Natural anticoagulant mechanisms. J Clin Invest. 1984: 74: 1-6.
- 74. DE AGOSTINI AI, WATKINS SC, SLAYTER HS, YOUSSOUFIAN H, ROSENBERG RD. Localization of anticoagulantly active heparan sulfate proteoglycans in vascular endothelium: antithrombin binding on cultured endothelial cells and perfused rat aorta. J Cell Biol. 1990: 111: 1293-1304.
- 75. HO G, BROZE GJ, JR., SCHWARTZ AL. Role of heparan sulfate proteoglycans in the uptake and degradation of tissue factor pathway inhibitor-coagulation factor Xa complexes. J Biol Chem. 1997: 272: 16838-16844.
- MILLAN MT, GECZY C, STUHLMEIER KM, GOODMAN DJ, FERRAN C, BACH FH. Human monocytes activate porcine endothelial cells, resulting in increased E-selectin, interleukin-8, monocyte chemotactic protein-1, and plasminogen activator inhibitortype-1 expression. Transplantation. 1997: 63: 421-429.
- 77. HUNT BJ, KM J. Hemostasis in Xenotransplantation Springer, Heidelberg. 1997: pp 126-139.
- 78. HUNT BJ, ROSENBERG RD. The essential role of haemostasis in hyperacute rejection. Xeno. 1993 1:16-19.
- 79. COUGHLAN AF, BERNDT MC, DUNLOP LC, HANCOCK WW. In vivo studies of Pselectin and platelet activating factor during endotoxemia, accelerated allograft rejection, and discordant xenograft rejection. Transplant Proc. 1993: 25: 2930-2931.

- 80. ROBSON SC, SCHULTE AM ESCH J, 2ND, BACH FH. Factors in xenograft rejection. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1999: 875: 261-276.
- ROBSON SC, CANDINAS D, HANCOCK WW, WRIGHTON C, WINKLER H, BACH FH. Role of endothelial cells in transplantation. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 1995: 106: 305-322.
- BACH FH, ROBSON SC, FERRAN C, WINKLER H, MILLAN MT, STUHLMEIER KM, et al. Endothelial cell activation and thromboregulation during xenograft rejection. Immunol Rev. 1994: 141: 5-30.
- NICHOLSON-WELLER A, WANG CE. Structure and function of decay accelerating factor CD55. J Lab Clin Med. 1994: 123: 485-491.
- 84. SHIN ML, HÄNSCH G, HU VW, NICHOLSON-WELLER A. Membrane factors responsible for homologous species restriction of complement-mediated lysis: evidence for a factor other than DAF operating at the stage of C8 and C9. J Immunol 1986 Mar 1;136(5):1777-82.
- DAVIES A, SIMMONS DL, HALE G, HARRISON RA, TIGHE H, LACHMANN PJ, et al. CD59, an LY-6-like protein expressed in human lymphoid cells, regulates the action of the complement membrane attack complex on homologous cells. J Exp Med. 1989 Sep: 1;170(3):637-54.
- ROLLINS SA, SIMS PJ. The complement-inhibitory activity of CD59 resides in its capacity to block incorporation of C9 into membrane C5b-9. J Immunol 1990 May: 1;144(9):3478-83.
- MERI S, MORGAN BP, DAVIES A, DANIELS RH, OLAVESEN MG, WALDMANN H, et al. Human protectin (CD59), an 18,000-20,000 MW complement lysis restricting factor, inhibits C5b-8 catalysed insertion of C9 into lipid bilayers. Immunology 1990 Sep;: 71(1):1-9.
- ROLLINS SA, ZHAO J, NINOMIYA H, SIMS PJ. Inhibition of homologous complement by CD59 is mediated by a species-selective recognition conferred through binding to C8 within C5b-8 or C9 within C5b-9. J Immunol 1991 Apr 1;146(7):2345-51.
- 89. D'APICE AJ, COWAN PJ. Xenotransplantation: the next generation of engineered animals. Transpl Immunol. 2009: 21: 111-115.
- VAN DEN BERG CW, HARRISON RA, MORGAN BP. A rapid method for the isolation of analogues of human CD59 by preparative SDS-PAGE: application to pig CD59. J Immunol Methods. 1995: 179: 223-231.
- 91. VAN DEN BERG CW, MORGAN BP. Complement-inhibiting activities of human CD59 and analogues from rat, sheep, and pig are not homologously restricted. J Immunol 1994 Apr: 15;152(8):4095-101.
- TOYOMURA K, FUJIMURA T, MURAKAMI H, NATSUME T, SHIGEHISA T, INOUE N, et al. Molecular cloning of a pig homologue of membrane cofactor protein (CD46). Int Immunol. 1997: 9: 869-876.

- VAN DEN BERG CW, PEREZ DE LA LASTRA JM, LLANES D, MORGAN BP. Purification and characterization of the pig analogue of human membrane cofactor protein (CD46/MCP). J Immunol. 1997: 158: 1703-1709.
- 94. FISICARO N, AMINIAN A, HINCHLIFFE SJ, MORGAN BP, PEARSE MJ, D'APICE AJ, et al. The pig analogue of CD59 protects transgenic mouse hearts from injury by human complement. Transplantation. 2000: 70: 963-968.
- 95. BACH FH. Xenotransplantation: problems and prospects. Annu Rev Med. 1998: 49: 301-310.
- MORGAN BP, BERG CW, HARRIS CL. "Homologous restriction" in complement lysis: roles of membrane complement regulators. Xenotransplantation. 2005 Jul: 12(4):258-65.
- 97. COWAN PJ, ROUSSEL JC, D'APICE AJ. The vascular and coagulation issues in xenotransplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2009: 14: 161-167.
- 98. BREIMER ME. Gal/non-Gal antigens in pig tissues and human non-Gal antibodies in the GalT-KO era. Xenotransplantation. 2011: 18: 215-228.
- GOCK H, NOTTLE M, LEW AM, D'APICE AJ, COWAN P. Genetic modification of pigs for solid organ xenotransplantation. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2011: 25: 9-20.
- 100. OGEDEGBE HO. An Overview of Hemostasis. laboratorymedicine. 2002 Dec: 12:33: 948-953.
- 101. BOON GD. An overview of hemostasis. Toxicol Pathol. 1993: 21: 170-179.
- 102. ADAMS RL, BIRD RJ. Review article: Coagulation cascade and therapeutics update: relevance to nephrology. Part 1: Overview of coagulation, thrombophilias and history of anticoagulants. Nephrology (Carlton). 2009: 14: 462-470.
- 103. CAMERER E, KOLSTO AB, PRYDZ H. Cell biology of tissue factor, the principal initiator of blood coagulation. Thromb Res. 1996: 81: 1-41.
- 104. TRIPLETT DA. Coagulation and bleeding disorders: review and update. Clin Chem. 2000: 46: 1260-1269.
- 105. DAVIE EW, FUJIKAWA K, KISIEL W. The coagulation cascade: initiation, maintenance, and regulation. Biochemistry. 1991: 30: 10363-10370.
- 106. ACHNECK HE, SILESHI B, PARIKH A, MILANO CA, WELSBY IJ, LAWSON JH. Pathophysiology of bleeding and clotting in the cardiac surgery patient: from vascular endothelium to circulatory assist device surface. Circulation. 2010: 122: 2068-2077.
- 107. MARGETIC S. Inflammation and hemostasis. Biochemica Medica. 2012: 22(1):49-62.
- AMARA U, RITTIRSCH D, FLIERL M, BRUCKNER U, KLOS A, GEBHARD F, et al. Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2008: 632:71-9.
- 109. ESMON CT. Coagulation inhibitors in inflammation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2005: 33: 401-405.
- 110. GAWAZ M, BRAND K, DICKFELD T, POGATSA-MURRAY G, PAGE S, BOGNER C, et al. Platelets induce alterations of chemotactic and adhesive properties of endothelial

cells mediated through an interleukin-1-dependent mechanism. Implications for atherogenesis. Atherosclerosis. 2000 Jan: 148(1):75-85.

- 111. WAGNER DD, BURGER PC. Platelets in inflammation and thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003: 23: 2131-2137.
- 112. PEARSON JD. Endothelial cell function and thrombosis. Bailliere's best practice & research Clinical haematology. 1999: 12: 329-341.
- KOPP CW, SIEGEL JB, HANCOCK WW, ANRATHER J, WINKLER H, GECZY CL, et al. Effect of porcine endothelial tissue factor pathway inhibitor on human coagulation factors. Transplantation. 1997: 63: 749-758.
- 114. GHANEKAR A, MENDICINO M, LIU H, HE W, LIU M, ZHONG R, et al. Endothelial induction of fgl2 contributes to thrombosis during acute vascular xenograft rejection. J Immunol. 2004: 172: 5693-5701.
- 115. LIN CC, CHEN D, MCVEY JH, COOPER DK, DORLING A. Expression of tissue factor and initiation of clotting by human platelets and monocytes after incubation with porcine endothelial cells. Transplantation. 2008: 86: 702-709.
- 116. DORSAM RT, KUNAPULI SP. Central role of the P2Y12 receptor in platelet activation. J Clin Invest. 2004: 113: 340-345.
- 117. LIN CC, COOPER DK, DORLING A. Coagulation dysregulation as a barrier to xenotransplantation in the primate. Transpl Immunol 2009 Jun: 21(2):75-80.
- 118. LIN CC, EZZELARAB M, SHAPIRO R, EKSER B, LONG C, HARA H, et al. Recipient tissue factor expression is associated with consumptive coagulopathy in pig-to-primate kidney xenotransplantation. Am J Transplant. 2010 Jul: 10(7):1556-68.
- 119. EZZELARAB M, EKSER B, GRIDELLI B, IWASE H, AYARES D, COOPER DK. Thrombocytopenia after pig-to-baboon liver xenotransplantation: where do platelets go? Xenotransplantation 2011 Nov-Dec: 18(6):320-7.
- 120. PARIS LL, CHIHARA RK, REYES LM, SIDNER RA, ESTRADA JL, DOWNEY SM, et al. ASGR1 expressed by porcine enriched liver sinusoidal endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in vitro. Xenotransplantation. 2011: 18: 245-251.
- 121. PENG Q, YEH H, WEI L, ENJYOJ K, MACHAIDZE Z, CSIZMAD E, et al. Mechanisms of xenogeneic baboon platelet aggregation and phagocytosis by porcine liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. PLoS One. 2012: 7: e47273.
- 122. BURLAK C, PARIS LL, CHIHARA RK, SIDNER RA, REYES LM, DOWNEY SM, et al. The fate of human platelets perfused through the pig liver: implications for xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2010: 17: 350-361.
- 123. PARIS LL, CHIHARA RK, SIDNER RA, TECTOR AJ, BURLAK C. Differences in human and porcine platelet oligosaccharides may influence phagocytosis by liver sinusoidal cells in vitro. Xenotransplantation. 2012: 19: 31-39.
- 124. HILDENBRANDT GR, ARONSON NN, JR. Uptake of asialoglycophorin-liposomes by the perfused rat liver. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1980: 631: 499-502.

- 125. ROCCATELLO D, PICCIOTTO G, TORCHIO M, ROPOLO R, FERRO M, FRANCESCHINI R, et al. Removal systems of immunoglobulin A and immunoglobulin A containing complexes in IgA nephropathy and cirrhosis patients. The role of asialoglycoprotein receptors. Lab Invest. 1993: 69: 714-723.
- 126. DINI L, AUTUORI F, LENTINI A, OLIVERIO S, PIACENTINI M. The clearance of apoptotic cells in the liver is mediated by the asialoglycoprotein receptor. FEBS Lett. 1992: 296: 174-178.
- 127. WEIGEL PH. Galactosyl and N-acetylgalactosaminyl homeostasis: a function for mammalian asialoglycoprotein receptors. BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology. 1994: 16: 519-524.
- 128. GREWAL PK, UCHIYAMA S, DITTO D, VARKI N, LE DT, NIZET V, et al. The Ashwell receptor mitigates the lethal coagulopathy of sepsis. Nat Med. 2008: 14: 648-655.
- 129. COOPER DK, DORLING A, PIERSON RN, 3RD, REES M, SEEBACH J, YAZER M, et al. Alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs for xenotransplantation: where do we go from here? Transplantation. 2007: 84: 1-7.
- 130. PLATT JL. Understanding the Mechanism of Hyperacute Rejection. Graft 2001: 4:8-9.
- 131. MIYAGAWA S, YAMAMOTO A, MATSUNAMI K, WANG D, TAKAMA Y, UENO T, et al. Complement regulation in the GaIT KO era. Xenotransplantation. 2010: 17: 11-25.
- 132. SHIMIZU A, HISASHI Y, KUWAKI K, TSENG YL, DOR FJ, HOUSER SL, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy associated with humoral rejection of cardiac xenografts from alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs in baboons. Am J Pathol. 2008: 172: 1471-1481.
- 133. KUWAKI K, TSENG YL, DOR FJ, SHIMIZU A, HOUSER SL, SANDERSON TM, et al. Heart transplantation in baboons using α1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs as donors: initial experience. Nat Med 2005: 11:29-31.
- CHEN RH, KADNER A, MITCHELL RN, ADAMS DH. Mechanism of delayed rejection in transgenic pig-to-primate cardiac xenotransplantation. J Surg Res. 2000: 90: 119-125.
- 135. CHEN G, QIAN H, STARZL T, SUN H, GARCIA B, WANG X, et al. Acute rejection is associated with antibodies to non-Gal antigens in baboons using Gal-knockout pig kidney. Nat Med. 2005: 11(12):1295-8.
- LIN SS, WEIDNER BC, BYRNE GW, DIAMOND LE, LAWSON JH, HOOPES CW, et al. The role of antibodies in acute vascular rejection of pig-to-baboon cardiac transplants. J Clin Invest. 1998: 101: 1745-1756.
- 137. LEVENTHAL JR, MATAS AJ, SUN LH, REIF S, BOLMAN RM, 3RD, DALMASSO AP, et al. The immunopathology of cardiac xenograft rejection in the guinea pig-to-rat model. Transplantation. 1993: 56: 1-8.
- 138. BLAKELY ML, VAN DER WERF WJ, BERNDT MC, DALMASSO AP, BACH FH, HANCOCK WW. Activation of intragraft endothelial and mononuclear cells during discordant xenograft rejection. Transplantation. 1994: 58: 1059-1066.

- 139. SAADI S, HOLZKNECHT RA, PATTE CP, STERN DM, PLATT JL. Complementmediated regulation of tissue factor activity in endothelium. J Exp Med. 1995: 182: 1807-1814.
- 140. BACH FH, BLAKELY ML, VAN DER WERF WJ, VANHOVE B, STUHLMEIER K, DE MARTIN R, et al. Xenotransplantation: problems posed by endothelial cell activation. Transplant Proc. 1994: 26: 1029-1030.
- SELVAN RS, KAPADIA HB, PLATT JL. Complement-induced expression of chemokine genes in endothelium: regulation by IL-1-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Immunol. 1998: 161: 4388-4395.
- 142. COWAN PJ, D'APICE AJ. The coagulation barrier in xenotransplantation: incompatibilities and strategies to overcome them. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2008: 13(2):178-83.
- 143. RAU JC, BEAULIEU LM, HUNTINGTON JA, CHURCH FC. Serpins in thrombosis, hemostasis and fibrinolysis. J Thromb Haemost. 2007: 5 Suppl 1: 102-115.
- 144. DAHLBACK B, VILLOUTREIX BO. The anticoagulant protein C pathway. FEBS Lett. 2005: 579: 3310-3316.
- 145. LWALEED BA, BASS PS. Tissue factor pathway inhibitor: structure, biology and involvement in disease. J Pathol. 2006: 208: 327-339.
- 146. COWAN PJ, ROBSON SC, D'APICE AJ. Controlling coagulation dysregulation in xenotransplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2011: 16: 214-221.
- 147. DAHLBACK B. Advances in understanding pathogenic mechanisms of thrombophilic disorders. Blood. 2008: 112: 19-27.
- 148. ROUSSEL JC, MORAN CJ, SALVARIS EJ, NANDURKAR HH, D'APICE AJ, COWAN PJ. Pig thrombomodulin binds human thrombin but is a poor cofactor for activation of human protein C and TAFI. Am J Transplant 2008: 8(6):1101-12.
- SCHULTE AM ESCH J, 2ND, ROBSON SC, KNOEFEL WT, HOSCH SB, ROGIERS X.
  O-linked glycosylation and functional incompatibility of porcine von Willebrand factor for human platelet GPIb receptors. Xenotransplantation. 2005: 12: 30-37.
- 150. LEE KF, SALVARIS EJ, ROUSSEL JC, ROBSON SC, D'APICE AJ, COWAN PJ. Recombinant pig TFPI efficiently regulates human tissue factor pathways. Xenotransplantation. 2008: 15: 191-197.
- 151. ITO T, MARUYAMA I. Thrombomodulin: protectorate God of the vasculature in thrombosis and inflammation. J Thromb Haemost. 2011: 9 Suppl 1: 168-173.
- 152. PETERSEN B, RAMACKERS W, TIEDE A, LUCAS-HAHN A, HERRMANN D, BARG-KUES B, et al. Pigs transgenic for human thrombomodulin have elevated production of activated protein C. Xenotransplantation. 2009: 16: 486-495.
- 153. ESMON CT. The endothelial protein C receptor. Curr Opin Hematol. 2006: 13: 382-385.

- 154. KACZMAREK E, KOZIAK K, SEVIGNY J, SIEGEL JB, ANRATHER J, BEAUDOIN AR, et al. Identification and characterization of CD39/vascular ATP diphosphohydrolase. J Biol Chem. 1996: 271: 33116-33122.
- 155. DWYER KM, ROBSON SC, NANDURKAR HH, CAMPBELL DJ, GOCK H, MURRAY-SEGAL LJ, et al. Thromboregulatory manifestations in human CD39 transgenic mice and the implications for thrombotic disease and transplantation. J Clin Invest. 2004: 113: 1440-1446.
- 156. WHEELER DG, JOSEPH ME, MAHAMUD SD, AURAND WL, MOHLER PJ, POMPILI VJ, et al. Transgenic swine: expression of human CD39 protects against myocardial injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2012: 52: 958-961.
- 157. LE BAS-BERNARDET S, TILLOU X, POIRIER N, DILEK N, CHATELAIS M, DEVALLIÈRE J, et al. Xenotransplantation of galactosyl-transferase knockout, CD55, CD59, CD39, and fucosyl-transferase transgenic pig kidneys into baboons. Transplant Proc 2011: 43(9):3426-30.
- 158. CHEN D, GIANNOPOULOS K, SHIELS PG, WEBSTER Z, MCVEY JH, KEMBALL-COOK G, et al. Inhibition of intravascular thrombosis in murine endotoxemia by targeted expression of hirudin and tissue factor pathway inhibitor analogs to activated endothelium. Blood. 2004: 104: 1344-1349.
- 159. LIN CC, EZZELARAB M, HARA H, LONG C, LIN CW, DORLING A, et al. Atorvastatin or transgenic expression of TFPI inhibits coagulation initiated by anti-nonGal IgG binding to porcine aortic endothelial cells. J Thromb Haemost. 2010: 8: 2001-2010.
- WIGGINS RC, GICLAS PC, HENSON PM. Chemotactic activity generated from the fifth component of complement by plasma kallikrein of the rabbit. J Exp Med. 1981: 153: 1391-1404.
- 161. DISCIPIO RG. The activation of the alternative pathway C3 convertase by human plasma kallikrein. Immunology. 1982: 45: 587-595.
- 162. HIEMSTRA PS, DAHA MR, BOUMA BN. Activation of factor B of the complement system by kallikrein and its light chain. Thromb Res. 1985: 38: 491-503.
- AMARA U, FLIERL MA, RITTIRSCH D, KLOS A, CHEN H, ACKER B, et al. Molecular intercommunication between the complement and coagulation systems. J Immunol. 2010: 1;185(9):5628-36.
- 164. DEL CONDE I, CRUZ MA, ZHANG H, LOPEZ JA, AFSHAR-KHARGHAN V. Platelet activation leads to activation and propagation of the complement system. J Exp Med. 2005: 201: 871-879.
- 165. GHEBREHIWET B, SILVERBERG M, KAPLAN AP. Activation of the classical pathway of complement by Hageman factor fragment. J Exp Med. 1981: 153: 665-676.
- 166. GHEBREHIWET B, RANDAZZO BP, DUNN JT, SILVERBERG M, KAPLAN AP. Mechanisms of activation of the classical pathway of complement by Hageman factor fragment. J Clin Invest. 1983: 71: 1450-1456.

- 167. ENDO Y, NAKAZAWA N, IWAKI D, TAKAHASHI M, MATSUSHITA M, FUJITA T. Interactions of ficolin and mannose-binding lectin with fibrinogen/fibrin augment the lectin complement pathway. J Innate Immun. 2010: 2: 33-42.
- 168. IKEDA K, NAGASAWA K, HORIUCHI T, TSURU T, NISHIZAKA H, NIHO Y. C5a induces tissue factor activity on endothelial cells. Thromb Haemost. 1997: 77: 394-398.
- 169. WOJTA J, HUBER K, VALENT P. New aspects in thrombotic research: complement induced switch in mast cells from a profibrinolytic to a prothrombotic phenotype. Pathophysiology of haemostasis and thrombosis. 2003: 33: 438-441.
- 170. KRARUP A, WALLIS R, PRESANIS JS, GAL P, SIM RB. Simultaneous activation of complement and coagulation by MBL-associated serine protease 2. PLoS One. 2007: 2: e623.
- 171. GULLA KC, GUPTA K, KRARUP A, GAL P, SCHWAEBLE WJ, SIM RB, et al. Activation of mannan-binding lectin-associated serine proteases leads to generation of a fibrin clot. Immunology. 2010: 129: 482-495.
- 172. LIDINGTON EA, HASKARD DO, MASON JC. Induction of decay-accelerating factor by thrombin through a protease-activated receptor 1 and protein kinase C-dependent pathway protects vascular endothelial cells from complement-mediated injury. Blood. 2000: 15;96(8):2784-92.
- 173. BAJZAR L, MORSER J, NESHEIM M. TAFI, or plasma procarboxypeptidase B, couples the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades through the thrombin-thrombomodulin complex. J Biol Chem. 1996: 12;271(28):16603-8.
- 174. CAMPBELL W, OKADA N, OKADA H. Carboxypeptidase R is an inactivator of complement-derived inflammatory peptides and an inhibitor of fibrinolysis. Immunol Rev. 2001: 180:162-7.
- FRIEDMAN T, SHIMIZU A, SMITH RN, COLVIN RB, SEEBACH JD, SACHS DH, et al. Human CD4+ T cells mediate rejection of porcine xenografts. J Immunol. 1999: 162: 5256-5262.
- 176. MOSES RD, WINN HJ, AUCHINCLOSS H JR. Evidence that multiple defects in cellsurface molecule interactions across species differences are responsible for diminished xenogeneic T cell responses. Transplantation. 1992: 53(1):203-9.
- 177. ALTER BJ, BACH FH. Cellular basis of the proliferative response of human T cells to mouse xenoantigens. J Exp Med. 1990: 171: 333-338.
- LIN Y, SOARES MP, SATO K, TAKIGAMI K, CSIZMADIA E, ANRATHER J, et al. Rejection of cardiac xenografts by CD4+ or CD8+ T cells. J Immunol. 1999: 162: 1206-1214.
- 179. KLOSE R, KEMTER E, BEDKE T, BITTMANN I, KELSSER B, ENDRES R, et al. Expression of biologically active human TRAIL in transgenic pigs. Transplantation. 2005: 80: 222-230.
- 180. INVERARDI L, CLISSI B, STOLZER AL, BENDER JR, SANDRIN MS, PARDI R. Human natural killer lymphocytes directly recognize evolutionarily conserved

oligosaccharide ligands expressed by xenogeneic tissues. Transplantation. 1997: 63: 1318-1330.

- 181. RIEBEN R, SEEBACH JD. Xenograft rejection: IgG1, complement and NK cells team up to activate and destroy the endothelium. Trends Immunol. 2005: 26: 2-5.
- 182. BAUMANN BC, FORTE P, HAWLEY RJ, RIEBEN R, SCHNEIDER MK, SEEBACH JD. Lack of galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose expression on porcine endothelial cells prevents complement-induced lysis but not direct xenogeneic NK cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2004: 172(10):6460-7.
- 183. HE Z EC, KUMAGAI-BRAESCH M, ISLAM KB, HOLGERSSON J. Aberrant expression of alpha-Gal on primary human endothelium does not confer susceptibility to NK cell cytotoxicity or increased NK cell adhesion. Eur J Immunol. 2004: 34(4):1185-95.
- 184. INVERARDI L, PARDI R. Early events in cell-mediated recognition of vascularized xenografts: cooperative interactions between selected lymphocyte subsets and natural antibodies. Immunol Rev. 1994: 141: 71-93.
- 185. KHALFOUN B, BARRAT D, WATIER H, MACHET MC, ARBEILLE-BRASSART B, RIESS JG, et al. Development of an ex vivo model of pig kidney perfused with human lymphocytes. Analysis of xenogeneic cellular reactions. Surgery. 2000: 128: 447-457.
- 186. SCHNEIDER MK, SEEBACH JD. Current cellular innate immune hurdles in pig-toprimate xenotransplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2008: 13: 171-177.
- 187. WEISS EH, LILIENFELD BG, MULLER S, MULLER E, HERBACH N, KESSLER B, et al. HLA-E/human beta2-microglobulin transgenic pigs: protection against xenogeneic human anti-pig natural killer cell cytotoxicity. Transplantation. 2009: 87: 35-43.
- WALLGREN AC, KARLSSON-PARRA A, KORSGREN O. The main infiltrating cell in xenograft rejection is a CD4+ macrophage and not a T lymphocyte. Transplantation. 1995: 27;60(6):594-601.
- 189. LIN Y, VANDEPUTTE M, WAER M. Contribution of activated macrophages to the process of delayed xenograft rejection. Transplantation. 1997: 64: 1677-1683.
- 190. YI S, HAWTHORNE WJ, LEHNERT AM, HA H, WONG JK, VAN ROOIJEN N, et al. T cell-activated macrophages are capable of both recognition and rejection of pancreatic islet xenografts. J Immunol. 2003: 1;170(5):2750-8.
- 191. IDE K, WANG H, TAHARA H, LIU J, WANG X, ASAHARA T, et al. Role for CD47-SIRPalpha signaling in xenograft rejection by macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007: 104: 5062-5066.
- 192. COWAN PJ. Coagulation and the xenograft endothelium. Xenotransplantation. 2007: 14: 7-12.
- 193. SHRIVASTAVA S, MCVEY JH, DORLING A. The interface between coagulation and immunity. Am J Transplant. 2007: 7(3):499-506.
- 194. WILCOX S. (Medically Speaking) The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly in Xenotransplantation. BioTeach Journal. 2003: 1: 49-52.

- 195. PLATT JL, VERCELLOTTI GM, DALMASSO AP, MATAS AJ, BOLMAN RM, NAJARIAN JS, et al. Transplantation of discordant xenografts: a review of progress. Immunol Today. 1990: 11: 450-456; discussion 456-457.
- 196. ALEXANDRE GPJ, GIANELLO P, LATINNE D, ET AL. Plasmapheresis and splenectomy in experimental renal transplantation. In: Hardy MA, ed. Xenograft 25. . New York: Elsevier Science Publishers. 1989: 259-266.
- 197. FISCHEL RJ, MATAS AJ, PLATT JL, PERRY E, NOREEN H, SHUMWAY SJ, et al. Cardiac xenografting in the pig-to-rhesus monkey model: manipulation of antiendothelial antibody prolongs survival. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1992: 11: 965-973; discussion 973-964.
- DORLING A. Transplant Accommodation—Are the Lessons Learned From Xenotransplantation Pertinent for Clinical Allotransplantation? Am J Transplant. 2012: 12: 545–553.
- 199. BACH FH, FERRAN C, HECHENLEITNER P, MARK W, KOYAMADA N, MIYATAKE T, et al. Accommodation of vascularized xenografts: Expression of "protective genes" by donor endothelial cells in a host Th2 cytokine environment. Nat Med. 1997: 3(2):196-204.
- 200. ALEXANDRE GP, SQUIFFLET JP, DE BRUYERE M, LATINNE D, REDING R, GIANELLO P, et al. Present experiences in a series of 26 ABO-incompatible living donor renal allografts. Transplant Proc. 1987: 19: 4538-4542.
- 201. CHEN G, QIAN H, STARZL T, SUN H, GARCIA B, WANG X, et al. Acute rejection is associated with antibodies to non-Gal antigens in baboons using Gal-knockout pig kidneys. 11(12):1295-8. 2005.
- 202. YAMADA K, YAZAWA K, SHIMIZU A, IWANAGA T, HISASHI Y, NUHN M, et al. Marked prolongation of porcine renal xenograft survival in baboons through the use of alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout donors and the cotransplantation of vascularized thymic tissue. Nat Med. 2005: 11(1):32-4.
- 203. KUWAKI K, KNOSALLA C, DOR FJ, GOLLACKNER B, TSENG YL, HOUSER S, et al. Suppression of natural and elicited antibodies in pig-to-baboon heart transplantation using a human anti-human CD154 mAb-based regimen. Am J Transplant 2004: 4:363– 372.
- 204. YAMAMOTO S, LAVELLE JM, VAGEFI PA, ARAKAWA H, SAMELSON-JONES E, MORAN S, et al. Vascularized thymic lobe transplantation in a pig-to-baboon model: a novel strategy for xenogeneic tolerance induction and T-cell reconstitution. Transplantation. 2005: 80: 1783-1790.
- 205. FUDABA Y, SPITZER TR, SHAFFER J, KAWAI T, FEHR T, DELMONICO F, et al. Myeloma responses and tolerance following combined kidney and nonmyeloablative marrow transplantation: in vivo and in vitro analyses. Am J Transplant. 2006: 6: 2121-2133.

50

- 206. TSENG YL, SACHS DH, COOPER DK. Porcine hematopoietic progenitor cell transplantation in nonhuman primates: a review of progress. Transplantation. 2005: 79: 1-9.
- 207. IBRAHIM Z, BUSCH J, AWWAD M, WAGNER R, WELLS K, COOPER DK. Selected physiologic compatibilities and incompatibilities between human and porcine organ systems. Xenotransplantation. 2006: 13(6):488-99.
- 208. THEIN E, HAMMER C. Physiologic barriers to xenotransplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2004: 9:186 –189.
- 209. RAMACKERS W, FRIEDRICH L, TIEDE A, BERGMANN S, SCHUETTLER W, SCHUERHOLZ T, et al. Effects of pharmacological intervention on coagulopathy and organ function in xenoperfused kidneys. Xenotransplantation. 2008: 15: 46-55.
- HAMMER C. Evolutionary obstacles to xenotransplantation, p 716–735. In Cooper DKC, Kemp E, Platt JL, White DJG (ed), . Xenotransplantation, 2nd ed Springer, Heidelberg, Germany. 1997.
- 211. HAMMER C, THEIN E. Physiological aspects of xenotransplantation, 2001. Xenotransplantation. 2002: 9: 303-305.
- 212. SACHS DH, SYKES M, ROBSON SC, COOPER DK. Xenotransplantation. Adv Immunol. 2001: 79: 129-223.
- 213. HAMMER C. Xenotransplantation for liver therapy or: Can porcine hepatocytes generate physiological functions sufficient for a human patient in ALF? Int J Artif Organs. 2002: 25(10):1019-28.
- 214. NGUYEN BH, ZWETS E, SCHROEDER C, PIERSON RN 3RD, AZIMZADEH AM. Beyond antibody-mediated rejection: hyperacute lung rejection as a paradigm for dysregulated inflammation. Curr Drug Targets Cardiovasc Haematol Disord. 2005: 5(3):255-69.
- IERINO FL, KOZLOWSKI T, SIEGEL JB, SHIMIZU A, COLVIN RB, BANERJEE PT, et al. Disseminated intravascular coagulation in association with the delayed rejection of pig-to-baboon renal xenografts. Transplantation. 1998: 66: 1439-1450.
- 216. BUHLER L, BASKER M, ALWAYN IP, GOEPFERT C, KITAMURA H, KAWAI T, et al. Coagulation and thrombotic disorders associated with pig organ and hematopoietic cell transplantation in nonhuman primates. Transplantation. 2000: 70: 1323-1331.
- 217. ONIONS D, COOPER DK, ALEXANDER TJ, BROWN C, CLAASSEN E, FOWERAKER JE, et al. An approach to the control of disease transmission in pig-tohuman xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2000: 7: 143-155.
- 218. SCHUURMAN HJ. Regulatory aspects of pig-to-human islet transplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2008: 15: 116-120.
- 219. BLUSCH JH, PATIENCE C, MARTIN U. Pig endogenous retroviruses and xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2002: 9: 242-251.
- 220. TAKEUCHI Y, FISHMAN J. Long life with or without PERV. Xenotransplantation. 2012: 17(6):429-30.

51

- 221. RAMSOONDAR J, VAUGHT T, BALL S, MENDICINO M, MONAHAN J, JOBST P, et al. Production of transgenic pigs that express porcine endogenous retrovirus small interfering RNAs. Xenotransplantation. 2009: 16(3):164-80.
- 222. DIECKHOFF B, PETERSEN B, KUES WA, KURTH R, NIEMANN H, DENNER J. Knockdown of porcine endogenous retrovirus (PERV) expression by PERV-specific shRNA in transgenic pigs. Xenotransplantation. 2008: 15: 36-45.
- 223. WATANABE M, UMEYAMA K, MATSUNARI H, TAKAYANAGI S, HARUYAMA E, NAKANO K, et al. Knockout of exogenous EGFP gene in porcine somatic cells using zinc-finger nucleases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010: 5;402(1):14-8.

-

-

•

Results

-

•

### Paper I

# Activation of the lectin pathway of complement in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models

**Anjan K. Bongoni**<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David Kiermeir<sup>3</sup>, Hansjörg Jenni<sup>4</sup>, Annegret Wuensch<sup>5</sup>, Andrea Bähr<sup>5</sup>, David Ayares<sup>6</sup>, Jörg D. Seebach<sup>7</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>5</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>5</sup>, Mihai A. Constantinescu<sup>3</sup>, Esther Vögelin<sup>3</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1,3,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, Switzerland, <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, and <sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bern University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Chair for Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Gene Center and Department of Veterinary Sciences, LMU Munich, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland

Status: Published in Transplantation, 2013 Nov 15;96(9):791-9.

**Background:** In pig-to-human xenotransplantation, complement activation plays a pivotal role in early graft damage. Anti-Gal IgM antibodies are a major initiator of complement activation via the classical pathway. By amplifying C3b generation, the alternative pathway is also critical. However, involvement of the lectin pathway of complement in hyperacute and later phases of xenograft rejection has not been assessed so far.

**Aim:** The present study was therefore focused on lectin pathway as well as interaction of IgM and MBL in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models.



Figure: (A) Model illustrating the activation of the lectin pathway by natural anti-Gal IgM and downstream events in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. (B) In vitro porcine aortic EC treated with normal human serum and analyzed for co-localized deposition (yellow) of IgM (green) and MASP2 (red). Nuclei stained with DAPI (blue).

**Conclusion:** Co-localization of MBL/MASP2 with IgM and complement suggests that the lectin pathway is activated by human anti-Gal IgM and may play a pathophysiological role in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. In this study, PAEC from GalTKO/hCD46 pigs showed significantly reduced deposition of MBL and complement proteins as well as no cytotoxicity when treated with NHS. These observations suggest that GalTKO and expression hCD46 could also help to prevent lectin pathway activation during pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

-

•

## Activation of the Lectin Pathway of Complement in Pig-to-Human Xenotransplantation Models

Anjan K. Bongoni,<sup>1,2,3</sup> David Kiermeir,<sup>3</sup> Hansjörg Jenni,<sup>4</sup> Annegret Wünsch,<sup>5</sup> Andrea Bähr,<sup>5</sup> David Ayares,<sup>6</sup> Jörg D. Seebach,<sup>7</sup> Eckhard Wolf,<sup>5</sup> Nikolai Klymiuk,<sup>5</sup> Mihai A. Constantinescu,<sup>3</sup> Esther Vögelin,<sup>3</sup> and Robert Rieben<sup>1,3,8</sup>

**Background.** Natural IgM containing anti-Gal antibodies initiates classic pathway complement activation in xenotransplantation. However, in ischemia-reperfusion injury, IgM also induces lectin pathway activation. The present study was therefore focused on lectin pathway as well as interaction of IgM and mannose-binding lectin (MBL) in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models.

**Methods.** Activation of the different complement pathways was assessed by cell enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay using human serum on wild-type (WT) and  $\alpha$ -galactosyl transferase knockout (GalTKO)/hCD46-transgenic porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC). Colocalization of MBL/MASP2 with IgM, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6 was investigated by immunofluorescence in vitro on PAEC and ex vivo in pig leg xenoperfusion with human blood. Influence of IgM on MBL binding to PAEC was tested using IgM depleted/repleted and anti-Gal immunoabsorbed serum.

**Results.** Activation of all the three complement pathways was observed in vitro as indicated by IgM, C1q, MBL, and factor Bb deposition on WT PAEC. MBL deposition colocalized with MASP2 (Manders' coefficient [3D]  $r^2$ =0.93), C3b/c ( $r^2$ =0.84), C4b/c ( $r^2$ =0.86), and C6 ( $r^2$ =0.80). IgM colocalized with MBL ( $r^2$ =0.87) and MASP2 ( $r^2$ =0.83). Human IgM led to dose-dependently increased deposition of MBL, C3b/c, and C6 on WT PAEC. Colocalization of MBL with IgM (Pearson's coefficient [2D]  $r_p^2$ =0.88), C3b/c ( $r_p^2$ =0.82), C4b/c ( $r_p^2$ =0.63), and C6 ( $r_p^2$ =0.81) was also seen in ex vivo xenoperfusion. Significantly reduced MBL deposition and complement activation was observed on GalTKO/hCD46-PAEC.

**Conclusion.** Colocalization of MBL/MASP2 with IgM and complement suggests that the lectin pathway is activated by human anti-Gal IgM and may play a pathophysiologic role in pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

Keywords: Mannose-binding lectin, Complement pathways, Natural antibody, Xenotransplantation, Porcine aortic endothelial cells.

(Transplantation 2013;96: 791-799)

The use of xenografts of pig origin may significantly expand the pool of available donor organs for humans (1, 2). However, the major obstacle of pig-to-human xenotransplantation is that grafts are subjected to potent xenorejection processes (3). Hyperacute rejection is the

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland.
  <sup>2</sup> Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern,
- Bern, Switzerland.
- <sup>3</sup> Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, Bern University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland.
- <sup>4</sup> Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bern University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland.
  <sup>5</sup> Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Gene Center and
- Department of Veterinary Sciences, LMU Munich, Germany. <sup>6</sup> Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, VA.
- <sup>7</sup> Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland.
- <sup>8</sup> Address correspondence to: Robert Rieben, Ph.D., Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern, Murtenstrasse 50, P.O. Box 44, CH-3010 Bern, Switzerland.
- E-mail: robert.rieben@dkf.unibe.ch

circulation. It is a consequence of the binding of human preformed xenoreactive antibodies against the disaccharide Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal expressed on porcine endothelium (reviewed in Ref. (6)). This antigen-antibody interaction activates the

first and most destructive mechanism (4, 5), characterized by rapid loss of graft function after connecting to the host

Received 5 June 2013. Revision requested 2 July 2013. Accepted 3 July 2013. Copyright © 2013 by Lippincott Williams & Wilkins ISSN: 0041-1337/13/9609-791 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182a3a52b

Transplantation • Volume 96, Number 9, November 15, 2013

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (32003B\_135272, 32003B\_138434, and 320030-138376), the Wilsdorf Foundation, and the German Research Council (CRC 127).

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

A.K.B. participated in the research design, writing of the article, performance of the research, and data analysis and contributed new reagents or analytic tools. D.K. and H.J. participated in the performance of the animal experiments and the overall design of the study. A.W, A.B., E.W., and N.K. produced GaITKO/hCD46 pigs and provided the respective endothelial cells. D.A. provided primary cells from GaITKO/hCD46 transgenic pigs for nuclear transfer experiments. J.D.S. provided scientific support and reagents and participated in the critical revision of the article. M.A.C. and E.V. participated in the concept and design of the study and carried part of the responsibility. R.R. participated in the concept and design of the study, analysis of the data, and writing of the article and carried the main responsibility for the study.

www.transplantjournal.com 791

#### 792 | www.transplantjournal.com

complement cascade on the endothelial cell membrane, leading to endothelial cell activation and damage, intravascular graft thrombosis, and vessel occlusion (7).

The complement system is activated via three wellcharacterized pathways—the classic, the alternative, and the lectin pathways. Each of them has its own mechanism of activation, resulting in activation of C3, followed by generation of the membrane attack complex (8). In hyperacute rejection, xenoreactive antibody-mediated activation of the classic pathway is commonly accepted as the main complement activation pathway (9, 10). By amplifying the generation of C3b, the alternative pathway also becomes critical in xenograft rejection. However, currently available data do not answer the question whether the lectin pathway may also be involved in the initiation of xenorejection.

The lectin pathway is initiated by interactions between mannose-binding lectin (MBL) and certain carbohydrate arrays (11). MBL naturally exists in a complex with MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs) (12, 13). When MBL binds to a target, the MASPs are activated (14) and cleave their respective substrates—C4 and C2 for MASP2 and C3 and C2 for MASP1 (15). Historically, the lectin pathway of complement activation is known as antibody-independent pathway. However, several studies using animal models of ischemia-reperfusion injury demonstrated that MBL also interacts with immune complexes to activate complement via the lectin pathway (16–18). In addition, a recent in vitro study suggested that 20% of human serum IgM could bind to immobilized human MBL (19, 20).

In a bypass activation pathway, MBL can directly activate C3 and the alternative pathway of complement, which are independent of C2 (21). In addition, MBL binding to polymeric IgA induces the initiation of lectin pathway of complement activation (22). Furthermore, myocardial and skeletal ischemia-reperfusion injury studies demonstrated that complement activation and resulting C3 deposition are mediated by IgM and MBL (23, 24) and independent of C1q and the classic pathway (24). Taken together, these observations extend the idea that activation of the lectin pathway of complement may not be completely antibody independent.

Thus far, the role of the lectin pathway of complement has not been looked at in xenotransplantation. The present study was therefore focused on lectin pathway activation in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. In particular, we investigated the interaction of MBL and IgM in pig-to-human in vitro as well as ex vivo xenotransplantation models.

#### RESULTS

#### Complement Pathways Involved in Pig-to-Human Xenorejection In Vitro (PAEC Treated with NHS)

Deposition of C1q (classic pathway), MBL (lectin pathway), and factor Bb (alternative pathway) on porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) was assessed by cell enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Wild-type (WT) PAEC exposed to 1:2 diluted normal human serum (NHS) showed deposition of IgM, C1q, MBL, factor Bb, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C5b-9 (Fig. 1A). In addition, MBL, C3b/c, and C6 deposition was shown on PAEC treated with 1:10 diluted, MBL-deficient, or C1q-depleted serum or NHS (Fig. 1B). Incubation of WT PAEC with MBL-deficient or C1q-depleted serum also led to

Transplantation • Volume 96, Number 9, November 15, 2013

expression of adhesion molecules (VCAM-1 and CD62E; Fig. 1C) as well as PAEC cytotoxicity (Fig. 1D).

#### Lectin Pathway Complement Activation In Vitro—Colocalization Analysis

Immunofluorescence (IF) staining was performed on WT PAEC treated with 1:10 diluted NHS for the colocalized deposition of MBL with complement proteins. Deposition of MBL on WT PAEC was colocalized with MASP2, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6, suggesting activation of the lectin pathway in this xenotransplantation setting (Fig. 2).

Quantitative colocalization analysis was performed by Manders' correlation coefficient ( $R_m$ ) using z-stack confocal images and Imaris software version 7.2.3 (Bitplane). A total overlap of both fluorescent color channels, indicating a perfect three-dimensional colocalization, is indicated by " $R_m$ =1," and no colocalization by " $R_m$ =0." The Manders' correlation coefficient values were 0.93 for MBL-MASP2, 0.84 for MBL-C3b/c, 0.86 for MBL-C4b/c, and 0.80 for MBL-C6, suggesting an important contribution of MBL for total complement deposition in this model.

## Colocalization of IgM and MBL/MASP2 on WT PAEC

Colocalization of natural IgM with MBL and MASP2 was investigated on NHS-treated PAEC by confocal microscopy. Colocalized deposition of IgM with MBL and MASP2 was observed on PAEC (yellow staining) (Fig. 3). Manders' colocalization analysis showed near-perfect IgM colocalization with MBL ( $R_m$ =0.87) and MASP2 ( $R_m$ =0.83).

## IgM-Dependent MBL and Complement Deposition on WT PAEC

Binding of MBL to the major porcine xenoantigen Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal on WT PAEC was assessed in anti-Gal immunoabsorbed and immunoglobulin-depleted (Ig-depleted) serum, respectively. Compared with NHS, reduced MBL deposition was observed on PAEC when incubated with anti-Gal immunoabsorbed NHS or Ig-depleted serum. Purified polyclonal human IgM was used to replete anti-Gal immunoabsorbed NHS and Ig-depleted serum, respectively, which resulted in dose-dependently increased deposition of MBL, C3b/c, and C6 on PAEC (Fig. 3C,D). In addition, WT PAEC were treated with purified human polyclonal IgM followed by incubation with purified MBL protein, resulting in a dosedependently increased binding of purified MBL to PAEC (Fig. 3D).

#### Complement Regulation by GalTKO/ hCD46 PAEC

WT or  $\alpha$ -galactosyl transferase knockout (GalTKO)/ hCD46 PAEC were treated with 1:10 diluted NHS and assessed for complement deposition as well as complementmediated PAEC activation and cytotoxicity. Absence of Gal epitopes and overexpression of hCD46 (Fig. 4) significantly reduced binding of IgM, C1q, MBL, and downstream complement proteins on GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC compared with WT (Fig. 4D). This reduced complement activation on the genetically modified PAEC correlated well with reduced complement-mediated cytotoxicity (Fig. 4E). These observations were also confirmed by IF/confocal microscopy using

793

#### © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins



**FIGURE 1.** Cell ELISA, activation of classic, lectin, and alternative complement pathways in a pig-to-human in vitro xenotransplantation model. A, WT PAEC were treated with 1:2 diluted NHS at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 45 min and the deposition of human IgM as well as complement proteins was assessed by specific antibodies. B, treatment of PAEC with 1:10 diluted NHS, MBL-deficient serum and Clq-depleted serum, respectively, and assessment of deposition of Clq, MBL, factor Bb, C3b/c, and C6. C, prolonged incubation (4 hr at  $37^{\circ}$ C) of PAEC with NHS/Clq-depleted serum/MBL-deficient serum (1:10) and assessment of the expression of adhesion molecules VCAM-1 and CD62E. D, treatment of PAEC with 1:10 diluted NHS/Clq-depleted serum/ MBL-deficient serum for 120 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C and assessment of cytotoxicity by calcein AM and EthD-1. Significance was tested using one-way calcein AM with Bonferroni correction (\*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001). Data are mean±SD of three independent experiments.

WT and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC treated with 1:10 diluted NHS (Fig. 4F).

#### Analysis of Lectin Pathway Complement Activation during Ex Vivo Pig Limb Xenoperfusion

Extracorporeal perfusion of WT porcine forelimbs with heparin anticoagulated human blood did not reveal signs of hyperacute rejection and lasted for at least 12 hr, after which it had to be terminated due to continuous small blood losses. Blood gas analysis showed constant physiologic potassium, lactate (10.78 $\pm$ 0.63), and pH values (7.32 $\pm$ 0.06). All limbs showed full muscular response on neural stimulation throughout the experiments. Stable and physiologic hemodynamic perfusion parameters (pressure, flow) could be maintained throughout all perfusions. To prevent blood loss due to bleeding, biopsy samples were collected only at later time points of perfusion, except for one experiment where samples were collected 1 hr after the onset of perfusion. These biopsy samples were used to analyze deposition of MBL, C1q, and factor Bb (Fig. 5A–C).

Tissue samples taken after 12 hr perfusion were stained for deposition of human IgM, MBL, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6. Analysis by fluorescence microscopy revealed that IgM, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6 were codeposited with human MBL in the tissue. Quantitative two-dimensional colocalization analysis was performed by Pearson's correlation coefficient ( $R_p$ ) using fluorescence microscopy images and Imaris software. A total overlap of both fluorescent color channels, represented as " $R_p$ =+1," indicates a perfect colocalization, " $R_p$ =0" random colocalization, and " $R_p$ =-1" perfect exclusion. The  $R_p$  values were 0.88 for IgM-MBL, 0.82 for C3b/c-MBL, 0.63 for C4b/c-MBL, and 0.81 for C6-MBL (Fig. 5D–S).

#### DISCUSSION

The role of complement activation in the pathogenesis of pig-to-human xenograft rejection is well established. However, almost nothing is known to date about the activation of the lectin pathway of complement in xenorejection. We demonstrate here for the first time that all three pathways of complement are activated in a model of pig-to-human xenotransplantation. We could show full activation of complement, including formation of the terminal complement complex and complement-mediated cytotoxicity also in the absence of C1q. In addition, our data indicate that activation of the MBL route of complement is dependent on IgM, both in vitro and ex vivo, in a pig-to-human xenotransplantation model.

#### 794 | www.transplantjournal.com

Transplantation • Volume 96, Number 9, November 15, 2013



**FIGURE 2.** Colocalization analysis of MBL with other complement proteins. NHS (1:10) treated WT PAEC were stained for the deposition of MBL (red fluorescence) and MASP2, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6, respectively (green fluorescence). Representative colocalization images of MBL with the respective Manders' correlation coefficients are shown: (A) MASP2 ( $R_m$ =0.93), (B) C3b/c ( $R_m$ =0.84), (C) C4b/c ( $R_m$ =0.86), and (D) C6 ( $R_m$ =0.80). Colocalization was quantified by z-series analysis using Manders' correlation coefficient. For MBL-C6 colocalization (D), also side views are shown as z-panels to the right and below the image.

Endothelium is the first cell type to make contact with the recipients' blood in xenotransplantation or xenoperfusion. We therefore chose to analyze the effects of human serum on PAEC in vitro to perfuse porcine limbs ex vivo with whole, heparin-anticoagulated human blood. PAEC treated with NHS showed deposition of MBL, C1q, and factor Bb on their surface, indicating that all three pathways are involved in complement-mediated xenograft damage. In addition, deposition of C4b/c, C3b/c, C6, and C5b-9, detected as C9 neoepitope, were also observed on NHS-treated PAEC. The same markers, indicating full activation of complement, were also found when C1q-depleted serum was used. Furthermore, C1q-depleted serum induced PAEC activation, as measured by expression of the adhesion molecules E-selectin and VCAM-1, as well as PAEC cytotoxicity in a complement-dependent manner.

Binding of MBL was colocalized with C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6 on PAEC, suggesting that deposition of MBL on the cells plays a functional role in complement activation. Because natural antibodies are the major contributors to complement activation, the involvement of IgM in lectin pathway activation was then investigated. Colocalization studies on PAEC treated with NHS revealed that MBL/MASP2 deposition was colocalized with IgM, quantitative Manders' coefficient values indicating a near 100% colocalization, suggesting that IgM and MBL may work together in a synergetic way. The importance of anti-Gal IgM in lectin pathway activation was further confirmed by depletion of anti-Gal antibodies from NHS by immunoabsorption, which led to a significantly reduced binding of IgM as well as MBL on PAEC and also to a reduction of C5b-9 deposition. Repletion of immunoabsorbed or total Ig-depleted serum with polyclonal human IgM resulted in a dose-dependently increased deposition of IgM, MBL, and further downstream complement components. In addition, a dose-dependent deposition of purified MBL was found on PAEC treated with human polyclonal IgM. Taken together, these data indicate that the activation of the lectin pathway of complement in this xenotransplantation model is dependent on IgM binding to the target cells. This finding is in line with a recent study showing MBL binding sites on IgM, containing mainly GlcNActerminated glycans, which are strong ligands for MBL (20). Also, the oligomannose structures present on IgM at Asn-402 and Asn-563 could provide binding sites for MBL (25, 26).

Knockout of the Gal epitope in pigs is currently being combined with overexpression of human complement regulatory proteins such as hCD46 to prevent pig-to-human xenograft rejection. In this study, PAEC from GalTKO/hCD46

#### © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Bongoni et al. 795



**FIGURE 3.** Role of IgM in the activation of lectin pathway. Colocalization (yellow) of IgM (green) with MBL and MASP2 (red), respectively. Representative colocalization images of IgM with the respective Manders' correlation coefficients are shown: (A) IgM-MBL ( $R_m$ =0.87) and (B) IgM-MASP2 ( $R_m$ =0.83) on NHS-treated WT PAEC. For IgM-MASP2 colocalization (B), also side views are shown as z-panels to the right and below the image. IgM-dependent MBL and complement deposition on PAEC. Deposition of MBL and complement components on PAEC was tested in the absence (anti-Gal immunoabsorbed NHS/Ig-depleted serum) or presence of anti-Gal IgM (repletion with polyclonal human IgM). C, deposition of IgM, C1q, MBL, C3b/c, and C6 on PAEC incubated with Ig-depleted serum repleted with increasing concentrations of purified human IgM as well as NHS. D, binding of MBL to PAEC in the presence anti-Gal immunoabsorbed NHS (1:10) or purified MBL at a fixed concentration (1.15  $\mu$ g/mL). MBL-binding curves for addition of increasing concentrations of purified human IgM are shown. Data are mean±SD of three independent experiments.

pigs showed significantly reduced deposition of MBL and complement proteins as well as no cytotoxicity when treated with NHS. These observations suggest that GalTKO and expression hCD46 could also help to prevent lectin pathway activation during pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

Tissue samples from porcine forelimbs ex vivo xenoperfused with whole, heparin-anticoagulated human blood were analyzed for the involvement of IgM-mediated lectin pathway activation. Deposition of MBL, C1q, and factor Bb was observed on 1 hr perfusion samples, suggesting that all three pathways of complement are activated. In addition, MBL was colocalized with IgM in 12 hr perfusion samples and the finding of colocalized deposition of MBL with C3, C4, and C6 indicates that also in ex vivo xenoperfusion the MBL route of complement is functional, confirming the in vitro data.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate activation and pathogenic role of the lectin pathway of complement in xenotransplantation. Colocalized deposition of IgM with MBL and MASP2 indicates that activation of the lectin pathway of complement in this pig-to-human xenotransplantation model is dependent on IgM.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Cell ELISA and Determination of Complement Activation Pathways in Xenotransplantation

A modified whole-cell ELISA was used to detect the complement pathways involved in xenotransplantation, similar to methods described previously (27, 28). WT PAEC as well as GalTKO/hCD46 transgenic PAEC were grown to confluence in 96-well plates and washed twice with ELISA wash buffer supplemented with or without calcium (45 mM NaCl, 10 mM HEPES, 680 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and 490 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>). Pooled NHS or alternatively C1qdepleted serum (A509; Quidel, Darmstadt, Germany) or MBL-deficient serum (HSR002; Statens Serum Institut, Copenhagen, Denmark) in GVB++ (1:2 or 1:10) was added to the cells and incubated at 37°C followed by washing with ELISA wash buffer. Cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 15 min at room temperature (RT), washed, and blocked with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)/1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 90 min at RT. Goat antihuman IgM (fluorescein isothiocyanate [FITC] labeled; catalog number F5384; Dako, Carpinteria, CA), rabbit anti-human C1q (A0136; Dako), mouse anti-human MBL (clone 15C5; sc80598; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), rabbit anti-human factor Bb (ab72658; Abcam, Cambridge, UK), rabbit anti-human C3b/c (FITC labeled; A0062; Dako), rabbit anti-human C4b/c (FITC labeled; F0169; Dako), mouse anti-human C5b-9 (aE11; 5010; Diatec, Oslo, Norway), mouse anti-human CD62E (LS-C13922; LifeSpan,

#### 796 | www.transplantjournal.com



**FIGURE 4.** Regulation of complement activation on PAEC using genetic modification strategies. (A) Gal epitope and (B and C) hCD46 expression on WT and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC analyzed by cell ELISA and IF staining. D, deposition of IgM, C1q, MBL, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C5b-9 on NHS (1:10)-treated WT and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC. E, treatment of PAEC with 1:10 diluted NHS for 120 min at 37°C and assessment of cytotoxicity by calcein AM and EthD-1. F, confocal analysis of IgM, C1q, MBL, C4b/c, C3b/c, and C5b-9 on WT and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC treated with 1:10 diluted NHS. Significance was tested using one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni correction (\*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001). Data are mean±SD of three independent experiments. Scale bars, 30  $\mu$ m.

Seattle, WA), mouse anti-human VCAM-1 (1G11B1; 9510; Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL), mouse anti- $\alpha$ Gal (4F10; a gift of A. Bendelac, Howard Hughes Medical Institute [Chevy Chase, MD] and University of Chicago [Chicago, IL]), and mouse anti-human CD46 (HM2103; Hycult Biotech, Plymouth Meeting, PA) were diluted in PBS/1% BSA and incubated for 1 hr at RT followed by three washes. Subsequently, biotin-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (ab6788; Abcam) or goat anti-rabbit Ig (E0432; Dako) were used, diluted 1:500 in PBS/1% BSA, and incubated for 1 hr at RT. After washing, alkaline phosphatase–conjugated rabbit anti-FITC (ab49368; Abcam) or streptavidin–alkaline phosphatase (RPN1234V; GE Healthcare, Cleveland, OH) diluted 1:1000 in PBS/1% BSA was incubated for 30 min at RT. After washing, 1 mg/mL *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) was added. Color development was quantified at 405 nm (reference 490 nm; Infinite M1000 microplate reader; Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

#### Complement-Mediated PAEC cytotoxicity

Complement-induced PAEC cytotoxicity was measured by calcein AM/ ethidium homodimer-1 (EthD-1) staining. A Live/Dead Kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) was used and protocols provided by the manufacturer

#### © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Bongoni et al. 797



**FIGURE 5.** Colocalization of MBL with IgM and complement in an ex vivo xenoperfusion model. Tissue samples from ex vivo xenoperfused pig limbs with heparinized, whole human blood for 1 hr were assessed for deposition of (A) MBL, (B) C1q, and (C) factor Bb. Biopsy samples of 12 hr perfusion were analyzed for IgM-mediated lectin pathway activation by using immunofluorescence staining. D–G, deposition of MBL (red), IgM (green), and codeposition (yellow). H–K, deposition of MBL (red), C3b/c (green), and codeposition (yellow). L–O, Deposition of MBL (red), C4b/c (green), and codeposition (yellow). P–S, deposition of MBL (red), C6 (green), and codeposition (yellow). D, H, L, and P, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole staining of nuclei. The  $R_p$  values represent Pearson's colocalization coefficient. Representative images of six independent experiments are shown. Scale bars, 100  $\mu$ m.

were adopted. Briefly, confluent WT and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC in a 96-well plate were exposed to 1:10 diluted NHS, C1q-depleted or MBL-deficient serum, for 120 min at 37°C. After washing with PBS, 100  $\mu$ L of 1  $\mu$ M calcein AM and 2  $\mu$ M EthD-1 was added to the cells and incubated in dark for 15 min. The fluorescence excitation and emissions of calcein AM and EthD-1 were acquired at 485/535 and 530/635 nm, respectively, using the Infinite M1000 microplate reader (Tecan).

#### **IF Staining**

Activation of the lectin pathway of complement was further investigated by immunofluorescence staining using confocal microscopy. Briefly, WT

and GalTKO/hCD46 PAEC grown to confluence on eight-well Lab-Tek chamber slides (Milian) were washed twice with PBS<sup>++</sup> (PBS containing 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and treated with 1:10 dilution NHS for 45 to 60 min at RT. Slides were washed thrice and fixed with parapicric acid for 15 min at RT. After washing and blocking with PBS/3% BSA for 30 min at RT, slides were incubated for 60 min with primary antibodies for the following antigens: IgM (FITC labeled; F5380; Sigma), MBL (15C5; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), MASP2 (sc-17905; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), C4b/c-FITC (Dako), C3b/c-FITC (Dako), and C6 (A307; Quidel) diluted in PBS/1% BSA.

#### 798 | www.transplantjournal.com

PBS/1% BSA were incubated for 60 min and the slides were mounted with glycergel (C0563; Dako). The stained slides were then analyzed using a Zeiss LSM5 confocal laser scanning microscope.

## Immunoabsorption of Human Serum on PAA-Bdi Sepharose

To investigate the importance of anti-Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal IgM for MBL binding to PAEC, immunoabsorption of NHS was carried out to eliminate anti-Gal antibodies from NHS. Conjugates of the B-disaccharide Gal $\alpha$ 1-3Gal (Bdi) and poly-N-hydroxyethylacrylamide (PAA-Bdi), covalently linked to Sepharose 6FF (PAA-Bdi Sepharose), were obtained from Dr. Nicolai Bovin (Moscow, Russia). Mini-spin columns were packed with 100 or 200 µL PAA-Bdi Sepharose and rinsed with PBS (10–15 min, 200 rpm, 0°C). NHS (450 µL) was absorbed over the columns. Thereafter, immunoabsorbed NHS aliquots were prepared and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until use.

#### **Role of IgM on MBL Binding to PAEC**

The influence of IgM on binding of MBL to PAEC was investigated by cell ELISA using immunoabsorbed NHS and Ig-depleted serum (SunnyLab, Kent, UK). Human polyclonal IgM (A50168H; Meridian Life Science, Cincinnati, OH) was used to replete immunoabsorbed NHS/Ig-depleted serum. Binding of purified MBL (HSR008; Statens Serum Institut) on PAEC in the presence of human polyclonal IgM was also tested.

#### Ex vivo Xenoperfusion of Pig Limbs with Whole, Anticoagulated Human Blood

Six forelimbs of WT pigs were used to perfuse with whole, heparinanticoagulated human blood (29, 30). Large white pigs were premedicated and anesthetized with ketamine, xylazine, midazolam, and atropine and mechanically ventilated ( $O_2$ /air 1:3, isoflurane 1–1.5 vol.%). Forelimbs were amputated by dissection of the shoulder girdle muscles using an electrocautery device (ICC 350; ERBE Elektromedizin, Tübingen, Germany). The neurovascular bundle in the axillar region was laid open and two veins and one artery of the amputated forelimb were cannulated using 10 French cannulas. All animal experiments were conducted in compliance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996) and Swiss national guidelines. The study was approved by the local animal experimentation committee of the Canton of Bern.

Five hundred milliliters of blood each were withdrawn from individual human donors into standard transfusion bags to which 10,000 IU heparin were added. The porcine forelimbs were attached to extracorporeal perfusion circuits as described previously (29). Xenogeneic perfusion of the porcine limbs was then performed with the whole, heparin-anticoagulated human blood. The perfusion parameters (arterial blood gas, response to nerve stimulation, etc.) were monitored throughout the experiment.

Skeletal muscle biopsies were collected before perfusion from the contralateral extremity as baseline samples. Different time-point biopsies were collected after 1 hr (n=1) and 12 hr (n=6) of perfusions. Samples were fixed in 2% buffered formaldehyde solution for 24 hr and then transferred into 18% sucrose for 15 hr. Then, the samples were embedded in Shandon M1 embedding matrix (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until sectioned.

#### IF Staining for IgM-Dependent Lectin Pathway Activation on Ex Vivo Xenoperfusion Samples

IF staining was performed on ex vivo xenoperfusion biopsy samples for the deposition of MBL and its colocalization with IgM, C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6. In brief, 20-µm-thick sections were cut, fixed on slide, and treated with TBS-Triton X-100 for 15 min. Deposition of MBL and its colocalization with complement proteins was assessed by using specific antibodies as mentioned above. Stained slides were observed using fluorescence microscopy (DMI 4000B; Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Nicolai Bovin and Dr. Elena Korchagina (Moscow, Russia) for the kind gift of PAA-Bdi Sepharose for immunoabsorption of anti-Gal antibodies. Expert technical support was provided by Dr. Daniel Mettler, Mrs. Olgica Beslac, and Mr. Daniel Zalokar (Experimental Surgery Laboratory, Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern).

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Yang YG, Sykes M. Xenotransplantation: current status and a perspective on the future. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2007; 7: 519.
- Ekser B, Ezzelarab M, Hara H, et al. Clinical xenotransplantation: the next medical revolution? *Lancet* 2012; 379: 672.
- Platt JL, Bach FH. The barrier to xenotransplantation. *Transplantation* 1991; 52: 937.
- Lawson JH, Platt JL. Molecular barriers to xenotransplantation. Transplantation 1996; 62: 303.
- Dalmasso AP, Vercellotti GM, Fischel RJ, et al. Mechanism of complement activation in the hyperacute rejection of porcine organs transplanted into primate recipients. *Am J Pathol* 1992; 140: 1157.
- Galili U. Interaction of the natural anti-Gal antibody with alphagalactosyl epitopes: a major obstacle for xenotransplantation in humans. *Immunol Today* 1993; 14: 480.
- Platt JL, Fischel RJ, Matas AJ, et al. Immunopathology of hyperacute xenograft rejection in a swine-to-primate model. *Transplantation* 1991; 52: 214.
- Walport MJ. Complement. First of two parts. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 1058.
- Roos A, Daha MR. Antibody-mediated activation of the classical complement pathway in xenograft rejection. *Transpl Immunol* 2002; 9: 257.
- Walpen AJ, Mohacsi P, Frey C, et al. Activation of complement pathways in xenotransplantation: an in vitro study. *Transpl Immunol* 2002; 9: 271.
- 11. Turner MW. Mannose-binding lectin: the pluripotent molecule of the innate immune system. *Immunol Today* 1996; 17: 532.
- Thiel S, Vorup-Jensen T, Stover CM, et al. A second serine protease associated with mannan-binding lectin that activates complement. *Nature* 1997; 386: 506.
- 13. Turner MW. The lectin pathway of complement activation. *Res Immunol* 1996; 147: 110.
- Vorup-Jensen T, Petersen SV, Hansen AG, et al. Distinct pathways of mannan-binding lectin (MBL)- and C1-complex autoactivation revealed by reconstitution of MBL with recombinant MBL-associated serine protease-2. J Immunol 2000; 165: 2093.
- Hajela K, Kojima M, Ambrus G, et al. The biological functions of MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs). *Immunobiology* 2002; 205: 467.
- Zhang M, Takahashi K, Alicot EM, et al. Activation of the lectin pathway by natural IgM in a model of ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Immunol 2006; 177: 4727.
- McMullen ME, Hart ML, Walsh MC, et al. Mannose-binding lectin binds IgM to activate the lectin complement pathway in vitro and in vivo. *Immunobiology* 2006; 211: 759.
- Busche MN, Pavlov V, Takahashi K, et al. Myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury is dependent on both IgM and mannose-binding lectin. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2009; 297: H1853.
- Nevens JR, Mallia AK, Wendt MW, et al. Affinity chromatographic purification of immunoglobulin M antibodies utilizing immobilized mannan binding protein. J Chromatogr 1992; 597: 247.
- Arnold JN, Wormald MR, Suter DM, et al. Human serum IgM glycosylation: identification of glycoforms that can bind to mannanbinding lectin. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 29080.
- Selander B, Mårtensson U, Weintraub A, et al. Mannan-binding lectin activates C3 and the alternative complement pathway without involvement of C2. J Clin Invest 2006; 116: 1425.
- 22. Roos A, Bouwman LH, van Gijlswijk-Janssen DJ, et al. Human IgA activates the complement system via the mannan-binding lectin pathway. *J Immunol* 2001; 167: 2861.
- Jordan JE, Montalto MC, Stahl GL. Inhibition of mannose-binding lectin reduces postischemic myocardial reperfusion injury. *Circulation* 2001; 104: 1413.
- 24. Walsh MC, Bourcier T, Takahashi K, et al. Mannose-binding lectin is a regulator of inflammation that accompanies myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J Immunol* 2005; 175: 541.

#### © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

\_

- Chapman A, Kornfeld R. Structure of the high mannose oligosaccharides of a human IgM myeloma protein. I. The major oligosaccharides of the two high mannose glycopeptides. *J Biol Chem* 1979; 254: 816.
- Chapman A, Kornfeld R. Structure of the high mannose oligosaccharides of a human IgM myeloma protein. II. The minor oligosaccharides of high mannose glycopeptide. J Biol Chem 1979; 254: 824.
- 27. Haraldsen G, Kvale D, Lien B, et al. Cytokine-regulated expression of E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and vascular

Bongoni et al. 799

cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) in human microvascular endothelial cells. *J Immunol* 1996; 156: 2558.

- 28. Platt JL, Turman MA, Noreen HJ, et al. An ELISA assay for xenoreactive natural antibodies. *Transplantation* 1990; 49: 1000.
- 29. Constantinescu MA, Knall E, Xu X, et al. Preservation of amputated extremities by extracorporeal blood perfusion; a feasibility study in a porcine model. *J Surg Res* 2011; 171: 291.
- Muller S, Constantinescu MA, Kiermeir DM, et al. Ischemia/reperfusion injury of porcine limbs after extracorporeal perfusion. J Surg Res 2013; 181: 170.
-

•

#### Paper II

## Complement dependent early immunological responses during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparin anti-coagulated human blood

Anjan K. Bongoni<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David Kiermeir<sup>3</sup>, Hansjörg Jenni<sup>4</sup>, Andrea Bähr<sup>5</sup>, David Ayares<sup>6</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>5</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>5</sup>, Jörg D. Seebach<sup>7</sup>, Esther Voegelin<sup>3</sup>, Mihai A. Constantinescu<sup>3</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, and <sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Institute of Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland.

#### Status: Submitted in Xenotransplantation

**Aim:** Using a new founder line, the potential of combined overexpression of human CD46 and HLA-E to prevent hyperacute and acute vascular xenograft rejection was tested in an *ex vivo* pig-to-human xenoperfusion model.

**Method:** Alpha-Gal heterozygous, HLA-E/hCD46 double transgenic as well as wildtype pig forelimbs were *ex vivo* perfused with whole, heparinized human blood and autologous blood, respectively.



Figure: (A) Transgenic porcine EC expressing human CD46 and HLA-E. (B) Analysis of transgenic pig limb tissue by immunofluorescence staining showed expression of both transgenes. In transgenic limbs, reduced complement (C) C3b/c and (D) C5b-9 deposition was observed as compared to wild-type limbs, in both xenogenic (heparinized human blood) and autologous (heparinized pig blood) ex vivo perfusions. pEC = porcine endothelial cell; tg = transgenic; wt = wild-type; auto = autologous; xeno = xenoperfusion.

**Conclusion:** Transgenic hCD46/HLA-E expression clearly reduced humoral xenoresponses since the terminal pathway of complement, endothelial cell activation, and inflammatory cytokine production as well as tissue apoptosis was down-regulated. Overall, this model represents a useful tool to study early immunological responses during pig-to-human vascularized xenotransplantation.

-

•

# Complement dependent early immunological responses during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparin anti-coagulated human blood

Anjan K. Bongoni<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David Kiermeir<sup>3</sup>, Hansjörg Jenni<sup>4</sup>, Andrea Bähr<sup>5</sup>, David Ayares<sup>6</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>5</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>5</sup>, Esther Voegelin<sup>3</sup>, Mihai A. Constantinescu<sup>3</sup>, Jörg D. Seebach<sup>7</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, and <sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Institute of Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland.

**Keywords:** pig-to-human xenotransplantation, transgenic pig, hCD46, HLA-E, complement, apoptosis, and endothelial cells

<sup>\*</sup>Address for Correspondence

Robert Rieben, PhD University of Bern, Department of Clinical Research Murtenstrasse 50, P.O. Box 44 CH-3010 Bern, Switzerland Tel.: +41 31 632 9669 Fax: +41 31 632 7594 E-mail Address: <u>robert.rieben@dkf.unibe.ch</u>

#### Author's contributions

-

A.K.B. participated in the research design, writing of the article, performance of the research, and data analysis.

D.K. and H.J. participated in performing the animal experiments and the overall design of the study.

A.B. and N.K. participated in performing the animal experiments, the overall design of the study and participated in production of hCD46/HLA-E pigs.

D.A. provided primary cells from hCD46 transgenic pigs for nuclear transfer experiments.

E.W. participated in production of hCD46/HLA-E pigs.

E.V. participated in the concept and design of the study and carried part of the responsibility.

M.A.C. participated in performing the animal experiments, in the concept and design of the study and carried part of the responsibility.

J.D.S. provided scientific support and reagents and participated in the critical revision of the article.

R.R. participated in the concept and design of the study, performance of experiments, analyzing the data, writing the manuscript, and carried the main responsibility for the study.

#### Abstract

**Background:** Besides  $\alpha$ 1,3 galactosyltransferase gene (GGTA1) knockout several transgene combinations to prevent pig-to-human xenograft rejection are currently being investigated. In this study, the potential of combined overexpression of human CD46 and HLA-E to prevent complement- and NK-cell mediated xenograft rejection was tested in an ex vivo pig-to-human xenoperfusion model.

**Methods:** Alpha-Gal heterozygous, hCD46/HLA-E -double transgenic as well as wild-type pig forelimbs were ex vivo perfused with whole, heparinized human and autologous pig blood, respectively. Blood samples were analyzed for production of porcine and/or human inflammatory cytokines. Biopsy samples were examined for deposition of human and porcine C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6 as well as CD62E and CD106 expression. Finally, apoptosis was measured in the porcine muscle tissue using TUNEL assays.

**Results:** No hyperacute rejection was seen in this model. Extremity perfusions lasted for up to 12 h without increase of vascular resistance and were terminated due to continuous small blood losses. Plasma levels of porcine cytokines IL1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$  and MCP-1 as well as soluble C5b-9 were lower in blood perfused through transgenic as compared to wild-type limbs. Human C3b/c, C4b/c, and C6 as well as CD62E and CD106 were deposited in tissue of wild-type limbs, but no C6 deposition and significantly lower levels of CD62E and CD106 expression were detected in transgenic limbs perfused with human blood. Finally, transgenic porcine tissue was protected from xenoperfusion-induced apoptosis.

**Conclusion:** Transgenic hCD46/HLA-E expression clearly reduced humoral xenoresponses since all, the terminal pathway of complement activation, endothelial cell activation and muscle apoptosis, and inflammatory cytokine production were all down-regulated. Overall, this model represents a useful tool to study early immunological responses during pig-to-human vascularized xenotransplantation in the absence of hyperacute rejection.

#### Background

With advances in the development of genetic modifications strategies, transgenic pigs are currently the preferred species for future organ xenotransplantation. The generation of alpha(1,3)-galactosyltransferase gene (GGTA1) knockout (GalTKO) pigs has largely overcome the barrier of hyperacute rejection and is considered to be the basis for further genetic modifications (1-3). In addition to GaITKO, overexpression of human complement regulatory proteins (hCRPs) CD55 (decay accelerating factor [DAF]) (4), CD46 (membrane cofactor protein [MCP]) (5-7), and/or CD59 (8) are necessary to block activation of the complement system by non-anti-Gal antibodies (9, 10). While CD59 limits the final terminal polymerization of the membrane-attack complex at the C8 to C9 stage, it has no regulatory function on C3 and C5. Therefore, CD55 and CD46 which also prevent the production of the proinflammatory chemotactic peptides C3a and C5a may be more suitable to prevent complement activation in the setting of xenotransplantation (reviewed in Ref. (11)). Although CD55 accelerates the decay of assembled C3bBb and C4b2a, but cannot cleave C4b and C3b, once deposited to the surface of pig cells (12). Moreover, CD55 is more effective in preventing the classical pathway of complement activation, whereas CD46 is effective both the classical and alternative pathways (7, 13, 14). In conclusion, CD46 may be preferred over CD55 and CD59 unless a combination of CRPs is used to achieve an even more complete complement inhibition (7, 15).

Rejection mechanisms subsequent to hyperacute rejection, such as acute vascular rejection and cellular rejection mediated by various leukocyte subsets, including natural killer (NK) cells, play a crucial role in xenograft survival (16). However, neither GaITKO nor overexpression of hCRPs protects the xenograft against the latter (17, 18). Human NK cells are able to adhere to porcine endothelial cells in vitro, infiltrate pig organs perfused with human blood ex vivo and mediate lysis of porcine cells directly or via antibody-dependent cell-mediated mechanisms (18-21). The functionality of NK cells is regulated by a balance between inhibitory and activating receptors (22). In particular, inhibitory NK receptors recognize classical and non-classical MHC class I molecules and thereby prevent autoreactivity (23). A majority of NK cells expresses the inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A that specifically binds to human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-E, a non-classical MHC molecule (24). The mechanism of human anti-pig xenogeneic NK cytotoxicity is based on the lack of recognition of porcine MHC molecules by human inhibitory NK receptors (25, 26).

Consequently, stable surface expression of HLA-E on porcine cells has been shown to provide partial protection against NK cytotoxicity (27-29).

Taken together, the generation of double transgenic pigs expressing hCRPs and HLA-E on the cell surface might help to overcome human anti-pig xenograft rejection. In the present study, a new line of double transgenic pigs overexpressing hCD46 and HLA-E was achieved by crossing hCD46 transgenic pig (7) provided by Revivicor, Inc., with HLA-E/beta2-microglobulin (in short: HLA-E) transgenic pig (28). To study the effect of hCD46 and HLA-E expression on complement-mediated xenograft rejection, forelimbs of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E-double transgenic pigs were ex vivo perfused with whole, heparinized human blood or autologous pig blood.

#### Materials and methods

#### Ex vivo perfusion model

Six double transgenic (hCD46/HLA-E; transgenic) and 6 wild-type forelimbs of large white pigs  $(39.3 \pm 4.1 \text{ kg})$  were used to perform ex vivo xenoperfusions with heparinized whole human blood. In addition, 4 transgenic and 4 wild-type pig forelimbs were used for perfusion with autologous pig blood as controls. Animal experiments in this study were performed according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996) and Swiss National Guidelines. Pigs were premedicated with ketamine (20 mg/kg), midazolam (1 mg/kg), and atropine (0.05 mg/kg), before intubation, induction of anesthesia by isoflurane (1-1.5 vol. %) and mechanical ventilation with a Draeger respirator (O<sub>2</sub>/air 1:3). Using an electrocautery device (ERBE ICC 350, ERBE Electromedizin), forelimbs were amputated by dissection of the girdle muscles. The neurovascular bundle in the axilla was laid open and 10 French cannulas inserted into the two veins and one artery. Five hundred ml whole human blood and 500 ml autologous pig blood, respectively, were withdrawn into standard transfusion bags containing 10,000 IU of heparin (Liquemin, Drossapharm). The amputated porcine forelimbs were connected to extracorporeal circuits (ECC) as described previously (30, 31). Hydroxyethyl starch perfusion was used for the first 5 min in order to wash out porcine blood containing cells and metabolic products accumulated in the extremity during the amputation procedure. Perfusions were performed for 12 hrs. The flow rate was maintained at 100-150 ml/min (MEDOS DataStream blood pump, model DP2; Medos Medizintechnik AG). Temperature was kept at 32°C (Heater-Cooler Unit HCU30; Maguet GmbH & Co KG), and O<sub>2</sub> at 21% by membrane oxygenator (MEDOS Hilite 800 LT; Medos Medizintechnik AG). The blood lost during perfusion from the open wound surface was collected into a sterile reservoir bag and drained back into the perfusion system. Throughout the experiment, perfusion parameters, including arterial blood gas analysis and perfusion pressure, were monitored. Potassium and pH levels were controlled to physiological levels by adding insulin and/or 40% glucose solution.

#### Tissue and blood sampling

Biopsies of skeletal muscle as well as serum and EDTA-plasma samples were taken at baseline and 12 h (end) of perfusion. Snap-frozen tissue samples were used for analysis by immunofluorescence and tissue fixed in 4% buffered formaldehyde was used for paraffin-embedding and standard histological evaluation. Blood samples

were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 7 min at 4°C, aliquoted and stored at -80°C for further analysis.

#### Histopathology

Formaldehyde fixed and paraffin embedded muscle biopsies of were transversally cut to 3 µm thick sections and stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E). Every sample was evaluated in a blinded manner for the following histological changes: perivascular edema, erythrocyte extravasation, leukocyte recruitment, intraluminal thrombi, and loss of endothelial layer in medium-sized vessels as indicators of endothelial dysfunction and vascular leakage. Hypereosinophilia and nuclear changes (such as pyknosis, karyorrhexis, or karyolysis as signs of necrosis and apoptosis) were also quantified. In addition, tissue-specific alterations were subsumed as loss of normal histologic architecture of the parenchyma. Disrupted muscle fibers, disturbed or lost cross striations and decomposed endomysium and epimysium were distinguished from hypothermia- and fixative-induced fiber shortening and thus gap formation as indicator of muscle edema. Fragmentation of the lamina elastica interna or externa and morphology of the vasa vasorum was assessed. Every criterion observed on H&E samples was scored from 0 to 3 (0 = absence, 1 = scarce, 2 = intermediate, and 3 = maximal presence) and summed up for a histologic injury severity score (HISS, min. = 0, max. = 21) as reported previously (31).

#### Immunofluorescence

Snap-frozen biopsy samples were cut into 5 µm thick sections, air dried for 30-60 min and either processed immediately or stored at -80°C until further analysis. Following fixation with acetone and hydration, the sectioned were stained using either one step direct or two-step indirect immunofluorescence techniques. The following antibodies were used: goat-anti human C3b/c-FITC (Dako), goat anti-human C4b/c-FITC (Dako), goat anti-human C6 (Quidel) / mouse anti-human C5b-9 (Diatec), mouse anti-human CD62E (LifeSpan Biosciences), mouse anti-pig VCAM-1 (CD106), goat anti-human VE-cadherin (Santa Cruz Biotechnologies), and rabbit anti-human HSPG (Abcam). Cross-reactivity with respective porcine antigen was verified. Secondary antibodies were goat anti-mouse IgG1 / IgG (Alexa488, -546 or -633), donkey antigoat IgG Alexa488, rabbit anti-sheep IgG Alexa488 (Molecular Probes), and sheep anti-rabbit IgG-Cy3 (Sigma). Nuclear staining was done by using 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI, Boehringer). The slides were analyzed using a fluorescence microscope (DMI4000B, Leica). Quantification of fluorescence intensity was performed using Image J software, version 10.2 (<u>http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/</u>), on unmanipulated TIFF images. All pictures were taken under the same conditions to allow for correct quantification and comparison of fluorescence intensities.

#### Inflammatory markers

Human- or porcine-specific cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ ), porcine C5a and species unspecific (human/porcine) soluble C5b-9 and MCP-1 were measured by multiplex xMAP technology (Luminex) using custom-made (32) or commercially available (Bio-Rad) reagents (33). Briefly, microbeads (Luminex) labeled with different fluorochrome codes were coupled with capture antibodies specific for the respective analyte using Bio-Plex amine coupling kit (Bio-Rad). Coupled beads were then incubated with samples, followed by biotinylated detection antibodies and Streptavidin-R-PE (Qiagen). Measurement and data analysis were performed with a Bio-Plex 100 array reader and the Bio-Plex Manager software version 6.1.

Human C5a (DuoSet kit, R&D), human C3a (reagents from Abcam) and porcine C3a (reagents from MBM ScienceBridge) were measured in EDTA plasma using ELISA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Analysis of species-specificity of these reagents using purified human and porcine antigens, respectively, revealed no cross-reactivity.

#### Assessment of apoptosis by TUNEL assay

Apoptosis was analyzed on 5 µm thick cryosections in high-power fields by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated (dUTP) nick end-labeling (TUNEL) according to the manufacturer's instructions (In Situ Cell Death Kit; Roche Diagnostics). As a positive control, slides were incubated with DNAse1 (Sigma) to induce DNA strand breaks. For every TUNEL stained section, a subsequent section was stained with DAPI to visualize total number of nuclei. Apoptosis was expressed by normalizing the results to the total number of nuclei per high-power field. Four high power fields per experiment and section were analyzed.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. They were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software). Significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction or Student's t-test (\*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.001).

#### Expression of hCD46 and HLA-E in transgenic pigs

Freshly frozen forelimb muscle tissue biopsies, obtained from transgenic and wildtype pigs, respectively, were stained for hCD46 and HLA-E as the protective effects of these proteins in pig-to-human xenotransplantation depend on their expression levels. Immunofluorescence staining using the specific monoclonal antibodies showed no staining of hCD46 and HLA-E on wild-type tissue whereas transgenic tissue showed strong staining, mainly on the vascular endothelium (Figure 1).

#### Histopathological evaluation

Histological assessment of H&E stained tissue sections revealed intermediate damage of muscle and blood vessels in both xeno- and autologous perfusions of wild-type pig limbs. Perivascular and muscular tissue edema, erythrocyte extravasation, leukocyte infiltration as well as disrupted muscle fibers and lost cross striations were the most prominent findings. Histological damage scores for xenogeneic and autologous perfusions of transgenic limbs were apparently lower than the damage seen in wild-type limbs, but the difference between groups (p>0.2711 to p>0.9999, data not shown) did not reach statistical significance (Figure 2).

#### **Regulation of complement activation in transgenic limbs**

Deposition of the complement proteins, C3, C4 and C6 on tissue samples was investigated by immunofluorescence (IF) staining. Human C3b/c, C4b/c and C6 deposition was significantly higher in wild-type xenoperfusion samples than in all other perfusions. Quantitative analysis of IF images using Image-J software revealed a significant reduction (p<0.0001) of C3b/c, C4b/c and C6 deposition on both transgenic xenoperfusion and transgenic autologous perfusion samples as compared to wild-type xenoperfusion samples. In wild-type autologous perfusion was focal and may be due to minor mechanical or ischemic damage (Figure 3). In line with the reduced levels of complement deposition in the histological analysis, the plasma levels of the anaphylatoxins human C3a and human C5a as well as soluble C5b-9 were significantly reduced in xenoperfusions of transgenic limbs (p<0.05 to p<0.0001) as compared to wild-type limbs (Figure 4).

#### Endothelial cell integrity and activation

We next assessed the protective effects of transgenic hCD46/HLA-E on the endothelium, focusing on cell integrity (by staining for heparan sulfate proteoglycan [HSPG] and VE-cadherin) and activation (staining for CD62E [E-selectin] and CD106 [VCAM-1]). Expression of the endothelial cell integrity markers HSPG and VE-cadherin was essentially maintained in all perfusion samples with a circumferentially staining pattern of the cells, except in wild-type xenoperfusion limbs where a reduced staining for HSPG was found (Figure 5). Endothelial activation markers CD62E and CD106 were significantly (p<0.0001) upregulated as compared to baseline in wild-type xenoperfusion samples and correlated well with complement deposition ( $r^2$  = 0.89 to 0.98, data not shown). In contrast, expression of CD62E and CD106 were significantly (p<0.0001) reduced in transgenic xenoperfusion samples as compared with wild-type perfusions (Figure 6). Taken together these data indicated that inhibition of complement-mediated endothelial damage by transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E, respectively, preserved endothelial integrity and reduced endothelial activation in transgenic xenoperfused samples.

#### Cytokine patterns in plasma

Concentrations of plasma cytokines at baseline were not different between groups. In wild-type xenoperfusions, porcine IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10 as well as human/porcine MCP-1 levels were all significantly increased over baseline levels after 12 h of perfusion (p<0.05 to p<0.0001), but this was not the case for porcine TNF- $\alpha$  (p=0.247) (Figure 7A-F). Comparison of wild-type vs. transgenic xenoperfusion revealed increased porcine IL-1 $\beta$  (p<0.0001) and IL-8 (p=0.0190) levels in wild-type after 12 h perfusion, but porcine IL-6 (p=0.056) were not significantly elevated. Similarly, the levels of porcine IL-10 (p=0.754), porcine TNF- $\alpha$ (p>0.999) and human/porcine MCP-1 (p>0.999) were not significantly different between wild-type and transgenic xenoperfusions. In addition, human cytokines in plasma samples of wild-type and transgenic xenoperfusions were measured using human-specific Bio-Plex kits. Human IL-8 levels were significantly (p=0.046) higher than baseline after wild-type xenoperfusions, but the difference to transgenic xenoperfusions was not significant. Levels of human IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- $\alpha$ were not significantly elevated with respect to baseline and there was no significant difference between wild-type and xenoperfusions either.

Porcine cytokines measured in plasma samples of autologous perfusion of wild-type and transgenic limbs were used as control. Porcine IL-6 (p=0.030 and p=0.052), TNF- $\alpha$  (p=0.020 and p=0.002) and MCP-1 (p<0.0001 for both) were significantly higher at 12 h of wild-type and transgenic limb perfusions, respectively, as compared to respective baseline values. In contrast, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, and IL-10 were not elevated as compared to baseline (p>0.9999). In addition, no significant differences (p>0.9999) of porcine cytokine levels was observed between wild-type and transgenic autologous perfusions.

#### **TUNEL** staining

To analyze apoptotic changes on muscle biopsies sections TUNEL-stainings were performed for the different experimental groups and viewed at high-power magnification. The proportion of apoptosis expressed as percentage of TUNEL positive nuclei per total nuclei was significantly greater in samples from wild-type xenoperfused limbs (70.5  $\pm$  11.0%, p<0.0001) compared with transgenic xenoperfusions (45.3  $\pm$  8.7%), wild-type autologous perfusions (29.8  $\pm$  15.0%), and transgenic autologous perfusions (19.6  $\pm$  8.7%) (Figure 8).

#### Discussion

Ex vivo organ xenoperfusion is accepted as a useful tool to study and evaluate strategies to prevent rejection in pig-to-human xenotransplantation (34, 35). We here describe the functional potential of combined overexpression of hCD46 and HLA-E to prevent xenograft rejection in a novel ex vivo xenoperfusion model using extracorporeal perfusion of amputated limbs (30). We previously showed that prolonged autologous limb perfusion of up to 12 h using an extracorporeal circuit does not cause any significant tissue damage (31). Here we used the same system to xenoperfuse pig forelimbs with human, heparin anticoagulated whole blood. We studied the effect of transgenic expression of hCD46/HLA-E on complement activation, endothelial activation and graft damage. Surprisingly, and in contrast to organ xenoperfusion settings, no hyperacute rejection was seen in this model and perfusions lasted for at least 12 h, irrespective of the presence of transgenes. The absence of hyperacute rejection – which cannot be fully explained based on the available data – makes this model unique and suitable to study delayed immunological responses, which normally require in vivo experiments.

Histological analysis of tissue samples showed no significant damage in both wildtype autologous and wild-type xenoperfusions, but a - yet insignificant - trend towards a higher histological damage in wild-type xenoperfusions as compared to transgenic xenoperfusions was observed. These data are thus in line with the observation that complement activation may be critically influence xenograft rejection (36-38). Analysis of wild-type xenoperfusion by immunofluorescence staining showed significantly higher complement C3b/c, C4b/c and C6 deposition than detected in samples of transgenic xenoperfusions. Transgenic expression of hCD46/HLA-E significantly reduced terminal complement pathway formation, as indicated by reduced C3b/c, C4b/c and C6 deposition in transgenic xenoperfusion samples as compared with wild-type. Plasma concentrations of anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a were also higher in wild-type than in transgenic xenoperfusion samples. It was initially believed that complement regulatory proteins are species specific, but more recent work suggests that quantity of expression is more important in protecting the endothelium than species specificity (39). Indeed our data show a trend, however not statistically significant, to reduced porcine complement deposition in autologous perfusions of transgenic as compared to wild-typet tissue. Overall, our results suggest that overexpression of hCD46/HLA-E significantly reduced complement deposition and preserved endothelial integrity in xenoperfused limbs.

Complement deposition can leads to shedding of heparan sulfate proteoglycans (40), a predominant component of the glycocalyx, which may be pivotal for endothelial dysfunction by turning the healthy anti-inflammatory and anticoagulant endothelial glycocalyx into a pro-inflammatory and procoagulant endothelial surface (41, 42). Indeed, HSPG expression was reduced following wild-type but to a lower degree in transgenic xenoperfusions. In addition, significant differences in xenoperfusioninduced endothelial activation were observed between wild-type and transgenic limbs. The graft endothelial damage leads to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which in turn causes further activation of the endothelium. Adhesion molecules, including CD62E and VCAM-1, are among the first factors expressed by activated endothelium (43). Furthermore, endothelial activation also causes upregulation of vWF, tissue factor and reduced CD39 expression, and proceeds to cell loss by apoptosis and necrosis (44). Here, we showed that the overexpression of hCD46/HLA-E significantly reduced complement induced endothelial CD62E and VCAM-1 expression. Graft endothelial damage leads to the release of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 which in turn causes further activation of the endothelium. The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines has also been associated with xenograft rejection mechanisms (33). In general, we found significantly increased porcine cytokine levels during wild-type xenoperfusion as compared to baseline levels, but this was not the case in transgenic xenoperfusions. No significant difference in the levels of porcine cytokines was observed between wild-type and transgenic xenoperfusion samples (12 h), with the exception of  $IL-1\beta$ . The release of porcine cytokines may be largely dependent on complement mediated porcine limb endothelium activation, in contrast to the human response, which was mediated by activated human polymorphonuclear cells, NK cells and monocytes in these perfusion settings (33).

Finally, transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E clearly protected against apoptosis as well as histological damage as shown in muscle biopsies. Myocyte death in xenografts occurs via apoptotic pathway and directly correlates with the severity of graft rejection and can be induced by numerous stimuli, such as cytotoxic T lymphocytes, NK cells, xenogeneic serum and inflammatory cytokines like TNF- $\alpha$ (45, 46). Our study did not evaluate defined causes for apoptosis induction in limb tissue, but we show that apoptosis does occur in wild-type xenoperfusions and is associated with increased complement deposition and endothelial activation in wildtype xenoperfused limbs. In addition, the data on apoptosis correlate well with the

observed histological features in wild-type xenoperfusions, including disrupted muscle fibers and loss of cross striations.

In conclusion, this study using ex vivo xenoperfusion of amputated pig limbs with human blood, provides evidence for a positive effect of the combined overexpression of hCD46 and HLA-E on early rejection mechanisms. Protection against xenograft tissue damage and apoptosis was determined in particular with respect to complement-mediated effects, vascular endothelial cell activation, and cytokine release.

.

#### Acknowledgments

.

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (32003B\_135272, 32003B\_138434 and 320030-138376), the Wilsdorf Foundation, the MIC center of the University of Bern, and the German Research Foundation (Transregio CRC 127). We would like to thank Dr. Daniel Mettler, Mrs. Olgica Beslac and Mr. Daniel Zalokar from the Experimental Surgery Unit, Departement of Clinical Research, University of Bern, as well as Julie Denoyelle, Yvonne Roschi, and Sanja Stojanovic, DCR, University of Bern, for expert technical support.

#### References

- 1. KUWAKI K, TSENG YL, DOR FJ, SHIMIZU A, HOUSER SL, SANDERSON TM, et al. Heart transplantation in baboons using α 1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs as donors: initial experience. Nat Med. 2005: 11: 29-31.
- 2. YAMADA K, YAZAWA K, SHIMIZU A, IWANAGA T, HISASHI Y, NUHN M, et al. Marked prolongation of porcine renal xenograft survival in baboons through the use of alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout donors and the cotransplantation of vascularized thymic tissue. Nat Med. 2005: 11: 32-34.
- 3. EKSER B, EZZELARAB M, HARA H, VAN DER WINDT DJ, WIJKSTROM M, BOTTINO R, et al. Clinical xenotransplantation: the next medical revolution? Lancet. 2012: 379: 672-683.
- 4. DALMASSO AP, VERCELLOTTI GM, PLATT JL, BACH FH. Inhibition of complement-mediated endothelial cell cytotoxicity by decay-accelerating factor. Potential for prevention of xenograft hyperacute rejection. Transplantation. 1991: 52: 530-533.
- 5. COZZI E, WHITE DJ. The generation of transgenic pigs as potential organ donors for humans. Nat Med. 1995: 1: 964-966.
- 6. DIAMOND LE, QUINN CM, MARTIN MJ, LAWSON J, PLATT JL, LOGAN JS. A human CD46 transgenic pig model system for the study of discordant xenotransplantation. Transplantation. 2001: 71: 132-142.
- LOVELAND BE, MILLAND J, KYRIAKOU P, THORLEY BR, CHRISTIANSEN D, LANTERI MB, et al. Characterization of a CD46 transgenic pig and protection of transgenic kidneys against hyperacute rejection in nonimmunosuppressed baboons. Xenotransplantation. 2004: 11: 171-183.
- 8. BYRNE GW, MCCURRY KR, MARTIN MJ, MCCLELLAN SM, PLATT JL, LOGAN JS. Transgenic pigs expressing human CD59 and decay-accelerating factor produce an intrinsic barrier to complement-mediated damage. Transplantation. 1997: 63: 149-155.
- 9. MIYAGAWA S, YAMAMOTO A, MATSUNAMI K, WANG D, TAKAMA Y, UENO T, et al. Complement regulation in the GaIT KO era. Xenotransplantation. 2010: 17: 11-25.
- COOPER DK, DORLING A, PIERSON RN, 3RD, REES M, SEEBACH J, YAZER M, et al. Alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs for xenotransplantation: where do we go from here? Transplantation. 2007: 84: 1-7.
- 11. KIM DD, SONG WC. Membrane complement regulatory proteins. Clin Immunol. 2006: 118: 127-136.
- 12. KINOSHITA T, MEDOF ME, NUSSENZWEIG V. Endogenous association of decay-accelerating factor (DAF) with C4b and C3b on cell membranes. J Immunol. 1986: 136: 3390-3395.
- LOVELAND BE, JOHNSTONE RW, RUSSELL SM, THORLEY BR, MCKENZIE IF. Different membrane cofactor protein (CD46) isoforms protect transfected cells against antibody and complement mediated lysis. Transpl Immunol. 1993: 1: 101-108.
- 14. CHRISTIANSEN D, MILLAND J, THORLEY BR, MCKENZIE IF, LOVELAND BE. A functional analysis of recombinant soluble CD46 in vivo and a comparison with recombinant soluble forms of CD55 and CD35 in vitro. Eur J Immunol. 1996: 26: 578-585.
- 15. BRODBECK WG, MOLD C, ATKINSON JP, MEDOF ME. Cooperation between decay-accelerating factor and membrane cofactor protein in protecting cells from autologous complement attack. J Immunol. 2000: 165: 3999-4006.

- 16. CASCALHO M, PLATT JL. The immunological barrier to xenotransplantation. Immunity. 2001: 14: 437-446.
- 17. BAUMANN BC, FORTE P, HAWLEY RJ, RIEBEN R, SCHNEIDER MK, SEEBACH JD. Lack of galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose expression on porcine endothelial cells prevents complement-induced lysis but not direct xenogeneic NK cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2004: 172: 6460-6467.
- RIEBEN R, SEEBACH JD. Xenograft rejection: IgG1, complement and NK cells team up to activate and destroy the endothelium. Trends Immunol. 2005: 26: 2-5.
- 19. INVERARDI L, PARDI R. Early events in cell-mediated recognition of vascularized xenografts: cooperative interactions between selected lymphocyte subsets and natural antibodies. Immunol Rev. 1994: 141: 71-93.
- 20. KHALFOUN B, BARRAT D, WATIER H, MACHET MC, ARBEILLE-BRASSART B, RIESS JG, et al. Development of an ex vivo model of pig kidney perfused with human lymphocytes. Analysis of xenogeneic cellular reactions. Surgery. 2000: 128: 447-457.
- 21. SCHNEIDER MK, SEEBACH JD. Current cellular innate immune hurdles in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2008: 13: 171-177.
- 22. BIASSONI R, CANTONI C, MARRAS D, GIRON-MICHEL J, FALCO M, MORETTA L, et al. Human natural killer cell receptors: insights into their molecular function and structure. J Cell Mol Med. 2003: 7: 376-387.
- 23. VIVIER E, TOMASELLO E, BARATIN M, WALZER T, UGOLINI S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008: 9: 503-510.
- 24. LEE N, LLANO M, CARRETERO M, ISHITANI A, NAVARRO F, LOPEZ-BOTET M, et al. HLA-E is a major ligand for the natural killer inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998: 95: 5199-5204.
- 25. SULLIVAN JA, OETTINGER HF, SACHS DH, EDGE AS. Analysis of polymorphism in porcine MHC class I genes: alterations in signals recognized by human cytotoxic lymphocytes. J Immunol. 1997: 159: 2318-2326.
- 26. SEEBACH JD, COMRACK C, GERMANA S, LEGUERN C, SACHS DH, DERSIMONIAN H. HLA-Cw3 expression on porcine endothelial cells protects against xenogeneic cytotoxicity mediated by a subset of human NK cells. J Immunol. 1997: 159: 3655-3661.
- SASAKI H, XU XC, MOHANAKUMAR T. HLA-E and HLA-G expression on porcine endothelial cells inhibit xenoreactive human NK cells through CD94/NKG2-dependent and -independent pathways. J Immunol. 1999: 163: 6301-6305.
- 28. WEISS EH, LILIENFELD BG, MULLER S, MULLER E, HERBACH N, KESSLER B, et al. HLA-E/human beta2-microglobulin transgenic pigs: protection against xenogeneic human anti-pig natural killer cell cytotoxicity. Transplantation. 2009: 87: 35-43.
- 29. FORTE P, BAUMANN BC, WEISS EH, SEEBACH JD. HLA-E expression on porcine cells: protection from human NK cytotoxicity depends on peptide loading. Am J Transplant. 2005: 5: 2085-2093.
- 30. CONSTANTINESCU MA, KNALL E, XU X, KIERMEIR DM, JENNI H, GYGAX E, et al. Preservation of amputated extremities by extracorporeal blood perfusion; a feasibility study in a porcine model. J Surg Res. 2011: 171: 291-299.
- 31. MULLER S, CONSTANTINESCU MA, KIERMEIR DM, GAJANAYAKE T, BONGONI AK, VOLLBACH FH, et al. Ischemia/reperfusion injury of porcine limbs after extracorporeal perfusion. J Surg Res. 2013: 181: 170-182.

- 32. BONGONI AK, LANZ J, RIEBEN R, BANZ Y. Development of a bead-based multiplex assay for the simultaneous detection of porcine inflammation markers using xMAP technology. Cytometry A. 2013: 83: 636-647.
- SAETHRE M, SCHNEIDER MK, LAMBRIS JD, MAGOTTI P, HARALDSEN G, SEEBACH JD, et al. Cytokine secretion depends on Galalpha(1,3)Gal expression in a pig-to-human whole blood model. J Immunol. 2008: 180: 6346-6353.
- 34. SUCKFULL MM, PIESKE O, MUDSAM M, BABIC R, HAMMER C. The contribution of endothelial cells to hyperacute rejection in xenogeneic perfused working hearts. Transplantation. 1994: 57: 262-267.
- 35. GRINYO JM, CRUZADO JM, TORRAS J. Hyperacute rejection models: ex vivo xenoperfusion systems. Transplant Proc. 1999: 31: 970-971.
- MORIGI M, ZOJA C, COLLEONI S, ANGIOLETTI S, IMBERTI B, DONADELLI R, et al. Xenogeneic serum promotes leukocyte-endothelium interaction under flow through two temporally distinct pathways: role of complement and nuclear factor-kappaB. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1999: 10: 2197-2207.
- 37. SAADI S, HOLZKNECHT RA, PATTE CP, PLATT JL. Endothelial cell activation by pore-forming structures: pivotal role for interleukin-1alpha. Circulation. 2000: 101: 1867-1873.
- 38. PLATT JL, FISCHEL RJ, MATAS AJ, REIF SA, BOLMAN RM, FH. B. Immunopathology of hyperacute xenograft rejection in a swine-to-primate model. Transplantation. 1991: 52(2):: 214-220.
- 39. MORGAN BP, BERG CW, HARRIS CL. "Homologous restriction" in complement lysis: roles of membrane complement regulators. Xenotransplantation. 2005: 12: 258-265.
- 40. IHRCKE NS, PLATT JL. Shedding of heparan sulfate proteoglycan by stimulated endothelial cells: evidence for proteolysis of cell-surface molecules. J Cell Physiol. 1996: 168: 625-637.
- 41. REITSMA S, SLAAF DW, VINK H, VAN ZANDVOORT MA, OUDE EGBRINK MG. The endothelial glycocalyx: composition, functions, and visualization. Pflugers Arch. 2007: 454: 345-359.
- 42. RUBIO-GAYOSSO I, PLATTS SH, DULING BR. Reactive oxygen species mediate modification of glycocalyx during ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006: 290: H2247-2256.
- 43. PETERSEN B, RAMACKERS W, LUCAS-HAHN A, LEMME E, HASSEL P, QUEISSER AL, et al. Transgenic expression of human heme oxygenase-1 in pigs confers resistance against xenograft rejection during ex vivo perfusion of porcine kidneys. Xenotransplantation. 2011: 18: 355-368.
- 44. SHIMIZU A, HISASHI Y, KUWAKI K, TSENG YL, DOR FJ, HOUSER SL, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy associated with humoral rejection of cardiac xenografts from alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs in baboons. Am J Pathol. 2008: 172: 1471-1481.
- 45. HENKART PA, WILLIAMS MS, ZACHARCHUK CM, SARIN A. Do CTL kill target cells by inducing apoptosis? Seminars in immunology. 1997: 9: 135-144.
- 46. WEAVER JG, MCGREGOR CG, TAZELAAR HD, BADLEY AD. Rejection severity directly correlates with myocyte apoptosis in pig-to-baboon cardiac xenotransplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2005: 24: 841-847.

#### **Figure legends**

**Figure 1:** Expression of transgenic hCD46 and HLA-E proteins on muscle tissue samples from hCD46/HLA-E-double transgenic pigs. Freshly frozen tissue sections were stained with anti-CD46 (M177) and anti-HLA-E (3D12). Immunostaining revealed hCD46 and HLA-E expression, mainly on the vascular endothelium (indicated by asterisk) on samples stemming from transgenic pigs, but not in wild-type pig tissue. Scale bar: 50 µm.

**Figure 2:** Histologic evaluation of muscle tissue from ex vivo perfused porcine forelimbs: Representative H&E stained tissue samples (12h perfusion) of wild-type and transgenic porcine forelimbs perfused with whole, anti-coagulated human blood (wt xeno and tg xeno, respectively) or autologous pig blood (wt auto and tg auto, respectively) are shown. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. The most obvious findings in both wildtype perfusions are: perivascular and muscular edema, erythrocyte and leukocyte extravasation (indicated by solid line arrow), loss of endothelial layer (asterisk), disrupted muscle fibers (dotted line arrow), and lost cross striations (A). Histologic injury severity scores (HISS): Every of the above criteria was scored from 0–3 (0=absence, 1=scarce, 2=intermediate, and 3=maximal presence) and summed up to a HISS (minimum = 0, maximum = 21). Values are mean ± SD of HISS in hematoxylin-eosin stained limb biopsies. One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test revealed no significant difference (p≥0.13) between all limb perfusions (B). n=4 for autologous and n=6 for xenoperfusions. auto = autolohous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 3:** Effect of transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E on complement deposition. Freshly frozen tissue samples from ex vivo perfused pig limbs were analyzed for deposition of human and/or porcine complement proteins C3b/c, C4b/c and C6 using one-step direct or two-step indirect immunofluorescence staining. Representative images of C3b/c (A), C4b/c (C) and C6 (E) deposition on 12h perfused tissue samples. Scale bar: 100 µm. Wild-type xenogeneic and autologous perfusion samples showed increased deposition of complement proteins, whereas transgenic hCD46 expression resulted in significantly reduced complement deposition. Quantitative analysis of C3b/c (B), C4b/c (D) and C6 (F) deposition was performed using Image J software and statistical analysis was done by One-Way ANOVA testing with Bonferroni's correction (B). Data are mean  $\pm$  SD, \*p≤0.05,

\*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$ . auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 4:** Generation of human (in xenoperfusion) and porcine (in autologous perfusion) anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a and species unspecific (human/porcine) soluble (s)C5b-9. EDTA plasma samples collected after 12 h perfusion from ex vivo wild-type and transgenic limb perfusions were analyzed for the generation of complement activation products using ELISA (human C3a, human C5a and porcine C3a) and Bio-Plex (porcine C5a and sC5b-9). Complement activation at baseline (BL) and after 12 h of wild-type xenogeneic and autologous perfusions resulted in elevated levels of human and porcine C3a (A) and C5a (B) as well as soluble C5b-9 (C). Transgenic hCD46 expression inhibited complement activation upon perfusion and thus was associated with significantly reduced C3a, C5a and sC5b-9 formation. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD; significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.001). auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 5:** Preservation of endothelial integrity after xenoperfusion of porcine limbs with transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E. Depicted are representative images of HSPG (red) and VE-cadherin (green) staining of muscle biopsies (mainly on the vascular endothelium indicated by dotted lines) at baseline and after 12 h of perfusion. Staining of HSPG and VE-cadherin showed no changes in transgenic xenoperfusions as compared to baseline, whereas in wild-type xenoperfusion samples, a reduced HSPG staining was seen. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 6:** Inhibition of complement-induced xenograft endothelial activation by transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E. Xenoperfusion-induced endothelial activation was evaluated by IF staining on freshly frozen tissue samples for the expression of adhesion molecules CD62E (E-selectin) and CD106 (VCAM-1) as activation markers. Representative images of IF staining for CD62E (A) and CD106 (C) on sections of muscle biopsies after 12 h of perfusion are shown. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. Expression of CD62E and CD106 were significantly lower in samples from transgenic xenoperfusions as compared to wild-type xenoperfusion limbs. IF staining

intensities of CD62E (B) and CD106 (D) were quantitatively measured using Image J software and One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction. Data are mean  $\pm$  SD, \*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001. auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 7:** Effect of transgenic expression of hCD46 and HLA-E on human and porcine cytokine release. Pro-inflammatory (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ ), anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10) and chemokine (IL-8, MCP-1) levels were analyzed at baseline (BL) and after 12 h perfusion. Custom-made multiplex kits were used for porcine cytokines and commercially available multiplex kits for human cytokines. Data are expressed as mean ± SD; significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001). auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;

**Figure 8:** Transgenic hCD46 and HLA-E expression protects porcine tissue from xenoperfusion-induced apoptosis. Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated (dUTP) nick-end labeling (TUNEL) assay was performed to detect apoptotic cells that undergo extensive DNA degradation during the last stage of apoptosis. Representative images of TUNEL staining of wild-type xeno, transgenic xeno, wild-type auto and transgenic auto perfusion samples are depicted (A). TUNEL-positive cells are shown in red and corresponding DAPI staining of all nuclei in blue. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$  m. Significantly reduced apoptosis was observed in transgenic limbs as compared to wild-type limbs. The amount of apoptosis was expressed as % TUNEL by normalizing the results to the total number of nuclei per high-power field (HPE) (B). Significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001). Data expressed as mean ± SD. auto = autologous perfusion; xeno = xenoperfusion; tg = hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic; wt = wild-type; BL = baseline;



-



Figure 2





## Figure 3

.



porcine C3a









human/porcine sC5b-9



.



porcine sC5b-9



## Figure 5

-

•

	Baseline	wt xeno	tg xeno	wt auto	tg auto
HSPG	5		(B)		12-
VE-cadherin					



.





Е

.

-









D



IL-10



TNF-α



## Figure 8

Α





-

•

#### Paper III

## ASGR1 expressed by porcine vascular endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models

Anjan K. Bongoni<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David Kiermeir<sup>3</sup>, Thusitha Gajanayake<sup>3</sup>, Hansjörg Jenni<sup>4</sup>, Andrea Bähr<sup>5</sup>, Annegret Wünsch<sup>5</sup>, David Ayares<sup>6</sup>, Jörg D. Seebach<sup>7</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>5</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>5</sup>, Esther Vögelin<sup>3</sup>, Mihai A. Constantinescu<sup>3</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1,3,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, and <sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Institute of Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland.

**Status:** in preparation for submit to *Xenotransplantation* 

**Background:** Ex vivo porcine limb perfusion with whole, anti-coagulated human blood results in platelet loss observed within minutes to hours after perfusion. More recently, it has been shown that the asialoglycoprotein receptor-1 (ASGR1) on sinusoidal endothelial cells bind and phagocytosis human platelets in an ex vivo liver xenoperfusion. Human platelets have more galactose- and N-acetylgalactosamine-terminating epitopes available as compared with pig platelets for ASGR1.

**Aim:** These observations led us to examine ASGR1 expression on porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) as well as PAEC / ASGR1 mediated xenogenic platelet phagocytosis.



**Figure:** (A) Diagrammatic illustration of porcine endothelial and ASGR1 mediated human platelet phagocytosis in pig-to-human xenotransplantation. (B) Immunofluorescence staining of porcine aortic/arterial endothelial cells showed ASGR1 expression (red) and the endothelial marker VE-cadherin (green). (C) In vitro analysis of ASGR1 (red) mediated phagocytosis of freshly isolated CFSE-labeled human platelet (green). Endothelial cells stained positive for CD31 (purple). Endothelial nuclei stained with DAPI (blue).

**Conclusion:** In xenoperfusion of porcine tissue with human blood, ASGR1 expressed on pig vascular endothelium is involved, at least in part, in binding and phagocytosis of human platelets.

-

•

## ASGR1 expressed by porcine vascular endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models

Anjan K. Bongoni<sup>1,2,3</sup>, David Kiermeir<sup>3</sup>, Thusitha Gajanayake<sup>3</sup>, Hansjörg Jenni<sup>4</sup>, Andrea Bähr<sup>5</sup>, Annegret Wünsch<sup>5</sup>, David Ayares<sup>6</sup>, Jörg D. Seebach<sup>7</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>5</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>5</sup>, Esther Vögelin<sup>3</sup>, Mihai A. Constantinescu<sup>3</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1,3,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, and <sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University Hospital, Bern, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Institute of Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Division of Immunology and Allergology, University Hospital and Medical Faculty, Geneva, Switzerland.

**Key words:** Porcine vascular endothelial cells, ASGR1, platelets, phagocytosis, xenotransplantation

#### <sup>\*</sup>Address for Correspondence

Robert Rieben, PhD University of Bern, Department of Clinical Research, Murtenstrasse 50, P.O. Box 44, CH-3010 Bern, Switzerland Tel: +41 632 9669 Fax: +41 632 7594 E-mail Address: <u>robert.rieben@dkf.unibe.ch</u>
# Author's contributions

-

A.K.B. participated in the research design, writing of the article, performance of the experiments, data analysis.

D.K. and H.J. participated in performing the animal experiments and the overall design of the study.

A.B., A.W., E.W., N.K. produced HLA-E/hCD46 pigs and multi-modified pigs and provided the respective endothelial cells.

D.A. provided primary cells from hCD46 transgenic pigs for nuclear transfer experiments.

J.D.S. provided scientific support and reagents and participated in the critical revision of the article.

T.G., E.V. and M.A.C. participated in the concept and design of the study and carried part of the responsibility.

R.R. participated in the concept and design of the study, analyzing the data, writing the manuscript, and carried the main responsibility for the study.

# Abstract

**Background:** The asialoglycoprotein receptor-1 (ASGR1) mediates capture and endocytosis of Gal(beta1-4) and GalNAc(beta1-4) terminating glycoproteins. Human platelets, carrying more of these epitopes than pig platelets are phagocytosed by porcine liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSEC) following binding to ASGR1. Here we assessed ASGR1 expression on porcine aortic / limb arterial endothelial cells (PAEC/PLAEC) as well as PAEC/ASGR1 mediated xenogeneic platelet phagocytosis in vitro and ex vivo.

**Methods:** Wild-type and HLA-E/hCD46 double transgenic porcine forelimbs were perfused with whole, heparinized human or autologous pig blood. Platelets were counted at regular intervals during perfusion. Ex vivo pig limb biopsies as well as in vitro cultured PAEC/PLAEC were characterized for ASGR1 expression. Human platelets were exposed to PAEC and analyzed for ASGR1-mediated xenogeneic platelet phagocytosis including inhibition assays using anti-ASGR1 antibodies.

**Results:** Human platelet numbers decreased from  $121 \pm 31$  at beginning to  $14 \pm 6 \times 10^{3}/\mu I$  (P<0.0001) after 10 min of perfusion, whereas no significant decrease of pig platelets was seen during autologous perfusions ( $176 \pm 35$  to  $161 \pm 54 \times 10^{3}/\mu I$ ). Porcine endothelial cells on muscle biopsies and PAEC/PLAEC in vitro showed ASGR1 expression. Phagocytosis of human CFSE-labeled platelets by PAEC peaked at 15 min and was inhibited by rabbit anti-ASGR1 antibody and asialofetuin, a competitive ligand for ASGR1.

**Conclusion:** ASGR1 expressed on aortic and limb arterial pig vascular endothelium plays a role in binding and phagocytosis of human platelets. Therefore, ASGR1 may represent a novel therapeutic target to overcome thrombocytopenia associated with vascularized pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

# Background

Xenotransplantation of porcine organs and cells may help to expand the pool of available donor organs for clinical transplantation. However, despite considerable progress over the past decades immune responses and other barriers prevent clinical application. The use of organs stemming from genetically modified pigs has indeed prevented hyperacute rejection, antibody-mediated or cellular acute rejection, at least in animal models (1-3). Nevertheless, other issues related to physiological and immunological incompatibilities, including thrombotic microangiopathy and systemic consumptive coagulopathy, need to be solved (4-6). The latter are characterized by platelet activation, aggregation and sequestration leading to a dysregulation of the coagulation system and eventually to organ dysfunction (7).

Thrombocytopenia has been observed previously in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation models, especially in pig-to-baboon liver transplantation (8) and during ex vivo porcine liver perfusion with human blood (9). Although hepatic function, including coagulation, has proved to be satisfactory, the immediate development of thrombocytopenia is very limiting for pig liver xenotransplantation even as a 'bridge' to allotransplantation (10). Recently, it has been shown that porcine Kupffer cells and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSEC) bind and phagocytose human platelets in ex vivo perfusion systems (11). Many scavenger receptors have been reported on LSEC that facilitate the clearance of particulate, molecular and cellular 'waste' from the circulation (12), one of them being the asialoglycoprotein receptor-1 (ASGR1), a C-type lectin. It functions as a recycling receptor, which mediates capture and phagocytosis of Galβ1-4 and GalNAcβ1-4 terminating glycoproteins (13, 14). Other functions of ASGR1 that have been put forward include clearance of asialoglycoproteins (15) and apoptotic cells (16). ASGR1 may also participate in cell-cell, cell-matrix or intramatrix interactions (17). The receptor is expressed on porcine Kupffer cells, hepatocytes (18) and on porcine LSEC. Finally, ASGR1 on porcine LSEC mediates phagocytosis of human platelets (19). ASGR1-mediated human platelet binding depends on the availability of carbohydrate binding sites on ASGR1 as well as exposed ligand concentrations on platelets such as Gal $\beta$ 1-4GalNAc. Recently, it has been shown that, compared to porcine platelets, human platelets have four times more Gal<sub>β</sub>1-4GlcNAc and GalNAcβ1-4GalNAc ligands for ASGR1 (20).

104

In summary, thrombocytopenia following liver xenotransplantation and ex vivo xenoperfusion is a well recognized phenomenon. In contrast, little is known on platelet phagocytosis mediated by other endothelial sites. Here we report the observation that ex vivo xenoperfusion of porcine forelimbs with human blood leads to an immediate loss of human platelets from circulation. We therefore examined ASGR1 expression on porcine vascular endothelial cells (PAEC/PLAEC), as well as its role for binding and phagocytosis of human platelets.

-

# Materials and methods

## Ex vivo perfusion model

HLA-E (32)/hCD46 (33) double transgenic (tg) as well as wild-type (wt) pig forelimbs were used to perform ex vivo perfusion with whole, heparinized anti-coagulated human blood (xenoperfusion) or autologous blood (autologous perfusion), respectively. Care and use of animals in this study were according to the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* published by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996) and Swiss National Guidelines. Pigs (wt and tg) were pre-medicated with ketamine (20 mg/kg), midazolam (1 mg/kg), and atropine (0.05 mg/kg) before intubation, induction of anesthesia by isoflurane (1-1.5 vol. %) and mechanical ventilation with a Draeger respirator (O<sub>2</sub>/air 1:3) were maintained till the end of experiment. Using an electrocautery device (ERBE ICC 350, ERBE Electromedizin), forelimbs were amputated by dissection of the girdle muscles. In the axillar region, the neurovascular bundle was laid open and two veins and one artery were cannulated using 10 French cannulas (34, 35).

From human donors, 500 ml blood was withdrawn into standard transfusion bags to which 10,000 IU of heparin were added. The amputated porcine forelimbs were connected to extracorporeal circuits as described previously (34) and HAES-perfusion was used for the first 5 min in order to wash out porcine blood and cells as well as metabolic products accumulated in the extremity during the amputation operation. Porcine forelimbs were used for either xenogeneic or autologous perfusion with whole, heparinized anticoagulated human or autologous blood, respectively, for up to 12 hrs. Throughout the experiment, the perfusion parameters (arterial blood gas, nerve stimulation etc.) were monitored. Blood samples were collected at regular time intervals and blood cell counts performed using an automated hematology analyzer (Sysmex KX21N) to measure changes in platelet counts.

## Endothelial cell isolation and culture

Porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) and porcine limb arterial endothelial cells (PLAEC) were isolated from porcine aortas and femoral arteries using a previously described method (36). Briefly, excised blood vessels were rinsed with PBS and filled with 0.1% collagenase in PBS for 30 minutes. Endothelial cells in the collagenase perfusate were collected, centrifuged and the cell pellets resuspended in DMEM cell culture medium (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium) containing 10% fetal calf serum (FBS), 100 U/ml Penicillin, 100  $\mu$  g/ml Streptomycin (Invitrogen) and

endothelial cell growth medium II supplement mix (C-39216, PromoCell). Cells were plated in cell culture flasks and grown until confluence, and were then used between passages two and eight in all experiments.

# Platelet isolation and CFSE labeling

10 ml blood was drawn freshly from a healthy volunteer into citrate tubes and centrifuged at 150 x g for 15 min at 22°C. The supernatant, consisting of platelet-rich plasma (PRP), was collected and centrifuged at 1500 x g for 15 min at 22°C to obtain purified platelets. Washed platelets were resuspended in 15 ml carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE, C34554, Invitrogen) work solution (5  $\mu$ M) for 30 min at 37°C and then 15 ml PBS was added. The platelet solution was centrifuged at 300 x g for 15 min at 22°C. The resulting pellet was washed in 25 ml PBS solution, counted using a hemocytometer, and stored at room temperature for a maximum of 3 h. Samples were diluted to a final concentration of 4x10<sup>8</sup> platelets/ml with PBS for experiments.

## Immunofluorescence

Endothelial cells (PAEC and PLAEC) originating from aorta and femoral arteries, respectively, were grown as described above and seeded on 8-well Lab-Tek chamber slides (Milian SA). Cultured cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 minutes, washed with PBS-1% BSA-0.05% Tween 20 and blocked with 3% BSA in PBS for 30 min at room temperature (RT). For analysis of tissue biopsies, slides with 5 µm cryosections of porcine limb muscle were fixed in acetone for 5 min. The slides were then incubated with endothelial specific antibodies: rat anti-pig CD31 (PECAM-1, clone 377537, #MAB33871, R&D systems), goat anti-human VE-cadherin (#sc-6458, crossreacting with porcine VE-cadherin, Santa Cruz Biotechnologies), rabbit anti-human ASGR1 (#18-003-42438, crossreacting with porcine ASGR1(19), GenWay Biotech) and mouse anti-human CD41 (FITC-labeled, #F7088, Dako) for 60 min at RT or overnight at 4°C. After primary antibody incubation, slides were washed and exposed to fluorescence conjugated secondary antibodies: donkey anti-rat IgG Cy3 (#712-166-150, Jackson Immunoresearch), donkey anti-goat IgG Alexa 488 (#A11055, Invitrogen) and sheep anti-rabbit IgG Cy3, (#C2306, Sigma) for 60 min at RT. After the immunostaining process, slides were washed, stained with 4', 6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, #236 276, Boehringer Mannheim) and then mounted with Glycergel (#C0563, Dako). The slides were analyzed using a confocal laser-scanning microscope (LSM5, Zeiss).

# Western blot

Endothelial cells (PAEC) were lysed in radio-immunoprecipitation buffer (#R0278, Sigma) with protease inhibitor cocktail (#I3911, Sigma). Samples were analyzed with 4-20% mini-Protean TGX precast gels (#456-1095, Bio-Rad) and immunoblot analysis. Membranes were blocked with 50% Odyssey blocking buffer (#927-40000, LI-COR Biosciences) in PBS for 30 min followed by incubation with anti-ASGR1, and anti-beta actin (Rockland Immunochemicals for Research) according to manufacturer recommended specifications. Following primary antibody, membranes were probed with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to IRDye 800CW or IRDye 680CW (LI-COR Biosciences). Membranes were scanned with a LI-COR near-infrared Odyssey scanner (LI-COR Biosciences).

# Flow Cytometry

Cells (PAEC and PLAEC) were harvested using EDTA-0.05% trypsin at 37°C, washed with PBS-1% BSA-0.02% sodium azide. Pellets were fixed by 2% formaldehyde in PBS for 15 min. Cells were then washed and stained with rabbit anti-ASGR1 for 30 min on ice in the dark. Following washing, the appropriate secondary antibody, sheep anti-rabbit IgG Cy3 was added for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. Cells were washed and resuspended in 1% formaldehyde. Data were collected with a BD LSR II Flow-Cytometer (BD Biosciences).

# Cell ELISA

Confluent PAEC cultured in 96-well plate (1x10<sup>6</sup>/well) were treated with pooled normal human serum (1:10) for 60 min at 37°C. After washing, cells were fixed in 3.7% formalin for 20 min, washed and blocked using PBS-1%BSA for 30 min at RT. Subsequently, rabbit anti-ASGR1 antibody was incubated for 60 min at RT followed by washing. Biotinylated goat anti-rabbit Ig (#E0432, Dako) was added for 60 min at RT, washed and incubated with alkaline phosphatase conjugated streptavidin for 30 min at RT. After washing, p-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate (#S0942, Sigma) was added. Color development was quantified at 405/490 nm using an Infinite M1000 microplate reader (Tecan).

# In vitro platelet phagocytosis – Cell ELISA

Analysis of phagocytosis of human platelets by PAEC was performed based on the assay described by Paris et al. (19). In brief, PAEC were cultured in 96-well plates  $(1x10^{6}/well)$ , grown to confluence.  $4x10^{7}$  CFSE-labeled human platelets were added to wells on the 96-well plates containing confluent endothelial cells. For inhibition assay, PAEC were pre-incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-ASGR1 antibody, polyclonal rabbit IgG as isotype control (Sigma), or asialofetuin (#A4781, Sigma) for 30 min prior to addition of human platelets. The plates were placed on a shaker for 30 sec at 900 rpm to initiate the platelet-endothelial interaction. The plates were washed 3x with PBS, and then fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde-PBS for 20 min at RT. After fixation, the wells were washed and 50 µl PBS added. The fluorescence excitation and emissions of CFSE were acquired at 492/517 nm using a Tecan Infinite M1000 microplate reader.

# In vitro platelet phagocytosis – Immunofluorescence staining

4x10<sup>7</sup> CFSE labeled human platelets were added to confluent endothelial cells on 8well chamber slides for 60 min at 37°C. After incubation, the slides were washed with PBS<sup>++</sup> (PBS containing 1mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 min. Following washing, slides were incubated with the following primary antibodies: anti-CD31, anti-VE-cadherin and anti-ASGR1 for 60 min at RT. After washing, fluorescence labeled secondary antibodies were incubated for 60 min, washed and mounted with glycergel. Slides were analyzed using a Zeiss LSM5 confocal laser-scanning microscope.

# **Statistical analysis**

Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software). Significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001).

# Ex vivo perfusion model of xenotransplantation-induced platelet loss

A rapid loss of circulating human platelets was observed during xenoperfusion of pig forelimbs with whole, heparinized human blood, whereas in autologous pig blood perfusions only a slow decrease of platelet numbers was seen. The average platelet counts at baseline were 236.3  $\pm$  28.9 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl (human blood) and 301  $\pm$  67.2 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl (pig blood). The counts dropped about 2-fold to  $121.4 \pm 31.3 \times 10^{3}$ /µl and  $171.3 \pm$ 26.37  $\times 10^{3}$ /µl, respectively, after the first run through the perfusion system before even getting into contact with porcine tissue. These reductions in platelet counts are explained by the dilution of the blood with hydroxyethyl starch solution (HAES; Voluven, Fresenius) which was used for priming of the extracorporeal circuit. After 10 min of xenoperfusion with human blood, platelet counts dropped approximately 10fold, from 121.4  $\pm$  31.3 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl at baseline to 14.7  $\pm$  6.1 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl in wild-type (wt) (p<0.0001), and to 13.0  $\pm$  5.6 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl in hCD46/HLA-E transgenic (tg) pig limbs (p<0.0002), respectively. There were no significant differences in platelet counts between wt and tg pig limbs perfused with human blood throughout the experiments (p=0.77), whereas a lower platelet drop was noted in the tg compared to wt pig limbs perfused with autologous blood (p=0.028). In autologous pig blood perfusions the respective values after 10 min were not significantly lower than at onset (171.3 ± 26.37 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl), namely 135.3  $\pm$  25.6 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl for wt and 188.3  $\pm$  65.7 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl for tg. These values were significantly (p<0.0001) higher than the ones of the respective xenoperfusions. After 60 min of perfusion, platelet counts were  $11.3 \pm 4.5 \times 10^{3}$ /µl (wt, xeno), 22.0  $\pm$  9.4 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl (tg, xeno), 65.3  $\pm$  12.1 x10<sup>3</sup>/µl (wt, auto) and 139.0  $\pm$  51.0  $x10^{3}$ /µl (tg, auto), respectively, and stayed at these levels throughout the remaining perfusion time (720 min in total, Figure 1).

# ASGR1 expressed by porcine vascular endothelial cells

As shown by immunofluorescence (IF) and confocal microscopy cultured PAEC/PLAEC were positive for CD31, VE-cadherin, and ASGR1 (Figure 2A). Expression of ASGR1 on PAEC was further confirmed using flow cytometry (Figure 2B) and cell ELISA (Figure 2C). Treatment with NHS, which activates porcine endothelial cells had no effect on ASGR1 expression levels on PAEC (Figure 2C). Western blot analysis of whole cell lysates using PAEC cultured from wild-type as well as from GaITKO/hCD46/human thrombomodulin (hTM), HLA-E/hCD46, and

GalTKO/hCD46 transgenic pigs all showed ASGR1 protein expression as a band at 50 kDa with no significant differences in expression levels (Figure 2D).

# ASGR1 protein expression on pig limb biopsy samples

Wt and tg porcine limb muscle biopsy samples, collected at different time points, were all positive for ASGR1 expression as assessed by immunofluorescence. The fact that staining for ASGR1 co-localized with VE-cadherin/CD31 in all biopsy sections (Figure 3) indicated that ASGR1 is indeed expressed on endothelial cells, corresponding to the observations made in vitro using cultured PAEC/PLAEC. Moreover, muscle tissue biopsies from xenoperfusions were also analyzed for human platelet infiltration/sequestration by staining for CD41, a human platelet marker. As shown in Figure 3B, a higher number of human platelets was found in the muscle tissue after 1 h of perfusion as compared with 9 h and 12 h perfusion, respectively. Furthermore, fluorescence microscopy analysis showed that sequestered platelets (CD41) were co-localized with ASGR1 (Figure 3C) indicating binding of platelet aggregates to the endothelium via ASGR1.

# Phagocytosis of CFSE-labeled human platelets by porcine endothelial cells

Freshly isolated human platelets were labeled with CFSE (carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester) and incubated with cultured PAEC in vitro. Within minutes human platelets uniformly bound to PAEC, with a peak of fluorescence intensity at 15 min. At 30 to 60 min, the fluorescence declined to ~ 50% (Figure 4A) as reported previously by Paris LL et al using LSEC and CFSE-labeled human platelets in vitro (19, 20). As shown by overlay immunofluorescence staining for CD31/ASGR1 (Figure 4B) CFSE-labeled human platelets adhered to the surface of PAEC after 30 min incubation. After 45 min however, CFSE-labeled human platelets were internalized by PAEC, and positive for double staining by ASGR1 and the lysosomal marker CD107a (Figure 4C).

# Platelet phagocytosis is inhibited by blocking of the ASGR1 receptor

In order to confirm involvement of ASGR1 in human platelet phagocytosis, we examined the effect of blocking ASGR1 antibodies. Pre-incubation of PAEC with polyclonal rabbit anti-ASGR1 antibody (Figure 5A) at 2  $\mu$ g/ml, (\*p<0.05) or 1-2  $\mu$ g/ml asialofetuin (Figure 5B), a competitive ligand for ASGR1, for 30 min, significantly reduced phagocytosis of CFSE-labeled human platelets, whereas a non-specific isotype control (polyclonal rabbit IgG) had no effect (Figure 5).

# Discussion

During ex vivo xenoperfusion of porcine limbs with heparinized human blood, human platelets disappeared within minutes from the circulating blood. This phenomenon is in line with the observation of xenograft-induced thrombocytopenia and represents a major problem in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation (8). Determination of the mechanisms responsible for this thrombocytopenia is necessary for the development of preventive strategies. In this study, we have shown the expression of ASGR1, a known platelet binding C-type lectin receptor, in PAEC as well as PLAEC. In addition, we show by specific inhibition using polyclonal anti-ASGR1 antibody that human platelet binding and uptake by PAEC/PLAEC is mediated via ASGR1.

ASGR1, a component of the Ashwell-Morell asialoglycoprotein receptor, is located on hepatocytes, macrophages and LSEC, and mediates binding and removal of circulating glycoproteins carrying Gal and GalNAc terminating epitopes (20, 21). ASGR1 was previously considered a hepatocyte-specific protein (22), but has also been shown to occur extrahepatically in thyroid (23), small and large intestines (24, 25), and testis (26). Its existence in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells has also been studied (27), whereas it was never been described to occur on endothelial cells outside the liver. Our data now show for the first time that in addition to LSEC, extrahepatic vascular endothelial cells can also express ASGR1. In vitro, porcine vascular endothelial cells (from aorta as well as from the femoral artery), characterized by expression of the endothelial specific markers VE-cadherin and CD31, were shown to express ASGR1 by immunofluorescence staining, flow cytometry, immunoblot, and cell ELISA. Taken together, these assays demonstrate that the ASGR1 protein is present on PAEC as well as PLAEC.

The asialoglycoprotein receptor is composed of two subunits, a major subunit (ASGR1) and a minor subunit (ASGR2) (28, 29), both of which are necessary to form a functional trimer of two ASGR1 and one ASGR2 (30, 31). Staining of limb muscle tissue sections confirmed the presence of ASGR1 in vascular endothelial cells. In addition, muscle tissue biopsies from porcine limbs, ex vivo xenoperfused for 1 h with human blood, stained positive for CD41, indicating human platelet sequestration. Staining for CD41 co-localized with ASGR1 protein, suggesting ASGR1-dependent human platelet binding and sequestration.

ASGR1-mediated human platelet binding and phagocytosis was further investigated using PAEC incubated with CFSE-labeled human platelets in vitro. Binding of human platelets to PAEC was observed and peaked after 15 min incubation. Thereafter, the CFSE fluorescence elicited by the labeled platelets gradually declined and at 45 min was co-localized with CD107a, a marker for lysosomes. We conclude that CFSElabeled platelets first attached to the surface of PAEC via ASGR1, followed by uptake and phagocytosis. Indeed, pre-incubation of PAEC with polyclonal anti-ASGR1 antibody significantly reduced human platelet binding. Also blocking of ASGR1 using asialofetuin, a competitive ligand for ASGR1, significantly reduced platelet uptake in a dose-dependent manner.

Our results demonstrate that receptor/ligand interactions are involved in the clearance of human platelets during ex vivo pig-to-human limb xenoperfusion. The presence of higher Galβ1-4 or GalNAcβ1-4 ligand concentrations on human as compared to porcine platelets may facilitate porcine ASGR1 mediated human platelet phagocytosis (20). Generation of genetically modified pigs carrying human ASGR1, with or without deletion of the porcine ASGR1, may therefore help to overcome this important hurdle in pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

In conclusion, we found expression of functional ASGR1 in porcine vascular endothelial cells. ASGR1 on the vascular endothelium of porcine organs may therefore mediate binding and phagocytosis of human platelets during pig-to-human xenotransplantation.

# Acknowledgements

-

This study was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (32003B\_135272, 32003B\_138434 and 320030-138376), the Wilsdorf Foundation, the MIC center of the University of Bern, and the German Research Foundation (Transregio CRC 127). We would like to thank Dr. Daniel Mettler, Mrs. Olgica Beslac and Mr. Daniel Zalokar from the Surgical Research Unit, Departement of Clinical Research and Clinic for Large Animals, University of Bern, as well as Julie Denoyelle, Yvonne Roschi, and Sanja Stojanovic, DCR, University of Bern, for expert technical support.

# References

- 1. Cozzi E, White DJ. The generation of transgenic pigs as potential organ donors for humans. *Nat Med* 1995; 1 (9): 964.
- 2. McCurry KR, Kooyman DL, Alvarado CG, et al. Human complement regulatory proteins protect swine-to-primate cardiac xenografts from humoral injury. *Nat Med* 1995; 1 (5): 423.
- 3. Chen D, Weber M, McVey JH, et al. Complete inhibition of acute humoral rejection using regulated expression of membrane-tethered anticoagulants on xenograft endothelium. *Am J Transplant* 2004; 4 (12): 1958.
- 4. Kuwaki K, Tseng YL, Dor FJ, et al. Heart transplantation in baboons using alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs as donors: initial experience. *Nat Med* 2005; 11 (1): 29.
- 5. Shimizu A, Hisashi Y, Kuwaki K, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy associated with humoral rejection of cardiac xenografts from alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs in baboons. *Am J Pathol* 2008; 172 (6): 1471.
- 6. Ekser B, Ezzelarab M, Hara H, et al. Clinical xenotransplantation: the next medical revolution? *Lancet* 2012; 379 (9816): 672.
- 7. Iwase H, Ekser B, Zhou H, Dons EM, Cooper DK, Ezzelarab MB. Platelet aggregation in humans and nonhuman primates: relevance to xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation* 2012; 19 (4): 233.
- 8. Ekser B, Long C, Echeverri GJ, et al. Impact of thrombocytopenia on survival of baboons with genetically modified pig liver transplants: clinical relevance. *Am J Transplant* 2010; 10 (2): 273.
- 9. Hickman R, Parker JR, Saunders SJ, Terblanche J. Platelet adherence in the pig liver perfused with human blood. *Transplantation* 1972; 13 (2): 195.
- 10. Ekser B, Burlak C, Waldman JP, et al. Immunobiology of liver xenotransplantation. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* 2012; 8 (7): 621.
- 11. Burlak C, Paris LL, Chihara RK, et al. The fate of human platelets perfused through the pig liver: implications for xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation* 2010; 17 (5): 350.
- 12. Nedredal GI, Elvevold KH, Ytrebo LM, Olsen R, Revhaug A, Smedsrod B. Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells represents an important blood clearance system in pigs. *Comp Hepatol* 2003; 2 (1): 1.
- 13. Stockert RJ. The asialoglycoprotein receptor: relationships between structure, function, and expression. *Physiol Rev* 1995; 75 (3): 591.
- 14. Ashwell G, Kawasaki T. A protein from mammalian liver that specifically binds galactose-terminated glycoproteins. *Methods Enzymol* 1978; 50: 287.
- 15. Hildenbrandt GR, Aronson NN, Jr. Uptake of asialoglycophorin-liposomes by the perfused rat liver. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1980; 631 (3): 499.
- 16. Dini L, Autuori F, Lentini A, Oliverio S, Piacentini M. The clearance of apoptotic cells in the liver is mediated by the asialoglycoprotein receptor. *FEBS Lett* 1992; 296 (2): 174.
- 17. Weigel PH. Galactosyl and N-acetylgalactosaminyl homeostasis: a function for mammalian asialoglycoprotein receptors. *Bioessays* 1994; 16 (7): 519.
- 18. Kolb-Bachofen V, Schlepper-Schafer J, Vogell W, Kolb H. Electron microscopic evidence for an asialoglycoprotein receptor on Kupffer cells: localization of lectin-mediated endocytosis. *Cell* 1982; 29 (3): 859.
- 19. Paris LL, Chihara RK, Reyes LM, et al. ASGR1 expressed by porcine enriched liver sinusoidal endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in vitro. *Xenotransplantation* 2011; 18 (4): 245.

- 20. Paris LL, Chihara RK, Sidner RA, Tector AJ, Burlak C. Differences in human and porcine platelet oligosaccharides may influence phagocytosis by liver sinusoidal cells in vitro. *Xenotransplantation* 2012; 19 (1): 31.
- 21. Harris RL, van den Berg CW, Bowen DJ. ASGR1 and ASGR2, the Genes that Encode the Asialoglycoprotein Receptor (Ashwell Receptor), Are Expressed in Peripheral Blood Monocytes and Show Interindividual Differences in Transcript Profile. *Mol Biol Int* 2012; 2012: 283974.
- 22. Weigel PH. Characterization of the asialoglycoprotein receptor on isolated rat hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem* 1980; 255 (13): 6111.
- 23. Pacifico F, Laviola L, Ulianich L, et al. Differential expression of the asialoglycoprotein receptor in discrete brain areas, in kidney and thyroid. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1995; 210 (1): 138.
- 24. Mu JZ, Fallon RJ, Swanson PE, Carroll SB, Danaher M, Alpers DH. Expression of an endogenous asialoglycoprotein receptor in a human intestinal epithelial cell line, Caco-2. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; 1222 (3): 483.
- 25. Mu JZ, Gordon M, Shao JS, Alpers DH. Apical expression of functional asialoglycoprotein receptor in the human intestinal cell line HT-29. *Gastroenterology* 1997; 113 (5): 1501.
- 26. Abdullah M, Kierszenbaum AL. Identification of rat testis galactosyl receptor using antibodies to liver asialoglycoprotein receptor: purification and localization on surfaces of spermatogenic cells and sperm. *J Cell Biol* 1989; 108 (2): 367.
- 27. Seow YY, Tan MG, Woo KT. Expression of a functional asialoglycoprotein receptor in human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. *Nephron* 2002; 91 (3): 431.
- 28. Halberg DF, Wager RE, Farrell DC, et al. Major and minor forms of the rat liver asialoglycoprotein receptor are independent galactose-binding proteins. Primary structure and glycosylation heterogeneity of minor receptor forms. *J Biol Chem* 1987; 262 (20): 9828.
- 29. Bischoff J, Lodish HF. Two asialoglycoprotein receptor polypeptides in human hepatoma cells. *J Biol Chem* 1987; 262 (24): 11825.
- 30. Grewal PK, Uchiyama S, Ditto D, et al. The Ashwell receptor mitigates the lethal coagulopathy of sepsis. *Nat Med* 2008; 14 (6): 648.
- 31. Tozawa R, Ishibashi S, Osuga J, et al. Asialoglycoprotein receptor deficiency in mice lacking the major receptor subunit. Its obligate requirement for the stable expression of oligomeric receptor. *J Biol Chem* 2001; 276 (16): 12624.
- 32. Weiss EH, Lilienfeld BG, Muller S, et al. HLA-E/human beta2-microglobulin transgenic pigs: protection against xenogeneic human anti-pig natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *Transplantation* 2009; 87 (1): 35.
- 33. Loveland BE, Milland J, Kyriakou P, et al. Characterization of a CD46 transgenic pig and protection of transgenic kidneys against hyperacute rejection in non-immunosuppressed baboons. *Xenotransplantation* 2004; 11 (2): 171.
- 34. Constantinescu MA, Knall E, Xu X, et al. Preservation of amputated extremities by extracorporeal blood perfusion; a feasibility study in a porcine model. *J Surg Res* 2011; 171 (1): 291.
- 35. Muller S, Constantinescu MA, Kiermeir DM, et al. Ischemia/reperfusion injury of porcine limbs after extracorporeal perfusion. *J Surg Res* 2013; 181 (1): 170.
- 36. Banz Y, Cung T, Korchagina EY, Bovin NV, Haeberli A, Rieben R. Endothelial cell protection and complement inhibition in xenotransplantation: a novel in vitro model using whole blood. *Xenotransplantation* 2005; 12 (6): 434.

# **Figure legends**

Figure 1. Platelet count during ex vivo perfusion of porcine forelimbs with heparinized autologous or human blood. Amputated forelimbs from wt and hCD46/HLA-E transgenic (tg)pigs were connected to extracorporeal perfusion circuit, and then xenogeneic or autologous perfusions were performed. Perfusate blood samples were collected at regular time intervals and platelets counted using a Sysmex analyzer. A rapid loss of platelet counts was observed in wt and tg xenogeneic perfusions, but not in autologous perfusions. Autologous perfusions n=3, xenogeneic perfusions n=6. Significance was tested for area under the curve using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p0.05, \*\*p $\leq$ 0.001, \*\*\*p $\leq$ 0.001).

**Figure 2. Expression of ASGR1 on PAEC/PLAEC in vitro.** (A) Cultured PAEC (upper row) or PLAEC (lower row) were analyzed for expression of ASGR1 as well as the endothelial specific markers CD31 and VE-cadherin by IF staining and fluorescence microscopy. Both PAEC and PLAEC were positive for CD31, VE-cadherin and ASGR1. Nuclei stained with DAPI. One representative of at least three independent experiments is shown. (B) PAEC cultures were analyzed for expression of ASGR1 by flow cytometry. One representative of three independent experiments is shown. (C) Incubation of PAEC with NHS has no effect on expression of ASGR1 as analyzed by cell ELISA, n=3, shown are mean  $\pm$  SD. Negative control indicates no anti-ASGR1 antibody, but only secondary antibody. (D) Western blot analysis of ASGR1 protein and beta-actin from whole cell lysate using PAEC of different genetic backgrounds (1 = wild-type; 2 = GaITKO/hCD46/hTM transgenic; 3 = HLA-E/hCD46 transgenic; 4 = GaITKO/hCD46 transgenic). Representative data of two independent experiments are shown.

**Figure 3. ASGR1 expression on biopsy samples from ex vivo perfusions.** (A) Pig limb skeletal muscle samples were collected before perfusion from the contralateral extremity as baseline sample and were stained for expression of ASGR1 as well as endothelial markers (CD31 and VE-cadherin). Results show that ASGR1 protein is expressed in vascular endothelial cells that are positive for CD31 or VE-cadherin. Representative data of three independent experiments are shown. (B) Biopsy samples, collected at different xenoperfusion time points, were stained for platelets using anti-CD41 antibody to study binding and sequestration. Human

117

platelet binding and sequestration was high at 1 h perfusion and then declined after 9 h and 12 h perfusion. (C) Staining for co-localization of human platelets with pig ASGR1 on 1 h xenoperfused biopsy samples. Human platelets stained with CD41 antibody co-localized with porcine ASGR1.

**Figure 4. Human platelet phagocytosis and degradation by PAEC.** (A) CFSElabeled human platelets were incubated with PAEC for different time points as shown on the x-axis, followed by detection of CFSE fluorescence intensity on a plate reader. PAEC without CFSE-labeled platelets were also used to detect the autofluorescence of PAEC. Data are expressed as mean ± SD of three independent experiments. (B, C) Confocal microscopy analysis of CFSE-labeled human platelets by PAEC in vitro. (B) CFSE-labeled platelets (green fluorescence) were added to PAEC. After 30 min incubation, platelets adhered to PAEC that were positive for CD31 (red fluorescence). Side views are shown as z-panels to the right and below the image. (C) Prolonged incubation of CFSE platelets for 45 min resulted in internalization into PAEC. Shown are PAEC stained for ASGR1 (red) and the lysosomal marker CD107a (violet). Side views are shown as z-panels to the right and below the overlay image. In all fluorescence staining experiments, nuclei stained with DAPI. One representative of three independent experiments is shown.

Figure 5. Inhibition of human platelet binding and phagocytosis. PAEC were pre-incubated with increasing concentrations of either rabbit polyclonal anti-ASGR1 antibody or polyclonal rabbit IgG as isotype control (A), or asialofetuin (B) for 30 min, followed by incubation with CFSE-labeled human platelets. After 15 min incubation, human platelet binding and phagocytosis was measured using a fluorescence plate reader. Significance was tested using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's correction (\*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments.

Figure 1



Figure 2



Figure 3



-



Baseline	11. 
9h	12h
	<u>250 μm</u>











•

-

•

# Paper IV

# Development of a Bead-Based Multiplex Assay for the Simultaneous Detection of Porcine Inflammation Markers Using xMAP Technology

Anjan K Bongoni<sup>1,2</sup>, Jonas Lanz<sup>1</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>1</sup>, Yara Banz<sup>\*1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, and <sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, <sup>3</sup>Institute of Pathology, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Status: Published in Cytometry Part A, 2013 Jul;83(7):636-47.

**Background:** Based on comparative anatomic and physiologic characteristics, pigs have been used as model animal to develop and test novel therapies for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases. Currently no commercial test kits are available for multiplex detection of porcine markers by using xMAP technology.

**Aim:** Therefore, we aimed at developing a bead-based multiplexed immunoassay to detect simultaneously porcine cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, TNF $\alpha$ ), chemokines (IL-8, MCP-1), growth factors (basic (b)FGF, VEGF, PDGF-bb), and cardiac injury marker troponin-I, as well as complement activation markers (C5a, soluble (s)C5b-9) on the Bio-Plex platform.



**Figure:** Diagrammatic illustration of the basic principle of the Bio-Plex assay and the analytes list of the developed porcine 11-plex (purple boxes: IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, TNF $\alpha$ , C5a, sC5b-9, C5a, MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF and PDGF-bb) and 6-plex (blue boxes: IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, TNF $\alpha$ , and cardiac troponin-I) assays.

**Conclusion:** We were successful to establish bead based 11-plex and 6-plex assay to detect porcine markers with a good assay sensitivity, broad dynamic range, low intra- & inter-assay variance and cross-reactivity. This assay therefore represents a new, useful tool for the analysis of serum samples from experiments with pigs.

-

•



# Development of a Bead-Based Multiplex Assay for the Simultaneous Detection of Porcine Inflammation Markers Using xMAP Technology

Anjan K. Bongoni,<sup>1,2</sup> Jonas Lanz,<sup>1</sup> Robert Rieben,<sup>1</sup> Yara Banz<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern, 3010 Bern, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup>Graduate School for Cellular and Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, Switzerland

<sup>3</sup>Institute of Pathology, University of Bern, 3010 Bern, Switzerland

Received 23 October 2012; Revision Received 19 January 2013; Accepted 28 February 2013

Grant sponsor: Swiss National Science Foundation; Grant number: 32003B\_135272.

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article.

\*Correspondence to: Yara Banz, Institute of Pathology, University of Bern, Murtenstrasse 31, CH-3010 Bern, Switzerland.

Email: yara.banz@pathology.unibe.ch

Published online 10 April 2013 in Wiley Online Library (wileyonlinelibrary.com)

DOI: 10.1002/cyto.a.22287

© 2013 International Society for Advancement of Cytometry



Cytometry Part A • 83A: 636-647, 2013

#### Abstract

Commercially available assays for the simultaneous detection of multiple inflammatory and cardiac markers in porcine blood samples are currently lacking. Therefore, this study was aimed at developing a bead-based, multiplexed flow cytometric assay to simultaneously detect porcine cytokines [interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor alpha], chemokines (IL-8 and monocyte chemotactic protein 1), growth factors [basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), vascular endothelial growth factor, and platelet-derived growth factor-bb], and injury markers (cardiac troponin-I) as well as complement activation markers (C5a and sC5b-9). The method was based on the Luminex xMAP technology, resulting in the assembly of a 6- and 11-plex from the respective individual singleplex situation. The assay was evaluated for dynamic range, sensitivity, cross-reactivity, intra-assay and interassay variance, spike recovery, and correlation between multiplex and commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay as well as the respective singleplex. The limit of detection ranged from 2.5 to 30,000 pg/ml for all analytes (6- and 11-plex assays), except for soluble C5b-9 with a detection range of 2–10,000 ng/ml (11-plex). Typically, very low cross-reactivity (<3% and <1.4% by 11- and 6-plex, respectively) between analytes was found. Intra-assay variances ranged from 4.9 to 7.4% (6-plex) and 5.3 to 12.9% (11-plex). Interassay variances for cytokines were between 8.1 and 28.8% (6-plex) and 10.1 and 26.4% (11plex). Correlation coefficients with singleplex assays for 6-plex as well as for 11-plex were high, ranging from 0.988 to 0.997 and 0.913 to 0.999, respectively. In this study, a bead-based porcine 11-plex and 6-plex assay with a good assay sensitivity, broad dynamic range, and low intra-assay variance and cross-reactivity was established. These assays therefore represent a new, useful tool for the analysis of samples generated from experiments with pigs. © 2013 International Society for Advancement of Cytometry

#### Key terms

xMAP technology; multiplex flow cytometry; bead-based immunoassay; cytokines; porcine

**PIGS** have been widely used as biomedical research models over the past decades (1). Based on their comparative anatomic and physiologic characteristics (2), they represent a suitable model species for investigation of a large number of human diseases and for technical developments in surgery or anesthesia. Animal experiments using pigs have made valuable contributions not only in the field of human medicine, including research of the cardiovascular (3,4) system, but also in the field of critical and intensive care medicine (5,6).

For the evaluation of such experiments, analyses of blood samples for the detection of cytokine profiles or organ-specific markers are indispensable tools. Cytokine levels are traditionally measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) allowing analysis of only a single marker at a time. These tests may be rather expensive and time consuming. In particular, the assessment of multiple markers may require a considerable volume of serum or plasma. This may be a limiting factor in

			CAPTU	JRE ANTIBODIES		DETI	ECTION ANT	IBODIES	RECOMBI	NANT PROTEIN
MAR	KER	CATALOG NUMBER	CLONE	SOURCE	COUPLING CONCENTRATION $(\mu G/ML)$	CATALOG NUMBER	CLONE	SOURCE	CATALOG NUMBER	SOURCE
1	IL-1 $\beta$	MAB6811	77724	R&D	20	BAF681	pAb	R&D	681-PI	R&D
2	IL-6	AF686	pAb	R&D	20	BAF686	pAb	R&D	686-PI	R&D
3	IL-8	MAB5351	105105	R&D	20	BAF535	pAb	R&D	535-PI	R&D
4	IL-10	MAB6931	148801	R&D	20	ASC9109	mAb	Invitrogen	693-PI	R&D
5	TNF-α	MAB6902	103304	R&D	20	BAF690	103302	R&D	690-PT	R&D
6	cTn-I	Ab19615	19C7	Abcam	15	4T21/2B	pAb	HyTest	8T53P	HyTest
7	C5a		T13/9	MBM	20		pAb	MBM		MBM
8	sC5b-9	5010	aE11	Diatec	25	A706	mAb	Quidel	A127	CompTech
9	MCP-1	500-P34	pAb	PeproTech	20	PBB0089S	pAb	King Biotech	RP0017S	King Biotech
10	bFGF	500-P18	pAb	PeproTech	20	500-18Bt	pAb	PeproTech	100-18B	PeproTech
11	VEGF	500-P10	pAb	PeproTech	20	BAF293	pAb	R&D	293-VE	R&D
12	PDGF-bb	500-P47	pAb	PeproTech	20	500-P47Bt	pAb	PeproTech	100-14B	PeproTech

Table 1. Overview of all the reagents and diluents used for the multiplex immunoassay to detect porcine cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and cTn-l

mAb, monoclonal antibody; pAb, polyclonal antibody; coupling concentration, antibody concentration for coupling assay.

Abcam: Abcam (Cambridge, MA); CompTech: Complement Technology (Tyler, TX); Diatec: Diatec Monoclonals AS (Oslo, Norway); HyTest: HyTest (Turku, Einland); Invitrogen: Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA); King Biotech: Kingfisher Biotech (Saint Paul, MN); MBM: MBM Sciencebridge GmbH (Gottingen, Germany); PepriTech: PeproTech EC (London, UK); R&D: R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN).

which minimal sample volume is available as is the case from microdialysis studies or long experiments that require serial testing of multiple parameters. Besides, cytokines themselves may alter each other's function and regulate the production of other cytokines (7), rendering cytokine profiles or ratios more valuable than single cytokine measurements (8). For these reasons, multiplex flow cytometry by the xMAP Technology has rapidly established itself (9,10).

Multiplexed bead-based immunoassays for quantitation of human cytokines have been described in the past years (11–13), and several multiplexed cytokine detection assays are now commercially available to detect human, mouse, and rat cytokines based on xMAP technology. Multiplex kits for porcine cytokines are commercially available. However, no such kits for porcine markers combining cytokines, complement activation markers, and growth factors/angiogenesis factors are currently available. A major limitation for the development and use of porcine multiplex assays has been the lack of specific antibody pairs. Only relatively few reagents are currently available commercially for the detection of selected markers. In addition, microsphere-based multiplex assays for the detection of porcine cytokines have been recently reported (14–16).

In this article, we describe the development of a novel assay to detect porcine proinflammatory cytokines [interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1], the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, growth factors [basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), plate-let-derived growth factor-bb (PDGF-bb)], complement activation markers [C5a, soluble (s)C5b-9], and a cardiac marker [cardiac troponin (cTn)-I]. We have developed an 11-plex assay including all parameters besides cTn-I (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , C5a, sC5b-9, MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF, and PDGF-bb) and

a 6-plex assay with a subset of the markers of the 11-plex assay plus cTn-I (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , and cTn-I). As a multiplex for cytokine detection, this assay may serve as a tool to determine the "inflammation fingerprint" in a given pig experiment, and as a 6- or 11-plex may be particularly useful in, for example, the context of studying cardiac, limb, or general ischemia/reperfusion injury or models of shock.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Technology

The described assays are based on Luminex xMAP technology, a multiplexed sandwich immunoassay technique performed on the surface of 5.5- $\mu$ m polystyrene beads. Details of the assay principle have been published elsewhere (17) and are available online (Bio-Plex Suspension Array System by Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The system was primarily set up as a single plex and assembled stepwise to a multiplex assay (see below).

#### **Bead Coupling**

Carboxylated polystyrene beads [catalog no. 171-5060(24), (25), (27), (28), (35), (36), (38), (43), (44), (46), (50), (54), (56)] and the Bio-Plex Amine Coupling Kit (catalog no. 171-406001) were purchased from Bio-Rad, and coupling procedures were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. All traces of sodium azide were removed prior to use by dialysis (Slide-A-Lyzer MINI Dialysis Units, Pierce, Rockford, IL).

With the exception of polyclonal antibodies to detect porcine IL-6, MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF, PDGF-bb, and cTn-I, monoclonal mouse antibodies were used in the first step of the sandwich immunoassay (Table 1). The anti-human bFGF, VEGF, PDGF-bb, sC5b-9, and cTn-I antibodies were found to cross-react with porcine antigen; all other antibodies were

637

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

described by the manufacturers to be specific for pig. The amount of antibody needed for a successful coupling reaction and assay performance was between 15 and 25  $\mu$ g per 1.25 million beads. The efficiency of antibody coupling was validated using a biotin-conjugated antibody directed against the Fc region of the respective coupled antibody followed by streptavidin-PE by measuring the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) on the Bio-Plex platform. MFI > 2000 was taken to indicate successful coupling against a reaction using coupled beads with streptavidin-PE only as background. An example of the original sampling is shown in a histogram of double discriminator gating and a bead map with regions for the 11-plex setting is shown in the supplementary figure.

#### **Multiplex Assay**

All details concerning origin of reagents used for the assay are listed in Table 1. Antibody-coupled beads were diluted in assay diluent [a mixture (1:1) of PBS and 0.5% BSA pH 7.2 and Tris pH 7.6] at a concentration of 2500 beads per 50  $\mu$ l. Bead suspension (50  $\mu$ l per well) was added to a microplate (MultiScreen HTS 1.2-µm Durapore Membrane, Millipore Corporate, Billerica, MA). Following washing with wash buffer [a mixture (1:1) of PBS 0.1 M pH 7.2 and Tris 0.5 M pH 7.2], 50 µl of standards/samples diluted in assay buffer containing 0.5% polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) and 0.8% polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) were added to the wells. Incubation was performed for 30-60 min at room temperature, protected from light under continuous gentle shaking, and followed by three washing steps. The biotinylated detection antibodies were diluted in assay buffer to the concentration of 1  $\mu$ g/ml and 25  $\mu$ l per well. The detection antibody solution was added and incubated on the shaker for another 30 min in the dark. After three washing steps, streptavidin-R-PE (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was added (at 1  $\mu$ g/ml). After 10 min of incubation and washing, the plate was subsequently analyzed by the Bio-Plex reader.

#### **Dynamic Range and Limit of Detection**

Standard curves with large ranges were set up to determine the dynamic range of the assay: concentrations from 2.5 to 10,000 pg/ml (PDGF-bb), 2.5–15,000 pg/ml (IL-8), 5–15,000 pg/ml (MCP-1, bFGF, and VEGF), 5–30,000 pg/ml (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-10), 10–25,000 pg/ml (C5a), 5–24,000 pg/ml (TNF- $\alpha$ ), 10–10,000 pg/ml (cTn-I), and 2–10,000 ng/ml (sC5b-9) (11-plex, Table 2; 6-plex, Fig. 1).

Determination of the "standard recovery" (known as back calculation of standards) is used to assess the quality of a curve fit by comparing calculated concentrations, which are based on the standard curve calculated by a five-parameter logistic equation, to expected concentrations (ratio of observed to expected known amount, expressed as a percentage) (18). By definition, the part of the standard curve showing standard recovery percentages between 70 and 130% was considered acceptable and defined as the dynamic range (Bio-Rad Principles of Curve Fitting for Multiplex Sandwich Immunoassays, Rev B). Ten replicates of the zero standard were run to identify the average fluorescence intensity and standard deviation. The lowest limit of detection (LLOD) was defined as the lowest concentration of the standard dilution

							anges					
		IL-1 $\beta$	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	$TNF-\alpha$	MCP-1	bFGF	VEGF	PDGF-bb	C5a	sC5b-9
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	(ng/ml)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	11-plex LLOD <sup>a</sup> (pg/ml) Range <sup>b</sup> (pg/ml)	5 5—30,000	5 5—30,000	5 5—15,000	5 5—30,000	10 5-24,000	10 5-15,000	10 5-15,000	10 5-15,000	2.5 5-10,000	10 10–25,000	2 2-10,000
6-plex         5         5         10           LLOD <sup>a</sup> (pg/ml)         5         5         10           Range <sup>b</sup> (pg/ml)         5-30,000         5-15,000         5-24,000         10-10,000		IL-1 $\beta$ (pg/ml)	IL-6 (pg/ml)	IL-8 (pg/ml)	IL-10 (pg/ml)	TNF-a (pg/ml)	cTn-I (pg/ml)					
Range <sup>b</sup> (pg/ml) 5–30,000 2.5–30,000 5–15,000 5–30,000 5–24,000 10–10,000	6-plex LLOD <sup>a</sup> (pg/ml)	ß	S	5	c,	10	10					
	Range <sup>b</sup> (pg/ml)	5-30,000	2.5 - 30,000	5-15,000	5-30,000	5-24,000	10 - 10,000					

Multiplex Analysis of Porcine Inflammation Markers



**Figure 1.** Standards' recovery curves. Standard dilution curves for recombinant proteins from 11-plex (A and B) showing the range of the curves with a standards' recovery value between 70 and 130%. Data were generated with a five-parametric regression formula using the Bio-Plex Manager software and plotted in a log—log curve. A representative curve for each parameter is shown. Each presented point corresponds to an average fluorescence value of at least 100 analyzed beads for the individual parameter.

with an average fluorescence intensity of two standard deviations above the average fluorescence intensity of the zero standard. It provides a reasonable limit to differentiate between an actual minimal amount of sample and background noise and provides more valuable information concerning the minimal detectable amount of a specific protein than the dynamic range, which expresses the range of the detectable concentration in relation to the quality of curve fit. Data were obtained and analyzed using the Bio-Plex-manager Software 6.1 (Bio-Rad).

#### **Cross-Reactivity**

To analyze cross-reactivity, two tests were performed:

 Standard cross-reactivity: Single standards containing one of the recombinant proteins at a known concentration were run in the presence of all capture beads and all biotinylated reporters. Obtained fluorescence intensities were compared

Cytometry Part A • 83A: 636-647, 2013

with the average background values of five replicates of the zero standard. In case of cross-reactivity, the concentration of a particular analyte was obtained from a standard curve, and the detection by nonrelevant antibodies was expressed as a percentage of the actual analyte concentration [(observed concentration/actual concentration)  $\times$  100].

 Reporter cross-reactivity: Standards containing all recombinant proteins at known concentration were run in the presence of all capture beads and single biotinylated reporter. Percentage of cross-reactivity was calculated according to the same formula as for standard cross-reactivity.

#### Reproducibility

Porcine plasma samples/standard diluent-only were spiked with a known concentration of recombinant protein, aliquoted, and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until use. To determine intra-assay and interassay variance, four to five replicates of each spiked sample

						RECON	ABINANT PR	OTEINS	-			
BEADS		IL-1β (PG/ML) 8554	IL-6 (PG/ML) 8000	IL-8 (PG/ML) 8554	IL-10 (PG/ML) 4000	TNF-α (PG/ML) 9000	MCP-1 (PG/ML) 10,000	BFGF (PG/ML) 10,000	VEGF (PG/ML) 10,000	PDGF-BB (PG/ML) 10,000	C5A (PG/ML) 27,200	SC5B-9 (NG/ML) 3333
	IL-1 $\beta$	_	Ν	0.5%	Ν	Ν	1.5%	1%	1%	2.7%	< 0.1%	0.1%
	IL-6	< 0.1%	_	< 0.1%	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.6%	1.1%	2.5%	< 0.1%	< 0.1%
	IL-8	1%	Ν	_	Ν	Ν	Ν	1.5%	Ν	1.2%	0.2%	< 0.1%
	IL-10	< 0.1%	Ν	< 0.1%	_	< 0.1%	0.9%	0.7%	1.5%	2%	Ν	Ν
	TNF-α	0.4%	Ν	Ν	0.1%	-	0.9%	0.5%	0.9%	0.8%	Ν	0.5%
	C5a	Ν	< 0.1%	0.3%	< 0.1%	Ν	2%	1.9%	1%	1.9%	-	0.2%
	MCP-1	2%	0.4%	0.6%	1.6%	1.5%	_	1.1%	0.3%	0.5%	< 0.1%	0.3%
	bFGF	0.4%	Ν	Ν	Ν	< 0.1%	Ν	_	1%	2.5%	Ν	0.1%
	VEGF	< 0.1%	Ν	< 0.1%	Ν	< 0.1%	0.1%	0.3%	_	1%	Ν	< 0.1%
	PDGF-bb	0.4%	0.3%	0.5%	Ν	< 0.1%	Ν	0.4%	0.3%	-	< 0.1%	< 0.1%
	sC5b-9	<0.1%	Ν	<0.1%	Ν	Ν	Ν	1.1%	2.6%	3%	Ν	_

 Table 3. Analysis of cross-reactivity between reagents (11-plex)

N = below detectable range.

(50  $\mu$ l) were either read on the same plate or on different plates. The obtained values were compared, and the respective coefficient of variation was calculated by the following formula: coefficient of variation = (standard deviation/average) × 100.

#### **Spike Recovery**

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) plasma samples or EDTA plasma prediluted in standard/sample diluent were spiked with known amounts of recombinant proteins and analyzed to determine the proximity of the expected value to the actual value measured in the spiked plasma. This method assessed variability due to assay preparation, the interference of substances present in the sample or sample matrix, and the regression analysis (19). In addition, sample diluent-only was spiked with recombinant proteins and tested accordingly.

# Correlation Between 6-plex/11-plex with Respective Singleplex

Standard/sample diluent-only was spiked with different amounts of recombinant proteins (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10,

and TNF- $\alpha$ ) and analyzed with 6-plex and 11-plex assays as well as singleplex assays. The results were evaluated by correlation with the respective cytokine from 6-plex with corresponding singleplex assays. Similarly, all parameters from the 11-plex assay were evaluated by correlation with the respective singleplex.

#### **Sample Testing**

To evaluate how applicable the developed multiplex assay is for the analysis of actual experimental porcine samples, for instance, from an experimental setting of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) or extracorporeal limb perfusion, EDTA plasma samples were analyzed at different time points [baseline, during reperfusion (120 min), and during euthanasia or off CPB]. For the 11-plex, samples were obtained from extracorporeal porcine limb perfusion experiments. This study was aimed at assessment of ischemia/reperfusion (I/R)-induced endothelial activation/injury in amputated pig limbs following prolonged preservation by the use of modified extracorporeal perfusion (20). Briefly, porcine forelimbs were perfused with autologous

	IL-1 $\beta$	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	TNF-α	MCP-1	bFGF	VEGF	PDGF-bb	C5a	sC5b-9
11-plex											
Intra-assay (%) $(n = 8)$	7.1	12.1	11.5	9.5	5.3	8.1	7.7	12.9	9.4	9.1	12.1
Interassay (%) $(n = 3)$	18.4	14.4	24.0	16.6	15.2	10.1	15.1	17.3	26.4	15.2	14.0
	IL-1 $\beta$	IL-6	IL-8	IL-10	TNF-α	cTn-I <sup>a</sup>					
6-plex											
Intra-assay (%) $(n = 6)$	5.0	5.5	5.9	7.4	5.1	4.9					
Interassay (%) $(n = 3)$	10.6	8.1	11.9	10.1	12.6	28.8					

Table 4. Intra-assay	and interassav	variance of the	multiplex setup
			multiplex setup

Intra-assay variance: eight replicates of spiked samples at different concentrations measured on the same plate. Coefficient of variation =  $[(standard deviation/average) \times 100]$ . Interassay variation: the coefficient of variation for three replicates of distinct concentrations measured on different plates at different time points.

<sup>a</sup> For each assay (by 6-plex), standard dilutions for cTn-l were newly prepared, whereas cytokines were spiked and stored at -80°C.

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

blood using extracorporeal circulation (ECC) for 12 h following 6 h of cold ischemia (4°C). The limbs were subsequently replanted with a 7-day follow-up. EDTA plasma samples were analyzed for the extent of reperfusion injury. Care and use of animals in the study were in compliance with the European Convention on Animal Care and the respective Swiss National Guidelines. The study was approved by the Animal Experimentation Committee of the Canton of Bern, Switzerland.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All data obtained from the multiplex assays were generated with a five-parametric regression formula using the Bio-Plex Manager software 6.1 (Bio-Rad), and standard curves were constructed by a five-parameter regression formula. Prism version 5.0b (Graphpad Software, La Jolla, CA) software was used for all analyses.

#### RESULTS

Setting up multiplex assays requires identifying the specific antibody pairs, the appropriate diluents as well as establishing optimized dilution factors. Different diluents were tested for their potential to reduce nonspecific binding or so-called matrix effects. In the case of experimental samples, these effects may be mediated by heterophilic antibodies, although these have previously only been described in human sera (21). In the optimized assay, 0.8% PVP and 0.5% PVA were applied as adjuvants to the standard/sample diluent, as previously described (22). Commercially available high-performance ELISA buffer/assay diluent was chosen as a diluent for the detection antibodies.

## **Lowest Limit of Detection**

The assay achieved a LLOD of 5 pg/ml for IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-8, 10 pg/ml for TNF- $\alpha$ , cTn-I, C5a, MCP-1, bFGF, and VEGF, and 2 ng/ml for sC5b-9, respectively (6-plex and 11-plex; Table 2).

#### **Cross-Reactivity**

1. Standard cross-reactivity: Tests with nonrelevant cytokine standards showed no fluorescence intensity greater than two standard deviations above the average background value of five replicates of the zero standard. Recombinant cTn-I appeared to interact with all nonrelevant capture antibodies to a certain degree, showing a cross-reactivity of 0.8% with the TNF- $\alpha$  antibody pair and between 1.1 and 1.4% with IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10 antibodies (6-plex setting).

Recombinant MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF, and PDGF-bb showed interaction with all nonrelevant capture antibodies to a certain degree, with a cross-reactivity of 0.5–3% (11-plex; Table 3).

2. Tests for reporter cross-reactivity showed minimal detection using the cTn-I-specific antibody as a single biotinylated reporter. Cross-reactivity was 0.8% for IL-1 $\beta$ , 0.9% for IL-8, and 0.7% for IL-10 (6-plex). However, there was no significant recognition of recombinant proteins by nonrelevant detection antibodies (6- and 11-plex).

		STD. DILU	ENTS	EDTA PLASMA UI	NDILUTED	EDTA-P + STD. DI	ILUENT (1:5)	EDTA-P + STD. DII	LUENT (1:10)
	EXPECTED	OBSERVED		OBSERVED		OBSERVED		OBSERVED	
MARKER	CONCENTRATION	CONCENTRATION	% RECOVERY	CONCENTRATION	% RECOVERY	CONCENTRATION	% RECOVERY	CONCENTRATION	% RECOVERY
IL-1 $\beta$	2000 pg/ml	$2006.0 \pm 101.6$	$100.3\pm5.1$	$695.9\pm20.5$	$34.8\pm1.0$	$1363.0\pm43.7$	$68.1 \pm 2.2$	$2015.0 \pm 237.1$	$100.8\pm11.8$
IL-6	4000 pg/ml	$4031.0\pm95.1$	$100.8\pm2.4$	$523.0\pm112.1$	$13.1 \pm 2.8$	$2310.0\pm151.9$	$57.8\pm3.8$	$3967.0\pm10.9$	$99.2\pm0.3$
IL-8	5000 pg/ml	$5358.0 \pm 808.4$	$107.2\pm16.2$	$1490.0\pm56.6$	$29.8\pm1.1$	$3691.0\pm513.1$	$73.8\pm10.3$	$5002.0 \pm 1197.0$	$100.0\pm23.9$
IL-10	2000 pg/ml	$1973.0\pm118.0$	$98.6\pm5.9$	$268.9\pm13.8$	$13.5\pm0.7$	$1284.0\pm40.3$	$64.2\pm2.0$	$1563.0 \pm 13.5$	$78.2\pm0.7$
$TNF-\alpha$	1300 pg/ml	$1320.0\pm19.7$	$101.6\pm1.5$	$551.5\pm12.2$	$42.4\pm0.9$	$1088.0\pm35.5$	$83.7\pm2.7$	$1327.0\pm18.6$	$102.1\pm1.4$
MCP-1	5000 pg/ml	$5530.0 \pm 601.4$	$110.6\pm12.0$	$1263.0\pm 60.9$	$25.3 \pm 1.2$	$3838.0 \pm 110.5$	$76.8\pm2.2$	$4861.0\pm54.2$	$97.2\pm1.1$
bFGF	2000 pg/ml	$2168.0\pm59.9$	$108.4\pm3.0$	$605.9\pm41.9$	$30.3\pm2.1$	$1190.0\pm43.1$	$59.5\pm2.2$	$1525.0\pm185.2$	$76.3\pm9.3$
VEGF	5000 pg/ml	$5263.0 \pm 156.4$	$105.3\pm3.1$	$1443.0\pm60.0$	$28.9\pm1.2$	$2983.0 \pm 125.1$	$59.6\pm2.5$	$4171.0 \pm 193.3$	$83.4 \pm 3.9$
PDGF-bb	2000 pg/ml	$1999.0\pm30.6$	$99.9\pm1.5$	$510.2\pm24.7$	$25.5\pm1.2$	$1290.0\pm45.4$	$64.5\pm2.3$	$1539.0 \pm 122.7$	$76.9\pm6.1$
C5a	3400 pg/ml	$3653.0 \pm 150.9$	$107.4\pm4.4$	$1153.0 \pm 107.3$	$33.9\pm3.2$	$2010.0\pm296.5$	$59.1\pm8.7$	$2680.0 \pm 288.2$	$78.8\pm8.5$
C5b-9	1000 ng/ml	$1107.0\pm56.4$	$110.7\pm5.6$	$227.2\pm28.8$	$22.7 \pm 2.9$	$644.8\pm56.3$	$64.5\pm5.6$	$963.7\pm136.0$	$96.4\pm13.6$

Table 5. Spike recovery

Std. diluent = standard/sample diluent; EDTA-P + Std. diluent (1:5/1:10) = porcine EDTA plasma prediluted in standard/sample diluent to 1:5 or 1:10



**Figure 2.** Spike recovery in plasma samples and diluent-only by 6-plex. Spike recovery to determine the proximity of the expected value to the actual value measured (6-plex): EDTA plasma samples were spiked with different amounts of recombinant protein (3200, 400, and 50 pg/ml) and analyzed to determine the proximity of the measured values to the expected ones [% recovery = (observed – neat)/expected)  $\times$  100] (A). Although spike recovery was consistent for the individual parameter measured, recovery percentages between different parameters varied for spiked plasma samples. In addition, diluent-only was spiked with the respective recombinant proteins (B). Recovery percentages were consistent for spiked diluent-only samples (between 75 and 115%). Data are expressed as average  $\pm$  standard deviation.

#### Reproducibility

The coefficients of variation for intra-assay replicates lay between 5.3–12.9% (mean: 9.5%, 11-plex) and 4.9–7.4% (mean: 5.6%, 6-plex) for all samples. Interassay replicates showed coefficients of variation, which ranged from 10.1 to 26.4% (mean: 10.8%, 11-plex) and 8.1 to 28.8% (mean: 13.7%, 6-plex; Table 4).

#### **Spike Recovery**

Depending on the parameter tested, recovery values for spiked plasma samples varied from 13.1 to 42.4% and 15.8 to 114.7% for the 11- and 6-plex, respectively (Table 5 and Fig. 2). For the individual parameter, however, the percentage of recovery was fairly consistent within the different concentrations. To test for matrix effects, EDTA plasma was prediluted (1:5 or 1:10) in a dose-dependent manner with standard/sample diluent and spiked with a known concentration of the recombinant protein. The percent recovery of spiked, prediluted EDTA plasma samples showed increased recovery (% recovery between 57.8 to 83.0% and 76.3 to 102.1% for 1:5 and 1:10 predilution, respectively) when compared with undiluted plasma, suggesting a relevant matrix on spiking. Furthermore, spiking of recombinant proteins in standard/sample diluentonly without plasma showed far less variation between parameters and consistent recovery values between 90 and 118% and 75 and 115% for 11- and 6-plex, respectively.

#### Correlation Between Multiplex Assay (6-plex or 11-plex) and Respective Singleplex

The concentration of the majority of samples measured with multiplex correlated well with the concentrations measured in the respective singleplex. Correlation coefficients ( $r^2$ ) were 0.9888 for TNF- $\alpha$ , 0.9945 for IL-1 $\beta$ , 0.9965 for cTn-I, 0.9967 for IL-8, 0.9968 for IL-6, and 0.9976 for IL-10 by 6plex and singleplex (Fig. 3A). Similarly, high correlation coefficients ( $r^2$ ) between 11-plex and the respective singleplex assays ranging from 0.913 for sC5b-9 to 0.999 for bFGF were found (Fig. 3B).

#### **Sample Testing**

The course of cytokines, growth factors, and complement activation markers in EDTA plasma samples of a model of ECC limb perfusion was analyzed by 11-plex assay at different time intervals of perfusion as shown in Figure 4. Increased concentrations of cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1), growth factors (VEGF), and complement activation markers

Multiplex Analysis of Porcine Inflammation Markers



**Figure 3.** Correlation between 6-plex and singleplex as well as 11-plex and singleplex. Standard/sample diluent-only spiked with different amounts of recombinant cytokines were measured in the 6-plex assay as well as in the singleplex. Correlation between 6-plex and corresponding singleplex was good with coefficients ( $r^2$ ) of 0.9888 for TNF- $\alpha$ , 0.9945 for IL-1 $\beta$ , 0.9965 for cTn-I, 0.9967 for IL-8, 0.9968 for IL-6, and 0.9976 for IL-10 (A). The 11-plex assay also correlated well with corresponding singleplex assays,  $r^2$  ranging from 0.9133 (sC5b-9) to 0.9990 for bFGF (B).

(C5a and sC5b-9) were observed during ECC. IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , bFGF, and PDGF-bb showed only a minimal increase during ECC. However, the I/R injury-induced inflammatory response and complement activation appear to be of limited duration in this model as activation markers dropped back down to baseline levels by the end of the 7-day replantation period.

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, an 11-plex assay for the simultaneous detection of porcine IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , C5a, sC5b-9, MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF, and PDGF-bb as well as a 6-plex assay including five cytokines and cTn-I was set up following initial optimization of all individual parameters in a singleplex setting.

Although various studies have described the setup of multiplex assays for the detection of human neutralizing monoclonal antibodies (23) or human cytokines (13,24,25),

Cytometry Part A • 83A: 636-647, 2013

only few studies have been currently published describing multiplex detection of porcine cytokines (14-16). The potential advantage of the current assay, apart from including a larger number of cytokines, is the addition of complement activation markers and growth factors as well as tissue-specific injury markers (cTn-I). The multiplex assay may be used in more general porcine models of tissue injury or, with the addition of cTn-I, in particular for the investigation of cardiac injury, for example, in myocardial infarction. However, the assay sensitivity for the complement markers (C5a and sC5b-9) as well as growth factors (VEGF and PDGF-bb) was compromised when combined with cTn-I. In addition, with the increase of background values, the LLOD of these markers was high in the presence of cTn-I antibodies. Thus, two multiplex panels were developed as an 11-plex and an overlapping 6plex with the addition of cTn-I.

643



Figure 3. (Continued)

Sensitivity of the assay (for cytokines) in terms of the lowest level of detection was comparable with commercial ELISAs. In addition, the dynamic detection range for all analytes was significantly broader in our bead-based assays. For cytokines, the range was higher than in commercial ELISAs, eliminating the need for multiple dilutions of high-concentration samples. Moreover, the simultaneous detection of analytes insured an internal consistency.

Standard cross-reactivity tests showed some recognition of recombinant PDGF-bb protein by all beads in the multiplex setting. As a certain amount of cross-reactivity was observed with all beads, this phenomenon is most likely due to nonspecific binding of MCP-1, bFGF, VEGF, and PDGF-bb to the beads than due to recognition of the protein by other capture antibodies. This may also explain the minimal cross-reactivity found in reporter cross-reactivity tests when analyzing all beads with detection antibodies. As far as intra-assay and interassay variance is concerned, the presented multiplex assay showed values comparable with and within an acceptable range when compared with those observed by others (13,26).

Although recovery values for spiked plasma samples varied to a certain extent, the percentage of recovery was stable within each tested parameter. By prediluting the EDTA plasma in standard/sample diluent, the percent recovery of each parameter following spiking was dose dependently increased to a maximum. This indicates that the low recovery values were due to absorption of the respective recombinant protein following spiking into the plasma samples. Furthermore, there

Multiplex Analysis of Porcine Inflammation Markers



**Figure 4.** Plasma cytokine levels measured during extracorporeal circulation. Samples from porcine forelimb perfusion experiments in ECC models were used to validate the established 11-plex assay. EDTA plasma levels of cytokines, MCP-1, VEGF, PDGF-bb, bFGF, C5a, and sC5b-9 were reanalyzed by 11-plex at different time points as shown in the figure. During perfusion, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, MCP-1, and VEGF as well as complement activation marker, C5a and sC5b-9, levels were significantly higher at perfusion time points than baseline, as shown by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction (\*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.01; \*\*\*P < 0.00). Concentrations of all measured markers dropped to normal after replantation.

was a good correlation between the results obtained in singleplex versus 6-plex or singleplex versus 11-plex. Additionally, cytokine concentrations measured by 6-plex and 11-plex assays showed correlation coefficients ( $r^2$ ), 0.9720 for IL-8, 0.9736 for TNF- $\alpha$ , 0.9873 for IL-6, 0.9904 for IL-1 $\beta$ , and 0.9995 for IL-10, indicating for a good sensitivity of both assays. In contrast, recovery percentages in diluent-only spiked samples were more consistent and generally higher, most likely due to significantly reduced matrix effects. Taken together, interassay variance and spike recovery values of some analytes showed deviations from expected values; however, relative concentrations of each parameter were consistent.

Cytokine concentrations in the multiplex assay correlated well with those measured using commercial ELISAs. Although in certain longitudinal studies, such as in the illustrated model, relative cytokine values may be adequate to evaluate the follow-up, some experimental setups require exact values. In general, however, absolute concentrations of antigens as measured by ELISA

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

or similar technique have to be regarded with caution as values may differ significantly among commercially available kits (27). In multiplex analysis, at least the issue of repeated testing (on different plates and different days) may be reduced as up to 80 samples, and in the current assay, up to 11 parameters can be measured simultaneously on one single plate.

The established 6-plex and 11-plex assays were validated using samples from in vivo porcine experiments in CPB (data not shown) and ECC models, respectively (28). The increase in IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , and cTn-I on reperfusion post-CPB fit in with data from other authors. The course of IL-10 post-CPB has, in part, been shown to be biphasic, with an initial drop in early reperfusion (29). However, an early increase has been described by others (30). In the limb perfusion model with ECC, plasma samples were measured using 11plex. IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, MCP-1, C5a, and sC5b-9 as well as VEGF levels were increased significantly from baseline during ECC, and all markers were again back to normal at the end of the replantation period. Endothelial activation due to I/R injury induces inflammatory reactions, for example, shedding of endothelial glycocalyx, activation of complement and coagulation cascades, and increased cytokine release, causing endothelial dysfunction (31-34). In this study, we observed that prolonged preservation of amputated pig limbs using ECC has no effects on I/R-induced injury as the results fit in with the expected course of inflammatory markers within this experimental setting (20).

In conclusion, we were able to establish a bead-based multiplex assay to detect porcine cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- $\alpha$ ), chemokines (IL-8 and MCP-1), growth factors (bFGF, VEGF, and PDGF-bb), injury markers (cTn-I), and complement activation markers (C5a and sC5b-9) in porcine blood samples with a good assay sensitivity, broad dynamic range, and low intra-assay variance. The simultaneous detection of analytes allows for an internal consistency and greatly increases the amount of information obtained from a single volume-limited sample. This method should prove a valuable tool in the analysis of porcine samples obtained from experimental setups using pig as a model animal to study various states of disease, including cardiovascular disease and shock.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The authors thank the team of the Institute of Clinical Chemistry of the University Hospital of Bern for support and technical assistance.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

A.K.B. and J.L. performed most of the experimental work (data collection), analyzed and interpreted the data, performed statistical analyses, and wrote and critically revised the manuscript. R.R. participated in the concept and design of the study, helped to write and critically edit the manuscript, and carried a part of the overall responsibility. Y.B. participated in the concept and design of the study, helped to write and critically edit the manuscript, and carried a part of the overall responsibility. All authors read and approved the final version of the submitted manuscript.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Bustad LK, McClellan RO. Swine in biomedical research. Science 1966;152:1526– 1530.
- Swindle MM, Smith AC, Hepburn BJ. Swine as models in experimental surgery. J Invest Surg 1988;1:65–79.
- Mickelson HE, Qayumi AK, Jamieson WR, Smith CL, Gillespie KD, van den Broek JE. Swine as a model for cardiovascular research: Improved cardiopulmonary bypass techniques. J Invest Surg 1990;3:253–260.
- Siepe M, Martin J, Sarai K, Sommer P, Schlensak C, Beyersdorf F. Twenty-four hours postoperative results after orthotopic cardiac transplantation in swine. J Card Surg 2007;22:287–294.
- Qing M, Vazquez-Jimenez JF, Klosterhalfen B, Sigler M, Schumacher K, Duchateau J, Messmer BJ, von Bernuth G, Seghaye MC. Influence of temperature during cardiopulmonary bypass on leukocyte activation, cytokine balance, and post-operative organ damage. Shock 2001;15:372–377.
- Goldfarb RD, Dellinger RP, Parrillo JE. Porcine models of severe sepsis: Emphasis on porcine peritonitis. Shock 2005;24 (Suppl 1):75–81.
- O'Garra A, Murphy K. Role of cytokines in determining T-lymphocyte function. Curr Opin Immunol 1994;6:458–466.
- Bozza FA, Salluh JI, Japiassu AM, Soares M, Assis EF, Gomes RN, Bozza MT, Castro-Faria-Neto HC, Bozza PT. Cytokine profiles as markers of disease severity in sepsis: A multiplex analysis. Crit Care 2007;11:R49.
- Morgan E, Varro R, Sepulveda H, Ember JA, Apgar J, Wilson J, Lowe L, Chen R, Shivraj L, Agadir A, et al. Cytometric bead array: A multiplexed assay platform with applications in various areas of biology. Clin Immunol 2004;110: 252-266.
- de Jager W, Rijkers GT. Solid-phase and bead-based cytokine immunoassay: A comparison. Methods 2006;38:294–303.
- Carson RT, Vignali DA. Simultaneous quantitation of 15 cytokines using a multiplexed flow cytometric assay. J Immunol Methods 1999;227:41–52.
- Kellar KL, Kalwar RR, Dubois KA, Crouse D, Chafin WD, Kane BE. Multiplexed fluorescent bead-based immunoassays for quantitation of human cytokines in serum and culture supernatants. Cytometry 2001;45:27–36.
- de Jager W, te Velthuis H, Prakken BJ, Kuis W, Rijkers GT. Simultaneous detection of 15 human cytokines in a single sample of stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 2003;10:133–139.
- Johannisson A, Jonasson R, Dernfalk J, Jensen-Waern M. Simultaneous detection of porcine proinflammatory cytokines using multiplex flow cytometry by the xMAP technology. Cytometry Part A 2006;69A:391–395.
- Bjerre M, Hansen TK, Flyvbjerg A, Tonnesen E. Simultaneous detection of porcine cytokines by multiplex analysis: Development of magnetic bioplex assay. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2009;130:53–58.
- Lawson S, Lunney J, Zuckermann F, Osorio F, Nelson E, Welbon C, Clement T, Fang Y, Wong S, Kulas K, et al. Development of an 8-plex Luminex assay to detect swine cytokines for vaccine development: Assessment of immunity after porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccination. Vaccine 2010;28:5356–5364.
- Vignali DA. Multiplexed particle-based flow cytometric assays. J Immunol Methods 2000;243:243–255.
- Baud M. Data analysis, mathematical modeling. In: Staines N, editor. Methods of Immunological Analysis, Vol. 1: Fundamentals. New York, NY: VCH Publishers; 1993. pp 656–671.
- Davies C. Concepts. In: Wild D, editor. The Immunoassay Handbook, 2nd edition. New York, NY: Nature Publishing Group; 2001. pp78–107.
- Muller S, Constantinescu MA, Kiermeir DM, Gajanayake T, Bongoni AK, Vollbach FH, Meoli M, Plock J, Jenni H, Banic A, et al. Ischemia/reperfusion injury of porcine limbs after extracorporeal perfusion. J Surg Res (in press).
- Martins TB, Pasi BM, Litwin CM, Hill HR. Heterophile antibody interference in a multiplexed fluorescent microsphere immunoassay for quantitation of cytokines in human serum. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 2004;11:325–329.
- Waterboer T, Sehr P, Pawlita M. Suppression of non-specific binding in serological Luminex assays. J Immunol Methods 2006;309:200–204.
- Seideman J, Peritt D. A novel monoclonal antibody screening method using the Luminex-100 microsphere system. J Immunol Methods 2002;267:165–171.
- Heijmans-Antonissen C, Wesseldijk F, Munnikes RJ, Huygen FJ, van der Meijden P, Hop WC, Hooijkaas H, Zijlstra FJ. Multiplex bead array assay for detection of 25 soluble cytokines in blister fluid of patients with complex regional pain syndrome type 1. Mediators Inflamm 2006;2006;28398.
- Toedter G, Hayden K, Wagner C, Brodmerkel C. Simultaneous detection of eight analytes in human serum by two commercially available platforms for multiplex cytokine analysis. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2008;15:42–48.
- Prabhakar U, Eirikis E, Davis HM. Simultaneous quantification of poinflammatory cytokines in human plasma using the LabMAP assay. J Immunol Methods 2002;260:207–218.
- Khan SS, Smith MS, Reda D, Suffredini AF, McCoy JP. Multiplex bead array assays for detection of soluble cytokines: Comparisons of sensitivity and quantitative values among kits from multiple manufacturers. Cytometry Part B 2004;61B:35–39.
- Banz Y, Rieben R, Zobrist C, Meier P, Shaw S, Lanz J, Carrel T, Berdat P. Addition of dextran sulfate to blood cardioplegia attenuates reperfusion injury in a porcine model of cardiopulmonary bypass. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008;34: 653–660.

Multiplex Analysis of Porcine Inflammation Markers
## **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

 Hoedemaekers CW, Pickkers P, Netea MG, van Deuren M, Van der Hoeven JG. Intensive insulin therapy does not alter the inflammatory response in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: A randomized controlled trial [ISRCTN95608630]. Crit Care 2005;9:R790–R797.

-

- Wan IY, Arifi AA, Wan S, Yip JH, Sihoe AD, Thung KH, Wong EM, Yim AP. Beating heart revascularization with or without cardiopulmonary bypass: Evaluation of inflammatory response in a prospective randomized study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;127:1624–1631.
- Reitsma S, Slaaf DW, Vink H, van Zandvoort MA, oude Egbrink MG. The endothelial glycocalyx: Composition, functions, and visualization. Pflugers Arch 2007;454:345–359.
- Rubio-Gayosso I, Platts SH, Duling BR. Reactive oxygen species mediate modification of glycocalyx during ischemia–reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;290:H2247–H2256.
- Laumonier T, Walpen AJ, Maurus CF, Mohacsi PJ, Matozan KM, Korchagina EY, Bovin NV, Vanhove B, Seebach JD, Rieben R. Dextran sulfate acts as an endothelial cell protectant and inhibits human complement and natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity against porcine cells. Transplantation 2003;76:838–843.
- Chenoweth DE, Cooper SW, Hugli TE, Stewart RW, Blackstone EH, Kirklin JW. Complement activation during cardiopulmonary bypass: Evidence for generation of C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins. N Engl J Med 1981;304:497–503.

.

## Paper V

## Regulatory sequences of the porcine *THBD* gene facilitate endothelialspecific expression of bioactive human thrombomodulin in single- and multitransgenic pigs

Annegret Wuensch<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Baehr<sup>1</sup>, <u>Anjan K. Bongoni<sup>2</sup></u>, Elisabeth Kemter<sup>1</sup>, Andreas Blutke<sup>3</sup>, Wiebke Baars<sup>4</sup>, Sonja Haertle<sup>5</sup>, Valeri Zakhartchenko<sup>1</sup>, Mayuko Kurome<sup>1,6</sup>, Barbara Kessler<sup>1</sup>, Claudius Faber<sup>7</sup>, Jan-Michael Abicht<sup>8</sup>, Bruno Reichart<sup>9</sup>, Rüdiger Wanke<sup>3</sup>, Reinhard Schwinzer<sup>4</sup>, Hiroshi Nagashima<sup>6</sup>, Robert Rieben<sup>2</sup>, David Ayares<sup>10</sup>, Eckhard Wolf<sup>1,6\*</sup>, Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>1\*</sup>

**Status:** Accepted for publication in *Transplantation (2013)* 

**Background:** Beside immunological barriers, coagulation incompatibilities between the human blood and the porcine vessel obstruct the xenotransplantation of vascularized organs. Therefore, genetically engineered pigs lacking alpha1,3 galactosyl-galactose transferase gene (GalTKO) and overexpressing human CD46 and human thrombomodulin (hTM) were generated to overcome hyperacute rejection and acute vascular rejection.

**Aim:** We generated and tested (multi-) genetically modified pigs expressing hTM against the problem of impaired activation of coagulation cascade.



Transgenic porcine endothelial cell expressing human thrombomodulin

**Figure:** Schematic of the interaction of porcine and transgenic human thrombomodulin with human thrombin on porcine endothelial surface. Porcine TM-thrombin complex is a poor activator of human protein C and that results in unregulated coagulation activation. Transgenic expression of human TM on porcine endothelial cells could provide beneficial effects, including protein C activation (APC), APC-mediated alteration of gene expression, anti-inflammatory activities, anti-apoptotic activities, and protection of endothelial barrier functions.

**Conclusion:** Our results give an indication that (multi-) genetically modified donor pigs described in this study have the potential to overcome coagulation incompatibilities in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation.

-

•

BASIC AND EXPERIMENTAL RESEARCH

# Regulatory Sequences of the Porcine THBD Gene Facilitate Endothelial-Specific Expression of Bioactive Human Thrombomodulin in Single- and **Multitransgenic Pigs**

Annegret Wuensch,<sup>1,11</sup> Andrea Baehr,<sup>1</sup> Anjan K. Bongoni,<sup>2</sup> Elisabeth Kemter,<sup>1</sup> Andreas Blutke,<sup>3</sup> Wiebke Baars,<sup>4</sup> Sonja Haertle,<sup>5</sup> Valeri Zakhartchenko,<sup>1</sup> Mayuko Kurome,<sup>1,6</sup> Barbara Kessler,<sup>1</sup> Claudius Faber,<sup>7</sup> Jan-Michael Abicht,<sup>8</sup> Bruno Reichart,<sup>9</sup> Ruediger Wanke,<sup>3</sup> Reinhard Schwinzer,<sup>4</sup> Hiroshi Nagashima,<sup>6</sup> Robert Rieben,<sup>2</sup> David Ayares,<sup>10</sup> Eckhard Wolf,<sup>1,6</sup> and Nikolai Klymiuk<sup>1</sup>

Background. Among other mismatches between human and pig, incompatibilities in the blood coagulation systems hamper the xenotransplantation of vascularized organs. The provision of the porcine endothelium with human thrombomodulin (hTM) is hypothesized to overcome the impaired activation of protein C by a heterodimer consisting of human thrombin and porcine TM.

Methods. We evaluated regulatory regions of the THBD gene, optimized vectors for transgene expression, and generated hTM expressing pigs by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Genetically modified pigs were characterized at the molecular, cellular, histological, and physiological levels.

Results. A 7.6-kb fragment containing the entire upstream region of the porcine THBD gene was found to drive a high expression in a porcine endothelial cell line and was therefore used to control hTM expression in transgenic pigs. The abundance of hTM was restricted to the endothelium, according to the predicted pattern, and the transgene expression of hTM was stably inherited to the offspring. When endothelial cells from pigs carrying the hTM transgene—either alone or in combination with an aGalTKO and a transgene encoding the human CD46—were tested in a coagulation assay with human whole blood, the clotting time was increased three- to four-fold (P<0.001) compared to wild-type and aGalTKO/CD46 transgenic endothelial cells. This, for the first time, demonstrated the anticoagulant properties of hTM on porcine endothelial cells in a human whole blood assay.

Conclusions. The biological efficacy of hTM suggests that the (multi-)transgenic donor pigs described here have the potential to overcome coagulation incompatibilities in pig-to-primate xenotransplantation.

Keywords: Xenotransplantation, Coagulation incompatibility, Thrombomodulin, Transgenic donors, Human thrombomodulin, Transgenic donor pigs

(Transplantation 2013;00: 00-00)

This study was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG Transregio Research Unit 535 and Transregio Collaborative Research Center 127) and the Swiss National Science Foundation (32003B\_135272).

- The authors declare no conflicts of interest. Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Gene Center and De-
- partment of Veterinary Sciences, LMU Munich, Germany, Department of Clinical Research, and Graduate School of Cellular and
- Biomedical Sciences, University of Bern, Switzerland.
- Institute of Veterinary Pathology, Center for Clinical Veterinary Medi-cine, LMU Munich, Germany.
- Transplant Laboratory, Medizinische Hochschule Hannover, Germany.
- Department for Veterinary Sciences, LMU Munich, Germany.
- Meiji University International Institute for Bio-Resource Research, Kawasaki, Japan.
- Institute of Pathology, LMU Munich, Germany.
- Department of Anaesthesiology, LMU Munich, Germany. Department of Cardiac Surgery, LMU Munich, Germany.
- Revivicor, Inc., Blacksburg, Virginia.
- Address correspondence to: Dr. Annegret Wuensch, Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Hackerstr. 27, 85764 Oberschleissheim, Germany. E-mail: a.wuensch@gen.vetmed.uni-muenchen.de
- A.W. participated in the design of the study, performed characterization of endothelial cells and participated in data interpretation and writing of the

Transplantation • Volume 00, Number 00, Month, 2013

article. A.Ba. performed genomic analysis of the pigs and managed pig housing. A.K.B. performed analysis of biological function. E.K., A.Bl., and R.W. performed expression analysis of the pigs. W.B. performed evaluation studies of vectors. S.H. performed flow cytometric analysis. M.K., V.Z., and B.K. performed nuclear transfer and embryo transfer. C.F. participated in the analysis of founder pigs. J.M.A. and B.R. participated in the design of the study and data interpretation. R.S. designed evaluation studies of the vectors. H.N. provided scientific support in nuclear transfer. R.R. designed analysis of biological function. D.A. provided multitransgenic pigs. E.W. participated in the design of the study and in data interpretation and writing of the article. N.K. participated in the design of the study, performed bioinformatics analysis and vector construction, and participated in data interpretation and writing of the article.

E.W. and N.K. equally contributed to this study.

Supplemental digital content (SDC) is available for this article. Direct URL citations appear in the printed text, and links to the digital files are provided in the HTML text of this article on the journal's Web site (www.transplantjournal.com).

Received 4 April 2013. Revision requested 25 August 2013. Accepted 15 August 2013.

Copyright © 2013 by Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

ISSN: 0041-1337/13/0000-00

DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182a95cbc

www.transplantjournal.com | 1

Copyright © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

### 2 www.transplantjournal.com

The use of multitransgenic donor pigs, as well as the ad-vanced preoperative and postoperative care of nonhuman primates, has led to impressive progress in the xenotransplantation of vascularized organs over the last decade, tempting one to think about its clinical implementation in the near future (1). In particular, the survival of pig-to-baboon heart transplants for up to 8 months inspires these ambitions (2). Yet, such feats are still exceptional, and the immunosuppressive regimens that have led to these promising data are far from clinical application owing to the severe side effects that result from systemic and high-dose administration of drugs. An appealing approach to circumvent these complications would be the genetic tailoring of donors because this allows the local but sustained application of an active agent. In a recent article, we demonstrated the applicability of such a strategy by using islet transplants from transgenic pigs that sufficiently suppressed T-cell-mediated rejection at the transplant site in humanized mice but reduced the systemic burden of immunosuppression in the recipient by two orders of magnitude (3). Similarly, the coagulation problems that occur in xenotransplantation of vascularized organs (4, 5) might be resolved by using genetically modified donors. Coagulation issues in xenografts have been supposed to occur due to incompatibilities between human blood and the porcine vessel wall, with the main obstacle being the impaired activation of protein C by a heterodimer consisting of human thrombin and porcine thrombomodulin (6). Numerous attempts to overcome this problem have been suggested (reviewed in Cowan et al. (7)), but the most convincing approach would, in any case, be the transgenic expression of the human variant of thrombomodulin (hTM) in donor pigs, in particular as the molecule not only has anticoagulant but also anti-inflammatory properties (8). The beneficial effect of hTM has been demonstrated in early xenoperfusion studies (9, 10), and two models of hTM expressing pigs have been presented recently (11, 12). In contrast to these studies that used ubiquitously active promoters to drive hTM expression, other studies aimed at the identification of regulatory elements to restrict the abundance of a transgene to the endothelial wall (13-15) as the correct balance of the blood coagulation system might require not only the presence of functionally compatible key players but also their tightly controlled expression (16, 17). The multifaceted regulation of thrombomodulin on the transcriptional as well as posttranslational level seems to involve numerous stimulators such as shear stress, hypoxia, reactive oxygen species, free fatty acids, or inflammation (reviewed in Conway (8)) and suggests a THBD promoter to control hTM expression. Although regulatory sequences from different species have been successfully used in numerous transgenic mouse models, species-specific transcriptional initiation has been described in defined physiological processes such as the regulation of pluripotency (18), embryo-maternal communication (19) or immunology (20). Moreover, increasing evidence for a more significant divergence in the transcriptional regulation even between closely related species has been found (21, 22) and the role of specific regulatory elements has been postulated to be more relevant for expression control compared to other parameters such as epigenetic pattern, cellular environment, or the abundance of transcription factors (23). Consequently, transgene expression in the pig might be

### Transplantation • Volume 00, Number 00, Month, 2013

more efficiently initiated by porcine regulatory elements than by orthologous sequences from human or mouse.

Thus, we (i) developed and tested an expression vector for reliable transgene expression in porcine endothelial cells, (ii) generated single- and multitransgenic pigs that exhibit and inherit strong and endothelial-specific expression of hTM, and (iii), for the first time, demonstrated the potential of hTM on transgenic porcine endothelial cells to prolong clotting time in a human whole-blood coagulation assay.

### RESULTS

## Interspecies Comparison of THBD Regulatory Elements

As fundamental characteristics of promoter regions should be conserved among related species, we examined the thrombomodulin locus of human, macaque, mouse, rat, dog, horse, cattle, dolphin, and pig to identify the most essential regulatory elements (Fig. 1A; Figure S1, SDC, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885). For the region between the thrombomodulin encoding THBD gene and the upstream CD93 gene, multispecies alignments revealed huge differences in the intergenic length, ranging from less than 7 kb to almost 18 kb between the respective species. Nonetheless, three regions were identified in the alignment, which showed high homology between all species, whereas the fragments in between were characterized by large gaps in one or more sequences and a reduced similarity between the remaining species. One region located closely to the 3'-UTR of CD93 was predicted to contain another potential polyadenylation site of the gene. At the very other end of the alignment, the presumed core promoter of the THBD gene contained commonly conserved binding sites for numerous transcription factors (TFs) and core promoter elements. The third region 8.5 kb upstream of the THBD transcription start might represent an enhancer element because it contained conserved binding sites for diverse TFs as well. A fourth region 14.5 kb upstream of the THBD transcription start is of particular interest because eight species showed sequence homologies similar to those in the other conserved regions as well as potential TF binding sites, whereas this fragment was completely absent in the pig. Another interesting feature of the porcine sequence was the unique presence of a potential insulator segment adjacent to the novel potential polyadenylation site of CD93.

### Design of an Endothelial-Specific hTM Expression Vector

Based on a genomic fragment containing the human *THBD* locus, we introduced two modifications (Fig. 1B). First, we replaced the 3'-UTR and downstream region of *THBD* by a widely used polyadenylation cassette from the bovine growth hormone (*GH*) gene because the 3'-UTR of *THBD* has been described to cause mRNA instability in the presence of cytokines (24). Second, we replaced the 5'-UTR and the upstream region of human *THBD* by a porcine fragment containing the complete intergenic region between *CD93* and *THBD*, the transcription start, as well as the 5'-UTR. In an in vitro assay, we transfected immortalized porcine endothelial cells with the respective vectors, determined the

### © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins



**FIGURE 1.** Evaluation of *THBD* regulatory sequences. (A) From nine mammalian species, a 21-kb alignment of the intergenic regions between the *CD93* and *THBD* genes was generated. Four conserved regions (*boxed*) have been identified by a homology plot (*upper panel*), a density plot (*middle panel*, with *while bars* indicating gaps in the respective species), as well as the accumulation of potential conserved TF binding sites (see **SDC**, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885). The calculation of similarity matrices (*lower panel*) for these regions indicated strong evolutionary conservation among the examined species with the exception of the -14.5-kb region that was lacking in pig but strongly conserved among the other species. The shown homology values between pig and the other species for this region result from alignment artifacts. (B) Three different hTM constructs were compared. hTM0 consisted of a completely human genomic fragment; in hTM1, the *THBD* 3'-UTR and downstream region were replaced by a polyadenylation cassette from the bovine *GH* gene and hTM2 contained the modified 3'-end as well as the regulatory region upstream of the porcine *THBD* gene. (C) PEDSV.15 cells transfected with the constructs hTM0, hTM1, and hTM2 were stained with the anti-hTM antibody 6980-100 and analyzed by flow cytometry. Relative expression was determined by comparing the number of hTM-positive cells obtained with each construct with background staining found in mock transfected PEDSV.15 cells (ctrl). Data represent mean values  $\pm$ SD obtained in three independent experiments.

proportion of hTM expressing cells by FACS analysis, and clearly found the porcine promoter to drive a stronger expression than the human fragment (Fig. 1C; Figure S2, SDC, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885).

#### **Establishment of hTM Expressing Pigs**

Primary fibroblasts from a wild-type pig and kidney cells from an alpha1,3-galactosyl transferase–deficient (aGalTKO) (25) and CD46 transgenic (26) pig were nucleofected with

3

## 4 | www.transplantjournal.com



\*number of offspring born per SCNT embryos transferred, including only recipients that delivered

**FIGURE 2.** Generation of hTM-transgenic pigs by SCNT. (A) The hTM2 construct was linked to a neomycin (neo) resistance cassette for transfection into wild-type cells and to a blasticidin S (bsr) resistance cassette for transfection into aGalTKO/CD46 cells. Localizations of the *Eco*RI restristion sites and the neo-specific probe for Southern blotting are indicated. (B) Transgenic founders were examined for hTM expression by immunohistochemical detection of hTM (*brown color*) in vascular endothelial cells in the cardiac tissue of hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM founder pigs. Bars=20  $\mu$ m. (C) Southern blott examination of transgenic pigs carrying the hTM2-neo vector with the neo-specific probe on *Eco*RI-digested genomic DNA. Marker is 1 kb ladder (Thermo Scientific); WT is wild-type control; 9742, 9744, 9780–9782 are founder animals; 9943 was recloned from primary cells of founder 9781; and 1168–1198 are transgenic offspring that were delivered from two independent litters after mating 9943 to wild-type sows. The approximate sizes of the transgene-carrying fragments are indicated on the right side. (D) The cloning and recloning efficiencies of SCNT experiments are within our long-term experience.

Copyright © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

© 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

the hTM2 expression vector that has been linked to a neomycin or a blasticidin S resistance cassette, respectively (Fig. 2A). After growing cells under selection, stable cell clones were pooled and used for somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) to generate hTM or aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs according to Richter et al. (27). First, a total of eight hTM transgenic founder pigs were generated and five were examined for hTM expression in various organs either at the day of birth or at the age of 1 month. All founders showed strong and endothelial-specific expression of the transgene in heart and kidney, and three of them showed additionally strong expression on vascular endothelial cells in the liver and lung. Southern blot analysis suggested that the five founders represent four different integration patterns of the construct (Fig. 2C). Primary kidney cells from an animal with a high and endothelial-specific expression in the heart (Fig. 2B, left panel) were chosen to reproduce the founder by SCNT. Two delivered animals were raised to fertility, and one of them was mated to wild-type sows. The inheritance of the transgene integration pattern (Fig. 2C) and its expression pattern to vital and fertile offspring over, as of now, two generations indicates that the transgene does not interfere with animal health or reproductive traits. Second, a total of three aGalTKO/ CD46/hTM founders were generated and examined for hTM expression at an age of either a few days or 1 month. Corresponding to the findings for the hTM transgenic pigs, all aGalTKO/CD46/hTM animals showed strong and endothelialspecific hTM expression in the heart and kidney, and two of them also revealed high hTM abundance on endothelial cells of the lung and liver. A total of nine aGalTKO/CD46/ hTM animals have been reproduced by SCNT from primary cells of a highly expressing founder with positive hTM immunoreactivity on vascular endothelial cells of cardiac tissue specimens (Fig. 2B, right panel). The efficiencies of cloning and recloning hTM-transgenic animals (Fig. 2D) reflect our long-years' experience (28).

For a more detailed analysis of transgene expression and its biological function, individuals of both transgenic lines were examined at the histological, cellular, molecular and physiological levels. For both the hTM and the aGalTKO/ CD46/hTM lines, several animals were examined. As the results were consistent within the lines, data from no. 1198 are shown as representative for the hTM line and data from no. 1259 are shown as representative for the aGalTKO/CD46/hTM line.

### **Expression Analysis of hTM**

The expression of hTM in tissue specimens and cultured endothelial cells was investigated using immunochemical methods.

In cardiac tissue sections of both lines, hTM immunoreactivity was exclusively present on the endocardium and in vessels of large as well as small caliber, displaying congruent abundance patterns with the endothelial cell marker von Willebrand factor (Fig. 3). In the kidney, hTM expression was present in the endothelia of intertubular capillaries and larger vessels but was not detectable in glomerular endothelia. The lungs of hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs displayed diffuse endothelial hTM immunoreactivity, whereas in the liver, endothelial hTM expression was detected on the endothelia of large vessels but not on those of the sinusoids (see **Figure S3, SDC**, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885). Wuensch et al.

5

The expression of the transgene on cultured aortic endothelial cells was investigated in more detail with FACS, immunofluorescence, and Western blot analyses. Immunocytochemistry verified the endothelial nature of the cultivated cells by positive CD31 staining and showed broad although unevenly distributed hTM expression (Fig. 4A). The finding of prevalent hTM expression was confirmed in flow cytometric analysis as at least 90% of the cells coexpressed CD31 and hTM in both transgenic lines (Fig. 4B). The presence of different expression levels was verified at a more quantitative level, as CD31-positive cells from aGalTKO/ CD46/hTM pigs revealed two clearly distinct populations regarding the expression levels of hTM. In contrast, cells from hTM pigs showed a more homogenous population of cells that coexpressed CD31 and hTM. Cultivated endothelial cells were also used to extract protein for Western blot analysis. A single and distinct band corresponding to the expected size of hTM (116 kDa) was detected with the hTMspecific antibody (Fig. 4C).

### Biological Function of hTM on Porcine Endothelial Cells

In a first approach we tested whether hTM facilitated the cleavage of protein C in the presence of human thrombin in a biochemical assay (Fig. 5A). We found clear evidence that the amount of activated protein C (APC) in the supernatant of hTM or aGalTKO/CD46/hTM cells increased with the concentration of protein C in a dose-dependent manner, whereas the turnover of protein C remained at the basal level for any of the examined concentrations upon exposure to control cells lacking hTM.

In a further experiment, we tested whether hTM also possesses the ability to prevent blood coagulation/clotting in a more physiologic assay that models the processes at the interface of human blood and porcine vessel wall (29, 30). Aortic endothelial cells from wild-type, hTM, aGalTKO/CD46, and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs were grown on microcarrier beads and tested for their potential to prolong the clotting time of freshly withdrawn, non-anticoagulated human blood. While clotting time in the presence of aGalTKO/CD46 aortic endothelial cells was slightly but significantly prolonged (100.9±20.5 min, P<0.01) as compared to the wildtype control (62.3±15.5 min), the effect of hTM either on the wild-type background or in the triple-transgenic combination (aGalTKO/CD46/hTM) was more pronounced, resulting in a three- to four-fold increase in clotting time (176.1±13.5 min, P<0.001 for hTM and 190.8±14.0 min, P<0.001 for aGalTKO/CD46/hTM) compared to wild-type endothelial cells (Fig. 5B). As the increased coagulation time in the presence of hTM-expressing cells might also result from the cytoprotective properties of the transgene product, we conducted another set of whole blood coagulation experiments and took samples at distinct time points to evaluate the coverage of the beads with endothelial cells (see Figure S4, SDC, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885). Albeit cells being lost during the experiment, we did not observe differences between cells that express hTM and those that do not and, thus, conclude that the main course of action of the hTM transgene was by its control of thrombin regulation. The effective anticoagulatory properties of hTM were further illustrated by the formation of thrombin-antithrombin III

## 6 www.transplantjournal.com

Transplantation • Volume 00, Number 00, Month, 2013



**FIGURE 3.** Immunohistochemical detection of hTM in the cardiac tissue of a wild-type control pig (WT), an hTM pig, a GalTKO/CD46/hTM pig, and in human positive control tissue (PC). Sequential sections of left ventricular myocardia were stained for the endothelial-specific von Willebrand factor (vWF) and hTM. In human and porcine cardiac tissue specimen, vWF was restricted to endocardial and vascular endothelial cells (*brown color, arrowheads, top row*). Staining of hTM corresponded to that of vWF in hTM and aGalKO/CD46/hTM pigs (*brown color, arrows, second top row*), whereas no staining was seen in WT pigs. Positive hTM immunoreactivity (*brown color*) was also detected in the capillary endothelia in the papillary muscle and in endocardial cells of the left atrioventricular heart valve of hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs but not in WT pigs. Paraffin sections. Bars=20 μm.

(TAT) complexes (Fig. 5C). While wild-type and aGalTKO/ CD46 cells caused an immediate and steady increase of TAT until coagulation occurred, hTM transgenic cells kept TAT levels constantly low in the first phase of the experiment. Moreover, although slightly increasing afterward, in these groups, TAT did not reach the maximum levels that were seen in the wild-type or aGalTKO/CD46 groups.

### DISCUSSION

Advancements in the production of genetically modified donor pigs are a major reason for the progress that has been made in xenotransplantation research in recent years. Many different transgenic pigs have been described (31, 32)and many more will be produced in the future. The biotechnological production process itself does not represent a main hurdle any more, but the relatively long generation time of the pig and economic aspects of housing are still challenging factors. Thus, the detailed design of transgenic approaches and their thorough evaluation is of importance for efficient production of novel donor pig models. Consequently, we made use of state-of-the-art in silico analysis tools to estimate the potential of regulatory elements of the *THBD* gene and compared different vector systems in vitro to determine the most promising strategy for the generation of transgenic pigs and, later on, put effort in comprehensive characterization at the molecular, cellular, histological, and physiological levels.

Regarding the regulatory properties of *THBD*, the conserved regions found in multispecies alignments are indicative of common regulatory mechanisms of TM expression in mammals, but the diverse length of the examined sequences as well as the lack of certain segments in distinct species in otherwise highly conserved regions might also indicate unique properties in individual species. In the absence of detailed promoter studies in the literature, the regulative properties of *THBD* remain unclear, but the relatively short intergenic region between *THBD* and the upstream *CD93* in the pig allowed the usage of its entire length to control transgene expression.

The fact that hTM is not expressed on all endothelial cells and the distinct expression pattern of hTM in heart, kidney, lung, and liver strictly mirrors the data that have been published on a mouse model with a *lacZ* reporter

## Wuensch et al. 7



**FIGURE 4.** Expression of hTM on endothelial cells from hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs. (A) Immunocytochemistry showed hTM on paraformaldehyde-fixed endothelial cells from hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs, whereas hTM expression was absent on aGalTKO/CD46 cells. CD31 staining confirmed the endothelial origin of the cells. Bars=20  $\mu$ m. (B) FACS analysis revealed a strong coexpression of CD31 and hTM on hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM endothelial cells. (C) Immunoblot analysis showed a band with the correct size (116 kDa) demonstrating the expression of hTM in hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM endothelial cells but not in wild-type or aGalTKO/CD46 cells.

knockin in the murine *Thbd* locus (33), suggesting that TM regulation is similar among mammalian species and further indicating that the transgene expression resembles the

entire physiologic regulation of TM. This would be of relevance as one might assume that species-specific incompatibilities in blood coagulation have to be restored to a tightly regulated

### 8 www.transplantjournal.com



FIGURE 5. Biological function of the hTM transgene. (A) The ability of porcine endothelial cells to activate protein C in the presence of human thrombin was evaluated in a biochemical assay. The abundance of APC was detected colorimetrically. hTM transgenic endothelial cells revealed clear and concentration-dependent APC production when the amount of protein C was increased, whereas control cells (aGalTKO and WT) did not show any protein C turnover. Data are plotted as mean values, and standard deviations are indicated when they were above 0.025 OD405. The inset shows the significance of area under the curve differences between the groups. Four independent experiments were performed for each group. Significance test was performed using one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni correction. (B) Measurement of the clotting time after incubation of freshly withdrawn, non-anticoagulated whole human blood with wild-type or genetically modified endothelial cells cultivated on microcarrier beads. Microcarriers with or without collagen coating, incubated with blood, showed a strong procoagulant property with a short clotting time. Microcarriers covered by confluent hTM or aGalTKO/ CD46/hTM endothelial cells showed a strong anticoagulant effect compared to wild-type and aGalTKO/CD46 PAECs. Four independent experiments were performed for each group. Significance test was performed using one-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni correction. (C) Formation of thrombin-antithrombin III (TAT) complexes was determined as a fluid phase coagulation parameter (thrombin generation) in EDTA plasma samples taken from whole blood coagulation assays at regular time intervals of 30 min until coagulation occurred (indicated by "†"). TAT is indicated as mean value (± standard deviation when it was >10.0 ng/mL). Three independent experiments were performed for each group.

physiological level, which is in contrast to other transgenic donor pigs for xenotransplantation that aim at immunological rejection processes, where the functional properties of a transgene may be less subject to transcriptional regulation. Ongoing transplantation studies using aGalTKO/ CD46/hTM donors (B. Reichart and D. K. C. Cooper, personal communication) will have to prove the relevance of our strategy in nonhuman primate (NHP) models. Albeit such transplantation experiments into primates being the most stringent tool for the evaluation of genetically modified donor organs, they suffer from their tremendous costs and the challenging experimental setup that is attributed to the complexity of the NHP system. Thus, the comprehensive examination of given transgenes under constant regimens in vivo at experimental numbers that are sufficient for scientific conclusions is limited to a small © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

number of transgenic combinations, and thus, they have to be selected by preevaluation in less complex systems. Here, we used an in vitro assay that exploits the natural anticoagulant properties of endothelial cells in combination with whole, non-anticoagulated human blood to test the efficacy of the hTM transgene product in coagulation control, either alone or in combination with the aGalTKO/CD46 transgenic background. Our coagulation assay confirmed the beneficial effect of hTM either on the wild-type or on the aGalTKO/CD46 background. These findings illustrate the suitability of the whole blood coagulation assay for the evaluation of clotting mechanisms in xenotransplantation approaches because it facilitates the analysis of several transgene combinations and, moreover, resembles the immediate interaction of porcine endothelium and human blood, also potentially avoiding wrong conclusions from in vivo transplantation models due to differences in the coagulation systems between NHP and man (34).

In summary, we developed a novel genetically modified pig for xenotransplantation and present evidence for its potential to overcome the incompatibilities in the coagulation systems between pig and man.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Pig Housing**

Animal experiments have been carried out according to the guidelines of the responsible authority (Regierung von Oberbayern, approval no. 55.2-1-54-2531-54).

#### **Bioinformatic Analysis**

Sequences were fetched from the Ensembl genome browser (www.ensembl.org) and prepared in BioEdit (35). Mobile genetic elements were removed by RepeatMasker (36), and multiple alignments were done by ClustalW2 (37) and by using the Genomatix ElDorado/Gene2Promoter and GEMS Launcher software packages (Genomatix, Munich, Germany). The latter was also used to assign binding sites of common transcription factors.

#### **Vector Construction**

Genomic fragments of the human and porcine *THBD* genes were excised from the BACs RP4-753D10 and CH242-263H13, respectively. The fragments were combined with other genetic elements using a two-step polymerase chain reaction, Cre-mediated recombination, and other conventional cloning procedures.

#### **Vector Evaluation**

The immortalized porcine endothelial cell line PEDSV.15 (kindly provided by Prof. J. Seebach, Geneva (*38*)) was used for transfection and analyzed for hTM expression by flow cytometry.

#### **Founder Pig Generation**

Transgenic pigs were established according to Richter et al. (27) and Klymiuk et al. (39) using the hTM2 expression vector and raised up to an age of 2.5 months. Genotyping was carried out as described elsewhere (40). Founders with a high-level expression of hTM were reestablished by SCNT and raised for breeding purposes.

### Necropsy, Histopathology, and Immunohistochemistry

For histological examination, cardiac tissue samples (including left and right heart ventricles, papillary muscles, and heart valves) and specimens of liver, kidney, and lung were taken from hTM-transgenic pigs and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pigs. Control tissues were obtained from age-matched male wild-type pigs.

9

#### **Expression Analysis of Aortic Endothelial Cells**

Porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAECs) were isolated from the aorta of transgenic pigs as described earlier (38) with minor modifications. Colocalization studies of hTM were performed with the endothelial-specific marker PECAM-1 (CD31). Cultivated cells were then analyzed either in a multicolor flow cytometric assay, immunocytochemistry, or Western blot analysis.

### **APC** Assay

The measurement of APC was performed with confluent PAECs on a 96-well plate.

#### **Coagulation Assay**

The coagulation-inhibiting effects of the different genetically modified porcine endothelial cells were monitored in vitro using PAECs grown on microcarrier beads and whole, non-anticoagulated human blood as previously described (29, 30). Details about endothelial cell culture on microcarriers and the coagulation assay are described in the Supplemental Material. (see **SDC**, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885). Human blood was drawn from healthy volunteers.

For further details on materials and methods, see the Supplemental Material (see **SDC**, http://links.lww.com/TP/A885).

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The authors thank Eva-Maria Jemiller and Tuna Güngör for the excellent technical support.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Ekser B, Ezzelarab M, Hara H, et al. Clinical xenotransplantation: the next medical revolution? *Lancet* 2012; 379: 672.
- Mohiuddin MM, Corcoran PC, Singh AK, et al. B-cell depletion extends the survival of GTKO.hCD46Tg pig heart xenografts in baboons for up to 8 months. *Am J Transplant* 2012; 12: 763.
- Klymiuk N, van Buerck L, Bahr A, et al. Xenografted islet cell clusters from INSLEA29Y transgenic pigs rescue diabetes and prevent immune rejection in humanized mice. *Diabetes* 2012; 61: 1527.
- Shimizu A, Hisashi Y, Kuwaki K, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy associated with humoral rejection of cardiac xenografts from alpha1, 3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs in baboons. *Am J Pathol* 2008; 172: 1471.
- Tseng YL, Kuwaki K, Dor FJ, et al. alpha1,3-Galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pig heart transplantation in baboons with survival approaching 6 months. *Transplantation* 2005; 80: 1493.
- Roussel JC, Moran CJ, Salvaris EJ, et al. Pig thrombomodulin binds human thrombin but is a poor cofactor for activation of human protein C and TAFI. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 1101.
- 7. Cowan PJ, Roussel JC, d'Apice AJ. The vascular and coagulation issues in xenotransplantation. *Curr Opin Organ Transplant* 2009; 14: 161.
- Conway EM. Thrombomodulin and its role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol 2012; 34: 107.
- Shiraishi M, Oshiro T, Taira K, et al. Improved hepatic microcirculation by human soluble urinary thrombomodulin in the xeno-perfused porcine liver. *Transplantation* 2001; 71: 1046.
- Shiraishi M, Oshiro T, Taira K, et al. Human thrombomodulin improves the microcirculation of the xeno-perfused porcine liver. *Transplant Proc* 2001; 33: 719.
- Petersen B, Ramackers W, Tiede A, et al. Pigs transgenic for human thrombomodulin have elevated production of activated protein C. *Xenotransplantation* 2009; 16: 486.
- Yazaki S, Iwamoto M, Onishi A, et al. Production of cloned pigs expressing human thrombomodulin in endothelial cells. *Xenotransplantation* 2012; 19: 82.
- He Z, She R, Sumitran-Holgersson S, et al. The in vitro activity and specificity of human endothelial cell–specific promoters in porcine cells. *Xenotransplantation* 2001; 8: 202.
- Godwin JW, Fisicaro N, d'Apice AJ, et al. Towards endothelial cell– specific transgene expression in pigs: characterization of the pig ICAM-2 promoter. *Xenotransplantation* 2006; 13: 514.

Copyright © 2013 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Unauthorized reproduction of this article is prohibited.

## 10 | www.transplantjournal.com

- Mimuro J, Muramatsu S, Hakamada Y, et al. Recombinant adenoassociated virus vector-transduced vascular endothelial cells express the thrombomodulin transgene under the regulation of enhanced plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 promoter. *Gene Ther* 2001; 8: 1690.
- Laskin BL, Goebel J, Davies SM, et al. Small vessels, big trouble in the kidneys and beyond: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation–associated thrombotic microangiopathy. *Blood* 2011; 118: 1452.
- 17. Tanaka KA, Key NS, Levy JH. Blood coagulation: hemostasis and thrombin regulation. *Anesth Analg* 2009; 108: 1433.
- Schnerch A, Cerdan C, Bhatia M. Distinguishing between mouse and human pluripotent stem cell regulation: the best laid plans of mice and men. *Stem Cells* 2010; 28: 419.
- Bauersachs S, Ulbrich SE, Gross K, et al. Embryo-induced transcriptome changes in bovine endometrium reveal species-specific and common molecular markers of uterine receptivity. *Reproduction* 2006; 132: 319.
- Mauder N, Ecke R, Mertins S, et al. Species-specific differences in the activity of PrfA, the key regulator of listerial virulence genes. *J Bacteriol* 2006; 188: 7941.
- Odom DT, Dowell RD, Jacobsen ES, et al. Tissue-specific transcriptional regulation has diverged significantly between human and mouse. *Nat Genet* 2007; 39: 730.
- Soccio RE, Tuteja G, Everett LJ, et al. Species-specific strategies underlying conserved functions of metabolic transcription factors. *Mol Endocrinol* 2011; 25: 694.
- Wilson MD, Barbosa-Morais NL, Schmidt D, et al. Species-specific transcription in mice carrying human chromosome 21. *Science* 2008; 322: 434.
- Navarro A, Frevel M, Gamero AM, et al. Thrombomodulin RNA is destabilized through its 3-untranslated element in cells exposed to IFN-gamma. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2003; 23: 723.
- Phelps CJ, Koike C, Vaught TD, et al. Production of alpha 1, 3-galactosyltransferase-deficient pigs. Science 2003; 299: 411.
- Loveland BE, Milland J, Kyriakou P, et al. Characterization of a CD46 transgenic pig and protection of transgenic kidneys against hyperacute rejection in non-immunosuppressed baboons. *Xenotransplantation* 2004; 11: 171.

### Transplantation • Volume 00, Number 00, Month, 2013

- Richter A, Kurome M, Kessler B, et al. Potential of primary kidney cells for somatic cell nuclear transfer mediated transgenesis in pig. *BMC Biotechnol* 2012; 12: 84.
- Kurome M, Geistlinger L, Kessler B, et al. Factors influencing the efficiency of generating genetically engineered pigs by nuclear transfer: multi-factorial analysis of a large data set. *BMC Biotechnol* 2013; 13: 43.
  Banz Y, Cung T, Korchagina EY, et al. Endothelial cell protection and
- Banz Y, Cung T, Korchagina EY, et al. Endothelial cell protection and complement inhibition in xenotransplantation: a novel in vitro model using whole blood. *Xenotransplantation* 2005; 12: 434.
- Kohler HP, Muller M, Bombeli T, et al. The suppression of the coagulation of nonanticoagulated whole blood in vitro by human umbilical endothelial cells cultivated on microcarriers is not dependent on protein C activation. *Thromb Haemost* 1995; 73: 719.
- Aigner B, Klymiuk N, Wolf E. Transgenic pigs for xenotransplantation: selection of promoter sequences for reliable transgene expression. *Curr Opin Organ Transplant* 2010; 15: 201.
- Klymiuk N, Aigner B, Brem G, et al. Genetic modification of pigs as organ donors for xenotransplantation. *Mol Reprod Dev* 2010; 77: 209.
- Weiler-Guettler H, Aird WC, Husain M, et al. Targeting of transgene expression to the vascular endothelium of mice by homologous recombination at the thrombomodulin locus. *Circ Res* 1996; 78: 180.
- Iwase H, Ekser B, Zhou H, et al. Platelet aggregation in humans and nonhuman primates: relevance to xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation* 2012; 19: 233.
- Hall TA. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucl Acids Symp Ser 1999; 41: 95.
- 36. Smit FA, Hubley R, Green P. RepeatMasker Open-3.0, 1996–2010.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, et al. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* 2007; 23: 2947.
- Seebach JD, Schneider MK, Comrack CA, et al. Immortalized bonemarrow derived pig endothelial cells. *Xenotransplantation* 2001; 8: 48.
- Klymiuk N, Bocker W, Schonitzer V, et al. First inducible transgene expression in porcine large animal models. *FASEB J* 2012; 26: 1086.
- Green MR, Sambrook J. Molecular Cloning—A Laboratory Manual. Woodbury, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2012.

Supplemental Digital Content (SDC)

## **Materials and Methods**

Vector construction. For the hTM0 vector, a 17 kb fragment was excised by BstBI-EcoRI from RP4-753D10, cloned into a ClaI/EcoRI linearized pBSK vector and equipped with a floxed neomycin resistance cassette by making use of the NotI and EcoRI sites. The plasmid backbone was excised via Sall sites and the vector was purified on low melting agarose (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocols. For the hTM1 vector, the 3'-part of the hTM coding region was amplified by the primers 5'cccttcccaccaggcacttc-3' and 5'-agctggAAGCTTccagctaaggtgctttggtag-3', cloned into pGEM Teasy (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), sequenced and cloned as a Xbal/SpeI fragment into a Spel linearized vector containing a bGH poly-adenylation cassette (a gift from M.R. Schneider, Gene Center, LMU Munich). The combined sequence was used to replace the 3'-UTR and downstream region of the 17 kb human fragment that has been cloned into the pBSK vector via the RsrII/SalI sites. hTM1 was finalized by linking the modified hTM sequence to a neomycin resistance cassette via *Eco*RI sites and processed as described for hTM0 for genetic modification of porcine cells. For the hTM2 vector, the hTM-bGHpA fragment that was made for hTM1 was subcloned into pBSK via EcoRI and linearized with Bg/II/BamHI to insert a 6.5kb Bg/II fragment from the BAC CH242-263H13. This plasmid was re-opened with Bg/II to insert a synthetic fragment that linked the genomic sequence of pТМ (amplified by 5'-cacgctctcctgtttctcc-3' 5'and caaggaccaggacccaagCATggtgtcagcacgccaag-3') 5'and hTM (amplified by cttggcgtgctgacaccATGcttggggtcctggtccttg-3' and 5'-gagcgcactgtcattaggtg-3') at the translational start codon by 2-step PCR. Eventually, a HpaI/SalI neomycin resistance cassette was inserted into the *EcoRV/Sal*I sites and hTM2 was excised from the plasmid backbone via NotI/SalI.

*Vector evaluation.* Two  $\mu$ g of vector DNA was transfected into the immortalized porcine endothelial cell line PEDSV.15 using the Amaxa<sup>TM</sup> Cell Line Nucleofector<sup>TM</sup> Kit (Lonza, Cologne, Germany). Control cells were treated with the Nucleofector<sup>TM</sup> Kit without administration of cDNA (mock transfection). The cells were cultivated in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 50 U/ml penicillin, 4 mM L-glutamin, 50 µg/ml streptomycin, and 0.05 mM β-mercaptoethanol). After 16 h, the cells were incubated with the hTM-specific

antibody 6980-100 (mouse IgG1, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) followed by a second incubation with Phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated rat anti-mouse Ig (BD Biosciences; San Jose, CA, USA). Stained cells were analyzed on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA, USA).

*Founder pig generation.*  $0.5 \times 10^6$  porcine fetal fibroblasts (wild-type) and  $1.0 \times 10^6$  kidney cells (aGalTKO/CD46) were nucleofected with 3.0-4.5 µg linearized plasmid DNA using the program U12 of the Nucleofector<sup>TM</sup>II device (Lonza) and the Amaxa<sup>TM</sup> Basic Nucleofector<sup>TM</sup> Kit Primary Fibroblasts (Lonza). Selection was conducted for 7-10 days either with 0.6 mg/ml G418 (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for the fetal fibroblasts and 10 µg/ml blasticidin S (PAA, Pasching, Austria) for the kidney cells. The growing cell clones were mixed during the selection process in a passaging step.

Genomic characterization. Genotyping of hTM transgenic pigs was done on genomic DNA isolated from ear tissue samples by a genomic DNA isolation kit (Nexttec, Leverkusen, Germany) with the primers 5'-cgacgcagtcctgcaacga-3' and 5'-ccggagtcacagtcggtgccaa-3'. Southern blotting was done on *Eco*RI digested genomic DNA that was isolated from ear-tissue by EasyDNA<sup>TM</sup> (Life Technologies) and hybridization was done with a  $\alpha^{32}$ P-dCTP (Perkin-Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) labelled neo-specific probe that has been amplified by the primers 5'-ccattgaacaagatggattgcac-3' and 5'-gaagaactcgtcaagaaggcgatag-3'.

*Culture of endothelial cells*. After isolation of endothelial cells with 0.1% Collagenase II (Life Technologies) from the aorta (PAEC), they were seeded on 0.1% gelatine-coated culture dishes in M199 medium supplemented with L-glutamin (PAA), 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin (PAA) and 20 % FCS (Life Technologies). After 24 h the medium was replaced by endothelial cell medium containing endothelial medium supplements (PAA), 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 293 mg/l L-glutamine (PAA) and 5% FCS. Biosilon microcarrier beads (polystyrene, 160-300 µm) were coated with bovine collagen I (100 µg/ml, sc-29009, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA) in 0.2% acetic acid (v/v) for 60 min at room temperature. Endothelial cells, harvested from one 175-cm<sup>2</sup> flask, were mixed with 5-7 ml collagen-coated beads in 100 ml medium M 199 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) plus supplements (10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Life Technologies), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies), 1% L-glutamine (Life Technologies), 1.2% supplement mix-II (C-39216, PromoCell, Heidelberg, Germany),

5000 U/ml heparin (Heparinum natricum, Liquemin®) into a 500 ml stirred culture flask. The beads were stirred for 3 min at 100 rpm with intervals of 60 min at 37°C. After overnight incubation, 75 ml of medium M 199 plus supplements was added to the flask and incubated for another 24 h. Then, the volume of the medium was maintained to 320 ml with RPMI medium 1640 (Sigma-Aldrich) plus supplements. For every 48 h, 100 ml of the culture medium was exchanged with RPMI medium 1640 plus supplements. Cells reached confluence after 6 to 8 days, estimated by fluorescence microscopy after staining with DAPI (4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole; Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

*Flow cytometry*. Porcine endothelial cells from hTM, wild-type or aGalTKO/CD46 animals were grown until 80-100% confluence. Cells were detached with accutase (PAA) and washed with staining buffer (PBS pH 7.2, 1% BSA, 0.1% NaN<sub>3</sub>). All incubation steps were performed in staining buffer for 20 min in the dark and on ice and were followed by two washing steps.  $1 \times 10^5$  cells were resuspended in 100 µl of the appropriate working solution in the following sequence: (1) rat-anti-pig-CD31 (1:200, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or isotype control rat IgG1 (1:400, AbD Serotec, Kidlington, UK), (2) followed by donkey-anti-rat IgG-FITC (1:300; Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Suffolk, UK), (3) a blocking step with normal rat serum (1:20 in PBS), (4) mouse-anti-hTM (1:500, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) or mouse IgG1 (1:75, Becton Dickinson, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), (5) rat-anti-mouse-kappa-light-chain-biotin (1:100, AbD Serotec) and (6) Streptavidin-RPE (1:300, Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL, USA). After staining the cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde and stored at 4°C until measurement. Measurements were performed on a BD FACSCanto II (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed with BD FACS DIVA or FlowJo (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA) software.

*Immunocytochemistry*. hTM and aGalTKO/CD46/hTM endothelial cells, grown in endothelial cell medium (see above) on  $\mu$  slides (ibidi, Planegg, Germany) coated with 0.1% gelatine until 80-100% confluence, were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS pH 7.4 for 20 min. After washing two times with ice cold PBS, the cells were incubated with PBS containing 1% BSA (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) for 30 min. The following antibodies were diluted with 1% BSA-PBS: rat-anti-pig-CD31 (R&D Systems) 1:200, mouse-anti-human-TM (Abcam) 1:400, goat anti mouse (Abcam) 1:200. First and second antibodies were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with washing steps in between. A "no primary antibody" control was performed. Finally the cells were mounted with VECTASHIELD<sup>®</sup> mounting medium with

Dapi (Vectorlabs, Burlingame, CA, USA) and evaluated with an epifluorescence microscope Axiovert 200 (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

*Immunoblot analysis*. Endothelial cells were lysed in lysis buffer [150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 1% NP-40, 5 mM EDTA, 1 mM PMSF, 10 mM NaF, Complete<sup>®</sup> protease inhibitor (Roche, Basel, Schweiz)], and protein concentration was determined by BCA assay. Equal amounts of total protein were separated by 8% SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions and blotted to PVDF membrane. Human thrombomodulin and dysferlin were detected using mouse monoclonal antibodies (sc-13164, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, and NCL-Hamlet, Novocastra, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK) and horseradish peroxidase-coupled polyclonal goat anti-mouse antibodies (Jackson ImmunoResearch). Bound antibodies were visualized using ECL reagent (RPN2106; GE Healthcare, Chalfont St Giles, Germany).

*Necropsy, histopathology and immunohistochemistry.* Histological sections of formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded tissue samples were routinely prepared. Immunohistochemistry was performed using antibodies specific for thrombomodulin (sc-13164, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and for the endothelial cell marker von Willebrand factor, (vWF, polyclonal rabbit anti-human vWF, A0082; Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). For detection of vWF and hTM, the standard avidin-biotin peroxidase complex method was employed (secondary antibody for vWF: Biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG, E0432; secondary antibody for hTM: goat anti-mouse IgG, E0433; both from Dako). Diaminobenzidine was used as the final chromogen and hemalum as nuclear counterstain. Positive control slides consisted of human heart muscle. For negative controls, slides containing human myocardium, and heart tissues of hTM-tg and of WT-pigs were stained with buffer instead of the primary antibody.

## Activated protein C (APC) assay.

Aortic endothelial cells were incubated with 0.125 U/ml of human thrombin (Sigma) and 0-16  $\mu$ g/ml human PC (EMD Milipore/Calbiochem<sup>®</sup>, Billerica, MA, USA) at 37°C for 60 min in a final volume of 100  $\mu$ l. The reaction was terminated by addition of 10  $\mu$ l of 20  $\mu$ g/ml hirudin (Refludan Celgene, Summit, NJ, USA), and 100  $\mu$ l of supernatant was then transferred to another 96-well plate. One hundred microliters of 2 mmol/l S-2366 (Chromogenix, Milano, Italy) was added and the change in absorbance was measured using an Infinite M1000 microplate reader (Tecan, Maennedorf, Switzerland).

*Coagulation assay.* 2 ml collagen-coated biosilon microcarrier beads with confluent endothelial cells were taken into a 10 ml polypropylene tube and washed twice with RPMI medium 1640 without supplements, to remove medium that contains heparin. Blood was withdrawn from healthy volunteers, who did not have any medication at least for 2 weeks, into 10 ml polypropylene syringes. Washed, heparin free beads are then be incubated with freshly withdrawn, non-anticoagulated whole human blood at a volume ratio 1:4 of bead-toblood i.e., 2 ml beads and 8 ml whole blood. Samples of the bead-blood mixture are incubated at 37°C with a gentle rocking, and tubes were observed at regular intervals for clotting time. As a minor modification of the published protocol, agitation of the blood/bead mixture ran uninterrupted until coagulation occurred.

The formation of thrombin-antithrombin III (TAT) complexes as well as the loss of endothelial cells from silica beads was measured similarly, but experiments were interrupted to sample 2 ml of blood-bead mixture after 30, 60, 90, 120 and 150 min to retrieve PAEC-covered beads as well as EDTA-plasma samples. The formation of TAT complexes was measured in EDTA plasma by ELISA (TAT-EIA 270R1, Enzyme Research Laboratories, Swansea, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Baseline values of TAT were measured in EDTA plasma from blood samples taken prior to incubation with beads. Sampled beads from the different time points of incubation were washed 3x with PBS containing MgCl<sub>2</sub> and CaCl<sub>2</sub> and then fixed for 20 min in parapicric acid solution. Following washing, the beads were stained with DAPI. The coverage of beads with endothelial cells was determined by counting the number of cell nuclei on 20 randomly selected beads, on a defined rounded bead surface using fluorescence microscopy (DMI 4000B; Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). Baseline values were determined by counting cell nuclei before incubation with whole blood. Significance test was performed using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni correlation.



Figure S1: Conserved regions in the multi-species alignment of hTM regulatory regions. (A) The poly-adenylation (pA) site adjacently to the CD93 gene clearly showed conserved upstream sequence element (USE), a polyadenylation element (PE) and a downstream sequence element (DSE). Different pA signals seem to be used in the examined species as there was no conserved (C/T)A in the alignment. (B) An alternative pA signal is located 475 nt downstream of the annotated CD93 pA signal. The consensus is conserved among all species examined (ATTAAA); its potential to terminate mRNA synthesis was predicted by PolyAPred (http://www.imtech.res.in/raghava/polyapred/help.html) and is illustrated by the presence of USE and DSE elements in the vicinity. A high degree of sequence conservation was also observed downstream of this putative pA signal, resembling numerous putative transcription factor (TF) binding sites (TFB). Interestingly, an insulator element (boxed) was proposed for the pig, but not for other species. Albeit many of such potential binding sites are identified by the used algorithms (e.g. a total of 17 potential insulators in the examined pig sequence of 6900 nt, not shown), the high incidence for this particular site is remarkable, as the similarity of this element to the position weight matrix (consensus is shown above) was significantly higher (0.885) as those of the other putative binding elements ( $0.777\pm0.044$ ). The Sall site that represents the 5'-end of the used porcine promoter element is indicated by an arrow. (C) A region that was conserved in 8 species but not in the pig was identified 14.5 kb upstream of the THBD gene. The potential enhancer function is illustrated by the high degree of sequence conservation and the presumed binding of several TF. (D) Another potential enhancer element was found 8.5 kb upstream of the THBD gene and is conserved among all 9 examined species. Again, numerous TFB have been predicted, located mainly in two conserved sections that are separated by a 175 bp segment of lower similarity. (E) The core promoter of THBD turned out to be of relatively short length (approximately 250 bp in the alignment) and is, hence, characterized by a high density of potential TFB and promoter core elements. Again, evidence for presumed unique regulatory properties in distinct species

was found as the dog lacks remarkable parts of promoter region that are highly conserved among the other species. Classical core promoter elements such as the X-core promoter element (XPCE), motif ten element (MTE) and vertebrate TATA binding protein factor (VTBP) were found to be conserved among all species examined.



**Figure S2**: Evaluation of hTM constructs by flow cytometry. (A) Correlated analysis of forward/side scatter properties of PEDSV.15 cells. Viable cells (gate R1) were identified on the basis of scatter characteristics. (B) hTM expression in gated in PEDSV.15 cells. The cells were stained with an anti-hTM specific antibody (6980-100) 16h after transfection with  $2\mu g$  of the respective vectors or without DNA. (C) Three independent experiments confirmed that only hTM2 resulted in transgene expression that was considerably above the control (ctrl) values.



**Figure S3**: Immunohistochemical detection of the endothelial-specific *von-Willebrand-Factor* (vWF) and hTM in kidney (left column), liver (middle column), and lung (right column) tissue of an aGalTKO/CD46/hTM pig and a wild-type control pig (WT). In the renal cortex, the vascular endothelia of the glomerula, intubular capillaries and larger caliber renal vessels are marked by vWF expression (brown color, arrows) whereas hTM-immunoreactivity was restricted to non-glomerular endothelia (brown color, arrowheads). In the liver, vWF is expressed in both, vascular and sinusoidal endothelial cells (brown color, arrows), whereas hTM expression was only detected on the endothelia of larger blood vessels, but absent in sinusoids. In the lung, vWF is expressed in endothelial cells of pulmonary vessels and alveolar capillaries (brown color, arrows), while hTM displayed diffuse immunoreactivity on the endothelia. Tissue sections from the respective organs of control pig (WT) showed that there was no un-specific staining of the hTM antibody. Paraffin sections. Bars = 100 µm.



-

**Figure S4**: Loss of endothelial cells during coagulation assay. Samples from whole blood coagulation assays were taken at regular time points and the number of endothelial cells on silica beads was determined by counting cell nuclei after DAPI staining. Mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation are depicted. Significance test was performed using One-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni correlation.

-

•

-

•

## **General Conclusions**

Pig-to-human xenotransplantation has immense potential to solve the critical need for organs, tissues and cells for clinical transplantation. However, this requires understanding and overcoming the immunological and other barriers that are associated with xenotransplantation, for which advances in genetic technologies are necessary. In recent years, considerable advancement has been achieved in overcoming the major barriers.

During my PhD, I was involved in studying various immunological responses and genetic manipulations that enabled exploring cross-species incompatibilities with the aim of reducing xenotransplantation-induced graft damage. Complement activation plays a pivotal role in xenograft rejection. It can be activated predominantly via the classical pathway and in some models via the alternative pathway. However, the degree of involvement of the lectin pathway of complement in xenotransplantation had not been studied so far. Our results (Paper I) demonstrate activation and a pathologic role of the lectin pathway of complement in xenotransplantation. Co-localized deposition of IgM with MBL and MASP2 indicates that activation of the lectin pathway of complement.

Ex vivo xenoperfusion of hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic pig limbs with heparinized, whole human blood (Paper II) showed positive effects of the combined overexpression of these transgenes. These effects include reduced xenoperfusion induced complement deposition and endothelial activation and protected the xenograft against tissue damage and apoptosis. In addition, as no hyperacute rejection was noted, the model may thus represent a useful tool to study delayed immunological responses during pig-to-human xenotransplantation in the absence of hyperacute rejection.

Porcine asialoglycoprotein receptor 1 (ASGR1) mediates human platelet phagocytosis (Paper III) during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic pig limbs with human blood. While it was previously believed that expression of ASGR1 is liver-specific, the results obtained in this work indicate that porcine arterial/aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) also express ASGR1. The results of in vitro experiments demonstrate that human platelets, when incubated with PAEC, are captured by the ASGR1 and subsequently processed in to phagocytosis. It can therefore be assumed that ASGR1 may represent a novel therapeutic target to overcome xenotransplantation-induced thrombocytopenia.

## **General Conclusions**

In another study (Paper IV), a bead-based Bio-Plex assay was developed to simultaneously measure 11-porcine inflammation markers (multiplex) using xMAP technology. Multiplex assays for testing samples and probes from the most common research model animals — mice and rats — are available. While pig is a common large animal used in biomedical research, comprehensive commercial assays are often lacking. This study describes the establishment and validation of a 6- and 11-plex assay for detection of porcine cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, as well as injury and complement activation markers. The importance of extensive evaluation of dynamic range, sensitivity, cross-reactivity, intra- and inter-assay variance, spike recovery and correlation between multiplex and commercially available assays and the respective singleplex is highlighted. Thus, this assay represents a new tool for analyzing samples generated from experiments with pigs.

The current understanding of immunology and the advancements in genetic manipulation have made xenotransplantation in clinical settings more realistic. Nonetheless, there are other formidable barriers that still need to be overcome. The immune responses are complicated by factors that appear to be significantly greater in xenotransplantation than allotransplantation. These responses include coagulation dysregulation due to molecular incompatibilities between the coagulationanticoagulation systems of humans and pigs, which contribute to the development of thrombotic microangiopathy in the graft and/or a consumptive coagulopathy in the recipient. In collaboration with Munich, pigs with new genetic modifications, including expression of hTM, are just becoming available for testing strategies that can be applied in order to overcome coagulation dysregulation in vitro using microcarrier model (Paper V). In this study, wild-type and hTM transgenic PAEC were cultured on micro carries and incubated with freshly withdrawn non-anticoagulated human blood to study the effects of hTM on blood coagulation (clotting time). The findings demonstrate for the first time that the transgenic hTM expression on PAEC resulted in three-to-four fold increase of clotting time, as well as reduced thrombin generation, compared to wild-type PAEC. This serves as evidence that (multi)-genetically modified pigs expressing hTM has potential to overcome the incompatibilities of the coagulation system between pig and primate.

The increasingly rapid development of genetically engineered pigs will bring clinical xenotransplantation closer to reality. However, it is hard to estimate the exact number of genetic modifications that may be required in the organ-source pig for clinical xenotransplantation.

164

## Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge all the people who have helped me throughout this thesis. First of all I would like to express my great gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Robert Rieben for giving me the opportunity to carry out this PhD. He gave me advice, constant guidance and continuously supported me and contributed a lot to finish my thesis.

I am also grateful to Prof. Dr. Jörg Seebach and Prof. Dr. Britta Engelhardt who accepted to be my co-supervisor and mentor, respectively.

I greatly appreciate the help and constant support from my group members Dr. Thusitha Gajanayake, Claudia Dührkop, Shengye Zhang, Julie Denoyelle, Jane Shaw, and Yvonne Roschi as well as the former members of our lab, namely Dr. Pranitha Kamat, Katja Matozan, Carmen Fleurkens and Sanja Stojanovic.

Big thanks to Dr. Yara Banz for very helpful discussions and her contribution to the projects with outstanding technical assistance for histological analysis.

I would furthermore like to thank the many collaborators who helped me with my work, particularly

Dr. Esther Vögelin, Dr. Mihai Constantinescu, Dr. David Kiermeir, from Clinic of Plastic and Hand Surgery, University Hospital Bern,

Dr. Hansjörg Jenni from Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University Hospital Bern,

Dr. David Ayres from Revivicor, Inc., USA,

Dr. Andrea Bähr, Dr. Annegret Wünsch, Dr. Jan-Michael Abicht, Dr. Nikolai Klymiuk,

- Dr. Eckhard Wolf from Munich,
- Dr. Jörg Seebach and his group from Geneva,

Dr. Daniel Mettler, Mrs. Olgica Beslac and Mr. Daniel Zalokar from Experimental Surgery Unit, DKF, Bern, for their support in producing all the transgenic pigs, performing ex vivo xenoperfusion studies as well as providing surgical assistance, animal experimentation facilities and also analysis tools.

And lost but not least, I thank my family and especially a huge thank to my wife, Swathi Bongoni for her patience and support. Many thanks Dr. Amiq, Kumar, Afzal and all my friends. -

•

## **Curriculum Vitae**

-

## **Personal Details**

Name:	Anjan Kumar Bongoni
Date of Birth	01 <sup>st</sup> May 1980
Nationality:	Indian
Languages	Telugu, Hindi, English

## **Educational Background**

2009 – 2013	PhD in immunology, University of Bern
2008 – 2009	Masters in Biomedicine, University of Skövde
2002 – 2004	Masters in Biotechnology, Bangalore University
1999 – 2002	BSc Biotechnology, Kakatiya University

## Awards

•

IXA-TTS 2013 Young Investigator Travel Grant to attend the International Xenotransplantation Association 2013 Congress, Osaka, Japan

Travel Award, 13<sup>th</sup> European Meeting on Complement in Human Disease 2011, Leiden, The Netherland

# List of publications, abstracts and presentations Publications in peer-reviewed journals

**Anjan K. Bongoni**, David Kiermeir, Hansjörg Jenni, Annegret Wuensch, Andrea Bähr, David Ayares, Jörg Seebach, Eckhard Wolf, Nikolai Klymiuk, Mihai A. Constantinescu, Esther Vögelin, Robert Rieben: Activation of the lectin pathway of complement in a pig-to-human xenotransplantation model. *Transplantation.* 2013 *Nov* 15;96(9):791-9

**Anjan K. Bongoni**, Jonas Lanz, Robert Rieben, Yara Banz: Development of a beadbased multiplex assay for the simultaneous detection of porcine inflammation markers using xMAP technology. **Cytometry A. 2013 Jul; 83(7):636-47** 

Annegret Wuensch, Andrea Baehr, <u>Anjan K. Bongoni</u>, Elisabeth Kemter, Andreas F. Blutke, Wiebke Baars, Sonja Härtle, Valeri Zakhartchenko, Mayuko Kurome, Barbara Kessler, Reinhard Schwinzer, Hiroshi Nagashima, Robert Rieben, David Ayares, Eckhard Wolf, Nikolai Klymiuk: Regulatory Sequences of the Porcine THBD Gene Facilitate Endothelial-Specific Expression of Bioactive Human Thrombomodulin in Single- and Multitransgenic Pigs; *Accepted for publication in Transplantation (2013), [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 24150517)* 

Muller S, Constantinescu MA, Kiermeir DM, Gajanayake T, **Bongoni AK**, Villbach FH, Meoli M, Plock J, et al. Ischemia/reperfusion injury of porcine limbs after extracorporeal perfusion. *J Surg Res. 2013 May 1;181(1):170-82* 

Ahmed A Khattab, Stephan Stieger, Pranitha J Kamat, Stijn Vandenberghe, <u>Anjan Bongoni</u>, et al. Effect of Pressure-Controlled Intermittent Coronary Sinus Occlusion (PICSO) on Myocardial Ischemia and Reperfusion in a Closed-Chest Porcine Model. *EuroIntervention 2013 Jul 22;9(3):398-406* 

Andreas Barratt-Due, Ebbe B. Thorgersen, Kjetil Egge, Søren Pischke, Andrey Sokolov, Bernt C. Hellerud, Julie K. Lindstad, Anne Pharo, <u>Anjan K. Bongoni</u>, Robert Rieben, Miles Nunn, Helge Scott and Tom E. Mollnes: Combined inhibition of Complement (C5) and CD14 markedly attenuates inflammation, thrombogenicity and hemodynamic changes in porcine sepsis. *J Immunol.* 2013 Jul 15;191(2):819-27

## Curriculum Vitae

## Manuscripts in preparation/submitted

**Anjan K. Bongoni**, David Kiermeir, Hansjörg Jenni, Andrea Bähr, David Ayares, Nikolai Klymiuk, Eckhard Wolf, Esther Vögelin, Mihai A. Constantinescu, Jörg D. Seebach, Robert Rieben: Complement dependent early immunological responses during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and hCD46/HLA-E double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparin anti-coagulated human blood. *Submitted in Xenotransplantation* 

**Anjan K. Bongoni**, David Kiermeir, Thusitha Gajanayake, Hansjörg Jenni, Andrea Bähr, Annegret Wünsch, David Ayares, Jörg D. Seebach, Eckhard Wolf, Nikolai Klymiuk, Esther Vögelin, Mihai A. Constantinescu, Robert Rieben: ASGR1 expressed by porcine vascular endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in pig-to-human xenotransplantation model. *Manuscript In preparation* 

**Anjan K. Bongoni**, David Kiermeir, Hansjörg Jenni, Andrea Bähr, David Ayares, Jörg D. Seebach, Nikolai Klymiuk, Esther Vögelin, Mihai A. Constantinescu, Robert Rieben: Coagulation and fibrinolytic activity during ex vivo xenoperfusion of wild-type and (HLA-E/hCD46)-double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, anticoagulated human blood. *Manuscript In preparation* 

Thusitha Gajanayake, Radu Olariu, Franck Leclère, Praveen Vemula, Zijiang Yang, <u>Anjan K Bongoni</u>, Yara Banz, Mihai A Constantinescu, Robert Rieben, Esther Vögelin: A Single, Local Injection of Tacrolimus Encapsulated Hydrogel Leads to Long-Term Vascularized Composite Allograft Survival. *Manuscript in preparation* 

Thusitha Gajanayake, <u>Anjan K Bongoni</u>, Radu Olariu, Praveen Vemula, Mihai A Constantinescu, Robert Rieben, Esther Vögelin, Franck M Leclère: Analysis of plasma and intragraft cytokine profiles in a rat model of vascularized composite allotransplantation. *Manuscript In preparation* 

Benedikt K. Kislinger, Hendrik Tevaearai, Hans-Jörg Jenni, Erich Gygax, <u>Anjan K.</u> <u>Bongoni</u>, Jan A. Plock, Thierry P. Carrel, Robert Rieben, Mario Stalder: Improved Myocardial Protection during Minimized Extracorporeal Circulation (MECC) using Crystalloid Single-shot Cardioplegia. *Manuscript In preparation* 

## Oral presentations at International conferences

Ex vivo xenoperfusion of CD46&HLA-E doubling transgenic pig limbs: Effect of transgenic expression of human CD46. 13<sup>th</sup> European Meeting on Complement in human diseases in Leiden, The Netherland, August 2011.

ASGR1 expressed by porcine aortic endothelial cells mediates human platelet phagocytosis in *in vitro* as well as during *ex vivo* pig-to-human porcine forelimb xenoperfusion *presented* at the 12<sup>th</sup> International Xenotransplantation Association, *Nov 10-13, 2013, Osaka, Japan* 

Activation of the lectin pathway of complement in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models *presented* at the 12<sup>th</sup> International Xenotransplantation Association, *Nov 10-13, 2013, Osaka, Japan* 

Ex vivo xenoperfusion of (hCD46 & HLA-E)-double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparinized human blood: Study of early immunological responses *presented* at the 12<sup>th</sup> International Xenotransplantation Association, *Nov 10-13, 2013, Osaka, Japan* 

## Poster presentations at International conferences

Activation of the lectin pathway of complement in pig to human xenotransplantation: Role of natural IgM. The XXIV International Complement Workshop 2012, Chania, Greece

Effect of transgenic hCD46 expression during ex vivo xenoperfusion of hCD46 / HLA-E double transgenic pig limbs with human blood at the 24<sup>th</sup> The Transplantation Society in Berlin, Germany, July 15-19, 2012

IgM-Dependent Activation of the Lectin Pathway of Complement in Xenotransplantation at the 15<sup>th</sup> Berlin Symposium Xenotransplantation in Berlin, July 2012

Study of early immunological responses during ex vivo xenoperfusion of (hCD46 & HLA-E)-double transgenic porcine forelimbs with whole, heparinized human blood at the 14<sup>th</sup> European Meeting on Complement in human diseases 2013 in Jena, Germany

IgM-mediated activation of the lectin pathway of complement in pig-to-human xenotransplantation models at the 14<sup>th</sup> European Meeting on Complement in human diseases 2013 in Jena, Germany

.

-

•

## **Declaration of Originality**

Last Name, First Name: Matriculation Number: Anjan Kumar BONGONI 09-102-963

I hereby declare that this thesis represents my original work and that I have used no other sources except as noted by citations.

All data, tables, figures and text citations which have been reproduced from any other source, including the internet, have been explicitly acknowledged as such.

I am aware that in case of non-compliance, the Senate is entitled to withdraw the doctorate degree awarded to me on the basis of the present thesis, in accordance with the "Statut der Universität Bern (Universitätsstatut; UniSt)", Art. 69, of 7 June 2011.

Place, date

Bern, 15.10.2013

Signature

-

A guf.